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Corjaomte Milestone

200972 - 4

Zhang Dejiang, former Vice Premler of State CounC|I approved t6"
promote a Coalbed Methane (“CBM”) development model namely
the“Sanjiao Model” as proposed by PetroChina, which focusing on
mutual planningiand joint development between sino-foreign parties
RETI AR BB R E R A HATAI A E R &= B R 22 15 X0 bl F ok
EHHRAER  AEAZRAERMHIZERN] _»
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Sino O|I and Gas became an I\/I'O’rg‘an Stanley ‘Egﬂta Internatlonal (MSCI)
china Small Cap Index stock s i
% fP Eils:Ers W@%fﬂﬁi‘ﬂﬂﬁ@. ,f\(M?Cl)IEE*/L :
v e Ll "f“.r,._ -. ‘e,
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2006 .7

Production Sharing Contract (“PSC”)
of Sanjiao CBM Block signed between

; ; . 2070. 77
Orion and PetroChina. Production

sharing proportion between Orion xSino Oil and Gas acquired 100% equity
and PetroChina is 70% and 30% interest of Orion, entering the China CBM
respeotively sector
B8 i 72 B R EEET 5 J‘?&k%J"ﬁlu__u B B R I e B 2 100% &+ IEZVE AR
MEROKER - B DL BIR B B SR 3% SR 7
B ik 22 70% K A H30% D00 2
Note:  Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Ltd. (“Sino Oil and Gas”) " 3 o
e AR e - > Highest single well daily:flowage recorded at
International Inc. (“Orion”) in November 2010, and .15,000 eubic meter in Saﬂjao CBM block.
Orion had become a wholly subsidiary of the Group EQ&% ﬁ |Dﬁ_u J/QHE, W i ﬁ # E E i% E ///Z 73 EﬁT .5%
Bigk . hEURRERAR A A ([ BEHE] 120106118 Nz .
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Corpomte Milestone
T E D AR

edit facility from CDB Leasing Co. Ltd.
OETTARE ZRERE

ti'on Agreement signed with PetroChina, the

BHEBRERA FHE B

ock obtained Proved Reserve of 43.5 billion cubic

ccordance with relevant Chinese standard) followed

ent of Expert Review Group of the National Reserve
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Five Year Financial Summary

49 7% #h F

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
B E2013% HZE20126F HZE20116 HZ2010%F HZ2000%F
12A31H 12H31H 12H31H 12H31H 12H31H
LEE IEFE EFE HEE HEE
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER TET TET TET TET
Turnover BEE
—Continuing operations ~RELEER 21,598 28,932 35,079 29,224 15,155
—Discontinued operations —BRIECBEER - - - - 19,279
21,598 28,932 35,079 29,224 34,434
Result ES
—Continuing operations — P e
(Loss)/profit before income BRETER S LA
Y tax expense (B1]) /&7 (58,512) (126,761) (92,611) 8,194 (32,940)
S Income tax (expense)/credit FIER(xd) /R (2,820) 13,356 (3,628) (3,510) -
.,
S
e (61,332) (113,405) (96,239) 4,684 (32,940)
—Discontinued operations —BRIEEREER
Gain from discontinued BRIHEEER Y
operations ikl - - - - 3,073
Gain on dispoal HEMB D A
of subsidiaries - - - - 11,593
Income tax expense FIEHT - - - - (651)
- - - - 14,015
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE(B#B) /&7 (61,332) (113,405) (96,239) 4,684 (18,925)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: T AR (), &5
Owners of the Company ARAEBA (61,332) (113,405) (96,239) 6,108 (18,784)
Non-controliing interests EEBER - - - (1,424) (141)
(61,332) (113,405) (96,239) 4,684 (18,925)
(Loss)/earning per share gk (EB8) /BF
—Basic (HK cents) - EAR(EW) (0.467) (0.927) (0.979) 0.101 (0.431)
/Bﬂqred (HK cents) — &% (B) (0.467) (0.927) (0.979) 0.098 (0.431)
2 (‘/ H |
Annual Report 2013 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited
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Five Year Financial Summary

b 5 87 7% %% %

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
1220134 720125 20116 720106 F2009%F
12A31H 12A31H 12A31H 12H31H 12A31H

HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET TET FET AT TR
Assets and liabilities BEHAR
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,154,453 3,810,593 3,567,892 2,750,595 228,481
Net current liabilities nEEREE (226,968) (412,360) (201,437) (207,122) (4,384)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (480,248) (375,059) (305,499) (15,098) (75,806)
Net assets BEFE 3,447,237 3,023,174 3,060,956 2,528,375 148,291
Non-controlling interests kR - - - - (141)
Equity attributable to ARFEEA
owners of the Company Bl 3,447,237 3,023,174 3,060,956 2,528,375 148,150

Sanjiao CBM Block Production and Gas Sales
EXEEREERHFHEE

2013 total gas production recorded at 45.45 million cubic 2013 pipeline gas sales accounted for 95% of
meter and gas sales at 30.45 million cubic meter total gas sales
2013F Rt ER B HE45.45 A& L KR 2013 EBHEMBIHEE295%

tHE 8304588 K

Sales (million cubic meter) Production (million cubic meter)

HEE (BBIYHK) ERE (BBIHK) .
CNG Station

mcm Sanjiao Linxian pipeline B4EXRARCNG 5.1%
BEMY K =XREHEE10.2% ‘
50.00 45.45
40.00 -
30.00 vk 2013 CBM Sales Mix

20132 FHERHER
20.00 | B : 4 2

- Sanjiao Senze pipeline

10.00 =ERKESE84.7% Vel
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‘Business Structure

%% %

Sino Oil and Gas
*  Holdings Limited (702.hk)
REDRRIERBRA A
(Hﬁi’é%ﬁ 1702)

- ) Key Wisdom
Power Great Limited Grand Rise Investments Limited
BEERAA Development Limited B RESE AT
= EBRRARAD A

Trillion International

Petrol Extracti
Orion Energy Bi Tuo Yuan Technology e_lfgcehunrgloé(yri?dlon

International (“Orion”) (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd | 2 75 b g
R R FARERAT (“Bi Tuo Yuan’) e
((RixZ= 1) EHRAE GRY) R A H
(MR

Xian Lilong
Petroleum Extraction
Technology Limited

(“Xian Lilong?)

* Orion holds 70% interest of Sanjiao CBM Block through a PSC Eﬁﬂﬁé@ﬁﬁ p
CREZBBEROREGRE  FEZXEEBRERT0%HE M D K E (T Z )

* Bi Tuo Yuan holds 95% revenue interest of Liuluoyu and Yanjiawan Oil

Fields through a development contract
cFRMRBBMEARE  FAENIRIR KB EHHEIS%H WA 5 B HE

e Xian Lilong holds 95% revenue interest of Jinzhuang Oil and Gas Field
through a PSC
cHAZFERBEMDONER  HHESHMHIS%H WA D K E
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Corpomte Mission
% |
T FE L

. Corporate Value* i

Have passion for our
business and drive to
accomplish our goals

L hEEEE :
. ,Eﬂz Fﬁﬁﬂ%%
E@ IEEZ/T)EEM\ = L

R Managemen
Principle

Count on talent and
effective use of resources

ﬁ%F#~-
AR

:%FHE ‘5 Business Policy

Steady investments
to achieve progressive
development

A 7y gt
AR

Strategic Goal: *Eﬁ_ ;I:n_ S
To become a leading Hong Kong-

listed private unconventional natural gas
producer operating in the PRC

BEEHR
AAEEBLETREALZBANFEERRARLEES



On behalf of the board of directors, | am pleased to report the
audited annual results of Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”), for the
year ended 31 December 2013.

The Group is principally engaged in natural gas and oil
exploration and exploitation, with a business focus on exploration,
exploitation and production activities at the Sanjiao coalbed
methane (“CBM”) block in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces in the
PRC. The Group began to participate in the PRC’s CBM business

AAMARKREETFE RMBRERELRAQDFLK
HEB AR ([AEE]) B =2013F12H31H
EZ12AAEEBZREFELE -

AEBEETBXEH/RAR N A BTN FER
HAURPBELAEERREE 2 =XKERD
R RAREREERR  NDEBERREH -
SER2010FEBRBRIELERERER
2 ([Bi%|) MARERNBORERER




through the acquisition of Orion Energy International Inc. (“Orion”)
in 2010. Jointly with its PRC partner, China National Petroleum
Corporation (“PetroChina”), the Group has actively pursued the
development of the project which, with the aid of favorable state
policies, has achieved breakthrough progress over the past three
years.

Over the past year, the Group has made significant advances
in corporate development, financing, business operation and
technological advancement.

Introduction of Strategic Shareholders to Strengthen
Corporate Foundation

The Group introduced Sinomaster Global Limited (88 B
ABRAF], “Sinomaster”) and Mr. Chen Hua (Ff%£), Founder and
Chairman of Kingkey Group (RE%E), Shenzhen, as strategic
shareholders in December 2013 and February 2014 respectively.

Sinomaster, a substantial shareholder of the Company since
December 2013, is a subsidiary of Shenzhen Sinomaster
Investment Group Co., Ltd. (FYIHEMNBIREEEBR A A,
“SMT”). SMT is an investment conglomerate with extensive
investments and holds Shenzhen-listed Shenzhen Aisidi Co., Ltd.
(002416.S2), a Fortune China 500 enterprise. Sinomaster was set
up as its window to international markets.

Sinomaster’s investment in the Company serves as a recognition
of our business strategy, and will deliver synergistic benefits in
different perspectives.

SMT Chairman Mr. Huang Shaowu (=43 %):
[[dewmgowﬁmﬂm@ﬁmaﬂﬁm)memumd
gas sector, we anticipate further developments
in this area. JY

Mr. Chen Hua, Chairman of Kingkey Group, became a substantial
shareholder of the Company in February 2014. Kingkey’s earlier
projects include large-scale residential communities and five-
star hotels, but now, exercising a bold vision, the company has
moved into commercial property development. Over years of
evolution, Kingkey Group has grown into an integrated business
comprising property development, hotel, property management,
financial investment, golf club, and restaurant operations.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
1 %W s %

Mr. Chen Hua is a renowned entrepreneur and philanthropist in
Guangdong and Hong Kong. His investment in our Company
was a recognition of our business prospects, and is his first
investment in the oil and gas sector. The Group looks forward to
further co-operation and development with him in this area.

Kingkey Group Chairman Mr. Chen Hua (FZE):

k€ The Company’s professionalism and
entrepreneurial spirit fit well with my ‘Kingkey
Blueprint’. | am delighted to participate in the
promising future of unconventional natural gas
through this investment. JJ

China Orient Asset Management (International) Holding Limited
(“COAMCI”), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Orient Asset Management Corporation, also subscribed to the
Company’s convertible notes in April 2013, thereby investing in
the future of CBM in view of its prospects and the Company’s
potential to contribute to China’s energy and environmental
objectives. The issue of convertible notes to COAMCI provides
an opportunity for the Group to enhance its capital base and
financial position so as to capture future investment opportunities.

Natural gas production is an industry that integrates capital,
projects and technology. | look forward to collaborating with
investors owning these assets and capabilities to jointly realize
the goals as planned for the Sanjiao project.

Coalbed Methane Project Stepping into Commercial
Operation

With a strengthened shareholder and capital base, the Group
is geared for healthy ongoing development. Upon the phased
completion of infrastructure facilities for the Sanjiao project, as
well as the expansion of the processing plant and pipelines, CBM
sales increased by close to five times year on year, with a sales-
to-production ratio also raised to bring the project rapidly to
profitability.

As part of China’s efforts to undertake market reform of the
natural gas sector, the National Development and Reform
Commission (“NDRC”) has resolved to adjust the city gate price
for non-residential users. The subsequent adjustment in the CBM
sales price of the Sanjiao project has had a significantly positive
impact.en the revenue and earnings contribution of the project.

»
I’
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Latest US Well Drilling Technology to Raise Gas
Production

With respect to oil and gas extraction technology, Orion has
been co-operating with US oil service professionals since 2012
on new designs for multi-lateral horizontal well drilling based
on the analysis of the existing geological data and well-drilling
data from the Sanjiao block. New well design not only reduces
the costs but also increases single-well production significantly
when compared with the existing horizontal wells in the Sanjiao
block. Orion has completed the drilling of one pilot well and has
commenced dewatering and extraction of gas. It is expected that
one more horizontal well with the new design will be drilled within
this year.

With the introduction of foreign advanced well-drilling
technologies, the Group will increase input on well-drilling and
exploration works within the exploration zone in order maximize
the block’s potential recoverable CBM reserve. The Sanjiao block
covers an area of 383 square kilometers under the Production
Sharing Contract (“PSC”), of which an area of 283 square
kilometers has been explored by Orion as approved by the Expert
Review Group of the National Reserve Committee in 2011. The
Group has commenced exploration works in the remaining 100
square kilometer area, and expects to submit a reserve report
within 2014. The potential for exploitation in the Sanjiao block
remains substantial, which is favorable to the prospects for long-
term development.

State Support for Coalbed Methane Sector Growth

In a State Council opinion published in September 2013, China
detailed recommendations for encouraging the development of
the CBM sector. The opinion highlights increased Government
support in line with new developments in the control of coal mine
gas and the CBM industry.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

Six concrete measures were listed in the opinion. (1) Increased
Government financial support is recommended through raising
central Government subsidies for CBM development and
utilization as an incentive for enterprises. Increased central
Government support for infrastructure is also recommended; (2)
Further preferential tax treatment, including more sophisticated
value-added tax and corporate income tax incentives; (3)
Enhanced CBM and CBM-based power feed-in pricing
mechanism, with the implementation of market pricing for CBM
and support for CBM-based power generation; (4) Strengthened
management of CBM development and utilization as well as
mining licenses; (5) Advancement of technological innovation; and
(6) Strengthened supervision.

The CBM sector of China has grown at a fast pace with the aid of
state policy support. As stipulated in the “12th Five-Year Plan for
Development and Utilization of CBM”, China targets to achieve
an annual CBM output of 30 billion cubic meters (bcm) by 2015,
16 bcm of which is by surface extraction. According to a release
by the Ministry of Land and Resources (“MLR”) in January 2014,
China produced 121 bcm of natural gas in 2013, up 11% year on
year, including 117.8 bcm of conventional natural gas, 200 million
cubic meters (mcm) of shale gas and 3 bcm of CBM.

MLR has anticipated that China will double oil and gas output
by 2030. MLR stated further that to achieve this target,
unconventional oil and gas production has to reach 50 million
tonnes and 150 bcm respectively. Compared with crude ail,
China’s natural gas output and reserves have been growing at a
much faster rate. This report expects gas production to rise by 10
bcm annually to 300 becm in 2030, and make up half of China’s
oil and gas production by around 2025.

Successful Case of Sino-Foreign Collaboration

A policy released by the National Energy Administration (“NEA”)
in March 2013 outlined the country’s resolve to guide the
development of the CBM sector. NEA encourages private-
sector participation by setting up specialized CBM companies.
According to the Government plan, by 2015 the state will
complete the establishment of two commercial CBM production
bases in the Qinshui Basin and the eastern fringe of the Erdos
Basin, thereby developing CBM into an important new energy
industhy- y

%‘ k_}iU a
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Located at the core area of the eastern fringe of the Erdos Basin,
the Sanjiao block has been listed as a “12th Five-Year” key
project. It is set to benefit from more comprehensive CBM pipeline
and liquefied natural gas facilities, as well as an enhanced sales
network. The completion of the complementary infrastructure will
help to greatly lower the project’s commercialization costs.

The rapid commercialization process is a result of the joint
efforts of management and the technical team, coupled with the
collaboration of the PRC partner. The Sanjiao project received a
reply for the application of the Overall Development Plan (“ODP”)
by NEA in August 2012 granting consent to development works.
This marked a major step in the Sanjiao project’s commercial
production process. The Group expects to be granted a final
approval on the ODP within 2014.

Sanjiao project is now transitioning from the exploration to the
development and production phase,
rise in CBM output and sales. The project is the Group’s future

resulting in a significant

growth driver and is expected to deliver attractive long-term
returns for shareholders. Management will focus on exploiting
the potential of the project and will build a successful model for
developing a CBM project under Sino-foreign collaboration.

Appreciation

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere
gratitude to the board members, senior management, technical
team, business partners and all our colleagues. On behalf of the
board, | welcome Mr. Ma Tengying, Director and Co-President
of COAMCI, and Dr. Dang Weihua, General Manager and Chief
Representative of Shenzhen Representative Office, Changjiang
Securities Company Limited, to join us as non-executive directors.
The board also welcomes Mr. Zhu Danping as Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and thanks Mr.
Xu Zucheng for his contribution in his former role as Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer. Our team’s professionalism,
leadership and team spirit have put the Group on a firm footing to
open a new page in our development.

Dai Xiaobing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2014

Chairman’s Statement
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T ypes of Wells in Sanjiao Gas Field,-Ground Works & the CPipefine Networks
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Coal Seam - :
BIE Py 28 e Borehole
= EVAN

Main Lateral Drilling
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Branch Lateral Drilling
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Multilateral horizontal well

5 5 4 % ¥ #

The multilateral horizontal well (“MLD”) type were drilled in Sanjiao CBM concession and has
been widely used, the technical features mainly lie on the horizontal section drilling program
that aims to maximize contacting surface in between seams and achieve full utilization

of existing coal seam permeability. Generally, an MLD type well could have controllable
coverage of up to 0.5-0.7 square kilometers, the application depth of 300-800 meters target
coal seams, horizontal branch sum up to a total length of about 5000 meter.

ZHIKEHAZREERABAEECERAMERAR Y — EFNBEEAEREKE
BEZEXKFELSTNEHF T RUNEZEREER 2 EAEZER  THoFBAEEREZ2BMH -
——OZHDIKEHEBEZHERZ05-07FFRE - EAXE A300-800K BZEE -
KFEDZEFTRRE RS ] ZEAS5000K °
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T ypes of Wells.in Sanfiao Gas Field, GroundWorks & the CPiJae[ine Networks
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Directional vertical well cluster
2 @ F B # s

The directional vertical well cluster is a group of vertical wells drilled with specific
direction(s), it has been widely used within Sanjiao CBM concession, the technical
features of the directional well type lies on the use of special downhole tools and
measuring instruments etc. to effectively control well trajectory, so that the drill bits
will able to drill along a specific target coal seam directions underground. Coverage of
per single well is approximately 0.1 square kilometers, the application is for the target
depth of 600-1000 meters deep coal seams.

FTRAEEARREEBERAHRNEEANS —ERAR  ERINEMAFEABKATT
B HEERSAVEHFRAY  FEBALEFFHIAEBEMW TBATEZEE  TE
A—HSRZETRAEBFNOEBHEN TRAHEHBEHEELN0AFTARE  ERFER
B #Z600-1000K /& 2 K [Z o

Directional Drilling m'
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Vertical Drilling
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T ypes of Wells in Sanfiao Gas Field, Ground Works & the ?i]ae[ine Networks
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Sanfiao CBM Gas Field - Ground Works & CPgoe[ine Networks

X% R BAD I YD G

A total of 74 kilometers of own pipeline networks were built within the Sanjiao
CBM concession. A DN50-200 inter-well series of pipelines of approximately
39 kilometers, a D508 ground pipeline network of approximately 18
kilometers and a D355 outbound pipeline of approximately 17 kilometers
were completed. A CBM processing station with daily processing capacity
150,000 cubic meters was in operating. There are two planned liquefied
natural gas plants in Sanjiao gas field with a total liquefaction capacity up to
600 million cubic meters per year upon completion.

There were three third party owned long-distance pipelines built and
connected to Sanjiao CBM gas field in year 2013: (1) Sanjiao to Linxian
pipeline of approximately 38 kilometers long (2) Sanjiao to Lvliang
city pipeline of approximately 31 kilometers long (3) Sanjiao to
Senze aluminium plant dedicated pipeline of approximately 18
kilometers long. The design annual transportation capacity of
each pipeline can reach 350 million cubic meters. Currently,
Sanjiao to Linxian pipeline and Sanjiao to Senze aluminium

plant pipeline have been put into operation.

“REERAHEREERE THAT4RE + HABFEDN50-200
ERXEHZIRNE - D508E R H LR X182 B kD355 i B 47 40
17RE - BN ZBEREISE A RKAREEB K —FE - B E
MNER=ZRRAAZRIERAZREME  BREBLRICEES
FOEZ K -

R201BFHEERRZFE =N RBESA =G (—) =ZXEREERHN /8L
B(O=RABRERARINRE (D) ZXEHREROEHNERNR/IBRE -
BHRERFHRENDEISEILN A - B ZREREKERE=_XERERRE
MERAESR -

DN50-200 £ &% 4% Inter-Well Pipelines

el D508 F## 4 Ground Pipelines

amesmewen D355 SN E 4R Outbound Pipelines _—— ECERBEERBES
Third Party Own Long Distance CBM Pipelines
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T Ypes of Wells in Sanfiao Gas Field, Ground Works & the CP'ipeﬁne Networks
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Calendar of ‘Events
5 4%

207.7.07.

The National Development and Reform
L Commission (“NDRC”) announced

g o price adjustment to city-gate gas

y non-residential users effective from
10th July 2013 with adjustment no
more than RMBO0.4 per cubic meter.
Accordingly, the Group had adjusted
non-residential users wellhead price
by RMBO0.32-0.33 per cubic meter
(increased by 21.6%).

BEINZEZ B2013F 7 A10H EBANFAEIE
EERBXARERFIAET I HAKIRE
B &e N RiB0.4TT AR - REEH
FEEERRESY AR IEAREERES
0.32Z£0.337TT ARKE » KR 521.6% °

207307

Commencement of pipeline gas
sales since January 2013, totalled
CBM sales of the year amounted
to 30.45 million cubic meter
(5-folded compare to 2012),

two pipelines total gas sales

accounted for about 95%
of gas sales.

B2013%F1 A 5 #£ 3
AEBHEKER -
THEBERHEED
3,045& 37 7 K KK
R WMIEEBHE L
1H95% ; R B EFF
AR5 -
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07307 G 72,
20/7.02.

Introduce institutional investor in April
2013: China Orient Asset Management
Corperation (Convertible Notes holder),
and by end of 2013, introduce strategic
shareholders: Sinomaster Global Limited
and Mr. Chen Hua of Kingkey Group.

M20145F4 F 5| AIBIRE E F BIR
HEEEERR  MEETABK
FI5 - M2013FE 7 Al 5| AKEE
KEEMMNBEERER AR MR
YImEEBERIBARESTRER
FRERRREMR -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2013, Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) recorded a turnover of HK$21,598,000 (2012:
HK$28,932,000) and also posted trial sales of coalbed methane
(“CBM”) amounting to HK$38,899,000 (2012: HK$9,110,000) as
disclosed under the item of other revenue.

The Group’s loss for the year narrowed significantly to
HK$61,332,000 (loss in 2012: HK$113,405,000),
of increasing trial sales from the Sanjiao CBM project and no

as a result

impairment allowance (2012: HK$69,257,000) was required for
the year. Included in the loss was loss on extinguishment of
financial liabilities of HK$25,247,000 (2012: Nil) in respect of the
new shares issued in November 2013 to settle a sum payable for
well-drilling and related services. This was treated as non-cash
items. Operating loss of the Group also significantly reduced to
HK$57,632,000 (loss in 2012: HK$125,141,000).

Natural Gas and Oil Exploitation

Coalbed Methane Exploitation — Sanjiao Block in the Erdos
Basin

Project Overview

Through its wholly-owned subsidiary Orion Energy International
Inc. (“Orion”), the Group entered into a production sharing
contract (“PSC”) with China National Petroleum Corporation
(“PetroChina”), its partner in the PRC, for exploration, exploitation
and production at a CBM field in the Sanjiao block located in the
Erdos Basin in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces. The Group has a
70% interest in the PSC. In August 2012, the National Energy
Administration Bureau (“NEA”) under the National Development
and Reform Commission (“NDRC”) accepted the application
of the overall development plan for the Sanjiao CBM project
(the “ODP”).
the project towards commercial production with assessment

This signifies a milestone in the advancement of

works ongoing smoothly and getting closer to obtaining relevant
approvals.

The PSC entered into between Orion and PetroChina covers
the block in the Erdos Basin in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces,
with a total site area of 383 square kilometers. According
to a competent person’s report provided to the Company in
November 2011, the proved and probable CBM reserves in the
Sanj |a?n block amounted to 405.6 billion cubic feet (approximately
}1 8 Enll_gh cubic meters) then.

Annual Report 2013 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited
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Infrastructure

By the end of 2013, the Sanjiao project had completed a total
of 72 wells, including 39 multi-lateral horizontal wells, while the
remaining 33 were vertical wells. A ground pipeline network of
approximately 18 kilometers, inter-well pipelines of approximately
39 kilometers, and outbound pipelines of approximately 17
kilometers were completed. Approximately 15 kilometers of 10KV
power grid and approximately 24 kilometers of 10KV branch
power line were also completed as at the year end.

Adopting the multi-lateral horizontal well-drilling system designed
by US oil service professionals, one pilot experimental well has
been drilled with dewatering and extraction of gas currently
underway.

In 2012, the Company completed the construction of a CBM
processing station with daily processing capacity of 150,000
cubic meters. Given that the processing capacity of the station
has reached saturation point, the Company has commenced
works to expand the station to a total daily capacity of
approximately 500,000 cubic meters. Expansion works are
expected to be completed by the end of 2014.

In addition, in December 2012 the Group acquired a 30% equity
interest in a Sino-foreign joint venture. In order to broaden sales
channels in the future, the Sino-foreign joint venture plans to set
up a liquefied natural gas (“‘LNG”) plant with daily processing
capacity of 1.2 million cubic meters in the Sanjiao area of Shanxi
Province. The first phase of the LNG station with daily capacity of
300,000 cubic meters is expected to be completed by the end of
2014.

Owing to the tight gas supply in the western part of Shanxi
Province and the lack of pipelines and other infrastructure,
the Shanxi provincial government has planned to set up
three designated CBM pipelines in the Sanjiao block and its
surrounding areas.
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These pipelines are all constructed and invested by third parties,
including (1) the CBM pipeline from Sanjiao to Linxian for gas
supply for residential, commercial and industrial use, as well
as heating in winter, with an annual designed gas transmission
capacity of 350 million cubic meters, which commenced
operation in December 2012; (2) the designated CBM pipeline of
the Sanjiao CBM block for gas supply to Senze Coal & Aluminum
Group, a local coal and aluminum manufacturer, with an annual
designed gas-transmission capacity of 350 million cubic meters,
which commenced operations in January 2013; and (3) the CBM
pipeline from Sanjiao to Lvliang for gas supply to natural gas
network of Xiaoyi and central Shanxi, with works completed at the
end of 2013. This pipeline is scheduled to commence operations
during 2014.

Sales
On 28 June 2013, the NDRC issued a notice announcing that
the city-gate price of natural gas for non-residential users would
be adjusted effective from 10 July 2013 and that the maximum
increase in price should be no more than RMBO0.40 per cubic
meter.

In line with the adjustment to the national natural gas price policy,
the Group and PetroChina jointly decided to adjust the CBM
selling price of gas from the Sanjiao project. An agreement was
reached and signed on 16 August 2013 to adjust the wellhead
price for CBM sales to non-residential users. Pursuant to the
agreement, the wellhead price for piped CBM will be increased
by RMBO0.32 per cubic meter, while the price for compressed
natural gas (“CNG”) will be raised by RMB0.33 per cubic meter,
with increases of more than 21%. The price adjustments will have
an immediate and significant positive impact on the revenue and
earnings of the Sanjiao project.

During the year, the Sanjiao project recorded CBM production
of approximately 45.45 million cubic meters, with CBM sales of
approximately 30.45 million cubic meters (2012: 6.15 million cubic
meters) and a gas sale-to-production rate of 67.0% for the full
year of 2013. Gas sales for the year were composed of industrial
piped CBM sales, residential piped CBM sales, and CNG sales,
which accounted for 84.7%, 10.2% and 5.1% respectively. As
such, piped CBM sales accounted for 94.9% of total gas sales
during the year.

During the reporting year, the Sanjiao project already posted an
opgra’g\ing profit. With sales growth and the price increase, the

,:Gr"oup'i's- confident of the project’s long-term profitability.
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Oilfields located in Shaanxi Province—Liuluoyu, Yanjiawan
and Jinzhuang

In view of the promising prospects for the development of the
CBM business, the Group has allocated resources to refocus on
the Sanjiao CBM project. The development of the oilfields is thus
proceeding somewhat more slowly than previously.

During the year under review, the two oilfields in Liuluoyu and
Yanjiawan in the Erdos Basin, Shaanxi Province, yielded an
aggregate crude oil production of approximately 3,500 tonnes
(2012: 4,900 tonnes). On the other hand, Jinzhuang on the Erdos
Basin plateau in Shaanxi Province, with an area of 62 square
kilometers, reported crude oil output of approximately 2,600
tonnes (2012: 3,500 tonnes).

Summary of Resources
The Group’s oil and gas reserves, as at 31 December 2013, are
summarized as follows:

TRRUWG R »H

fiZ 72 B 75 &5 59 1 A 2 2% — M I~ B 3¢ 8 R
2H

EXRERNERAREE  AREEHS
BEREFAL STER=KEREER -
H R Y B R [ 1 SRR AR 18 o

FEEBEFEN  URPREEBRLHAMA
MEBREEREREREERZRAEELD
43,5000 (20124F : 4,900MF) ° B o+ & &
HENEREESR L e REN mEE
RFEFRAE-FER @EHMAZRHAES
#4552, 6008 (20124 : 3,500MF) °

BERHE
AREE2013F12 A31 B HYJh & 4 5E l an
T

Crude Oil Coalbed Methane
§: HER

Liuluoyu and
Yanjiawan Jinzhuang Sanjiao
0% ks T B =% 7 eF =%
tonnes tonnes  Billion cubic feet (Gross)
i g TIEZ TR (#B5E)

Proved and Probable B E R 352,400 (Note a)

(Kt 5Ea)

Notes:

(@) In the absence of large-scale exploration works during the year,
no material change to the resources reserve has been observed.
The Company has thus made an estimation of the oil reserve as at
31 December 2013 on the basis of the internal experts’ oil reserve
estimates of 2010, adjusted and updated based on oil production

volume.

4,151,000 (Note b)
(Pt &Eb)

402.4 (Note ¢)
(Pt 3Ee)

GEE

(8 HBHREFALRBETAEERGEFEE I
AEERERFEESSHEEREE  MARA
R2010FNHERMEEN AR S ERER
BiREHRSELAREYN HEHLZ2013
F12AM BN AMFHEE -
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(b)  In the absence of large-scale exploration works during the year, no
material change to the resources reserve has been observed.
The Company has thus made an estimation of the oil reserve as
at 31 December 2013 on the basis of a report formulated by an
independent professional reserve valuation firm in September 2011,
according to the PRC’s reserve standards, adjusted and updated

based on oil production volume.

(c) In the absence of large-scale exploration works during the vyear,
no material change to the resources reserve has been observed.
The Company has thus made an estimation on the gas reserve
as at 31 December 2013 on the basis of a competent person’s
report prepared in accordance with the standards for “Petroleum
Resources Management System” recognized under Chapter 18 of
the Listing Rules and provided to the Company in November 2011,
adjusted and updated based on CBM production volume.

(o) BMREFAREETALERURES I
AEBRRERFBESEENER  WART
K- B EXREEFAHER20114F
9OAL  RTBERESERINFEERSES
HEit BREMBELABEN HEAL
Z2013F12A31AMAAFHES -

(0 BREFRIAHETRAERHREE I
AEZHERBESHEERNEY  WALQF
N—mEEEBAL REABARINEAE
RARIZES EMRAFISERAMN A BE
REBRBRIRERH - R0 F11AHE
AARREZEERSERER  BRER
RESELAEREN  HEHILZE2013F12
RA31EHMEEBRFHZ -

Category Coalbed Methane Reserve

3l HERHE

Billion cubic feet (Gross)

T1E 5 R (4E5E)

Proved (1P) FEAP) 75.9

Proved and Probable (2P) B ERBLEE(2P) 402.4

(d)  Reserve translation reference: One tonne of crude oil is equivalent (d REHLEZE: BEHEWBOSR7.IME: XA
to approximately 7.3 barrels; one cubic meter of natural gas is REN KO ENIS5 257 FHER o

equivalent to approximately 35.2 cubic feet.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure

In April 2013, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Orient Asset
Management (International) Holding Limited (“COAMCI”) and
the Group entered into a subscription agreement in respect of
the issue of convertible notes in an aggregate principal amount
of HK$275,000,000 due 2016. In June 2013, the Group raised
proceeds of approximately HK$155,000,000 through the
allotment and issue of 928 million new shares to not less than six
subscribers at an issue price of HK$0.167. Proceeds from both
exercises were used to finance the Group’s existing oil and gas
projects and as general working capital.
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In November 2013, the Group, Orion Energy (Hong Kong) Co.
Limited (the “Subscriber”) and 1t REInZ R T E AR
‘A7) (Beijing Orion Energy Technology Development Limited®)
(“Beijing Orion”) entered into a subscription agreement pursuant
to which the Subscriber has subscribed for and the Company has
allotted and issued 721,350,000 shares at the subscription price
of HK$0.20. The subscription shares represent approximately
5.25% of the existing issued share capital of the Company and
approximately 4.99% of the issued share capital of the Company
as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the subscription
shares. The proceeds from the subscription of approximately
RMB113,400,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$144,270,000)
were used for the set-off of the total sum payable to Beijing
Orion for the provision of well-drilling and related services for
the Sanjiao CBM project in the past years. The issue has also
indirectly helped to improve the liquidity position of the Group.

In January 2014, the Company allotted and issued a total of 300
million new shares to not less than six subscribers at an issue
price of HK$0.22. The net proceeds from the subscription of
approximately HK$65,800,000 are intended to be used for the
operation of the Group’s existing oil and gas projects and as
working capital.

On 17 March 2014, the Company entered into a facility
agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of COAMCI. Pursuant
to which the Company was granted a facility up to an aggregate
principal amount of HK$100,000,000; and the Company agreed
to grant to the lender warrants carrying rights to subscribe for
warrant shares at an exercise price of HK$0.2714 per share
(subject to adjustment) in aggregate of up to HK$50 million.

Apart from the above sources of financing, Orion may utilize the
remaining loan facility of RMB600,000,000 provided by CDB
Leasing Co., Ltd. upon the approval of the ODP. Leveraging
the afore-mentioned strong funding support, the operation and
development of the Sanjiao CBM project, as well as the Group’s
overall financial position, have strengthened steadily. Management
remains confident that the Group is able to meet the funding
needs for developing various oil and gas projects and for potential
investment opportunities.

# For identification purposes only
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2013, net assets of the Group were
HK$3,447,000,000 (31 December 2012: HK$3,023,000,000)
while its total assets were HK$4,275,000,000 (31 December
2012: HK$3,936,000,000). As at 31 December 2013, the Group
had external borrowings of HK$617,062,000 which included
the financial component of convertible notes (31 December
2012: HK$461,573,000) and the gearing ratio based on total
assets was 14.43% (31 December 2012: 11.73%). Details of the
Group’s pledge of assets and the maturity profile of the Group’s
borrowings are shown in note 30 to the financial statements. As
at 31 December 2013, the current ratio was 0.35 (31 December
2012: 0.23),
position.

reflecting a gradual improvement on the liquidity

Foreign Exchange Fluctuations

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchase transactions and recognized liabilities of assets that
are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which they relate. At 31 December 2013,
no related hedges were made by the Group. In respect of trade
and other receivables and payables held in currencies other than
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate,
the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2013, the Group employed approximately 360
employees. The remuneration policy of the Group is based on the
prevailing remuneration level in the market and the performance
of respective companies and individual employees.
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PROSPECTS

Natural gas and oil exploitation is the focus of the Group’s
ongoing development. The Group will continue to expand the
exploration and production of the Sanjiao CBM project in the
Erdos Basin in Shaanxi Province, an area listed by NEA as a core
CBM production base in China. The Sanjiao block has been listed
as a core project under the “12th Five-Year Plan”. It is expected
that the project will be able to enjoy stronger policy support in
terms of the use of land, government approvals and financing.

In addition to the active development of ground facilities,
expansion works for the CBM processing station are expected
to complete by the end of 2014. Upon completion the daily
processing capacity of the station will be increased to 500,000
cubic meters, hence significantly boosting gas sales. Furthermore,
the increase in CBM price will have a positive impact on the
Sanjiao project’s revenue and earnings and its contribution to the
Group.

The Group has not only employed foreign advanced well-
drilling technologies to seek to further explore the recoverable
gas reserves of the Sanjiao block, it is also pursuing investment
opportunities in mid- and lower-stream businesses. At the same
time, the Group is trying to expedite the ODP application of
the Sanjiao CBM project. The Sanjiao CBM project is a major
growth driver for the Group and has already moved forward
into trial commercial operations with operating profit recorded.
Management is confident that the project will bring satisfactory
long-term returns for shareholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Dai Xiaobing, aged 46, was appointed as Executive Director
of the Company in May 2010 and Chairman of the Board of
the Company in September 2011. Dr. Dai was awarded a PhD
in Econometrics by the School of Economics, Jilin University,
the PRC. Dr. Dai is experienced in the corporate finance sector
as well as merger and acquisitions and corporate restructuring
of companies in the PRC. He is also familiar with the capital
market in the PRC. Dr. Dai had been one of the co-founder of
China Securities Journal published by Xinhua News Agency and
was a journalist, department head and deputy general manager
of the agency, through which he has extensive experience in
government public relations and investor relations. He is also
an independent Director of Jiangxi Ganneng Co., Ltd. (T7%&
BERR D B PR AR]) (stock code: 000899), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. King Hap Lee, aged 51, was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in November 2010 and Executive Director
of the Company in September 2011. In September 2012, Mr.
King resigned as Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
assumed the position as Deputy Chairman of the Board of the
Company. Mr. King is principally responsible for assisting the
Chairman of the Company to lead the Board and formulating
the corporate strategies and development plans for the oil and
gas business with the Board, while pursing and exploring the
potential opportunities for the midstream and upstream oil and
gas business in the PRC. Mr. King graduated from Xian Jiaotong
University in 1983. He worked for various central government
departments and state-owned enterprises for a considerable
period of time and has more than 20 years experience in
government organizations and enterprises management. He was
the deputy director and Chairman of Workers Union of Mechanic
and Electronic Products Importation and Exportation Office of
the State Council, the deputy general manager of A7 B, T 3
HE8 R E A 7 (China Machinery Industry Marketing & Supply
Shenzhen Group Corporation*) and managing director of F#%&
72 8] (China National Machinery Hong Kong Company*).
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Mr. Zhu Danping, aged 51, was appointed as Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company in June 2013. Mr.
Zhu joined the Group in September 2012. He is responsible
for the Group’s operational management and the coordination
in relation to the government’s public affairs, in particular the
production and operation of Orion Energy International Inc. In
early 2013, Mr. Zhu was appointed as chairman of Orion Energy
International Inc.; director and legal representative of Pipeline
International Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
and vice chairman of [IFABRREERREFR AR, 30% equity
interest of which is being held by the subsidiary of the Company.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhu worked in Shenzhen Industrial
Exhibition Centre as a curator for the construction of the new
building and the tender for exhibition during the period between
2007 and 2012 and has extensive experience in the operating
management and working for government authorities. Mr. Zhu
was a postgraduate in philosophy from Zhongshan University
and worked for the institute for Shenzhen Intermediate People’s
Court as well as &I/ B ITE QA (Shenzhen Hairun Industrial
and Trading Company*) as a deputy general manager and a
supervisor, ERBEEE/QNF] (Sinoexpo International Exhibition
Company*) of FIBEEEEF L (Shenzhen International
Exhibition Centre*) as a managing director, Shenzhen Industrial
Exhibition Centre as a deputy curator and Shenzhen Productivity
Centre as an officer. He was responsible for the organization of
various significant projects for the government and the planning
and management of exhibitions during his term of office. With a
strong social connection and network, he delivered a remarkable
performance.

Mr. Wang Ziming, aged 47, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in August 2010. Mr. Wang graduated
from the College of Economy and Trade Management,
Shanghai International Studies University in 1988, and received
a Bachelor Degree in Economics. Mr. Wang has worked in
Sinochem Corporation, PRC and has extensive experience in the
exploration and management in the resources sector. He is also
well experienced in mining business investment and possesses
abundant governmental public relations resources.
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Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, aged 49, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in March 2009. He is also
the chief financial officer of the Company. Mr. Wan holds a
bachelor degree of commerce and a master degree of business
administration. He has years of experience in accounting and
financial management and has worked for international accounting
firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. He is a fellow member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
a Certified Practising Accountant of CPA Australia. He is an
independent non-executive director of China Primary Resources
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Kong Siu Tim, aged 48, resigned as Chairman and Executive
Director and assumed the position as Non-Executive Director
of the Company in September 2011. Mr. Kong was appointed
as Non-Executive Director of the Company in August 2005 and
redesignated as Executive Director of the Company in November
2005, and then appointed as Chairman of the Company in March
2009. Mr. Kong holds a master degree of Economics at University
of Warwick, UK and has years of experience in banking and
securities industries. He is a member of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute.

Mr. Ma Tengying, aged 42, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2013. Mr. Ma is currently the
director and co-president of China Orient Asset Management
(International) Holding Limited (“COAMCI”). He has been serving
the China Orient Asset Management Corporation (parent
company of COAMCI) and its subsidiaries for over 10 years.
Previously, from 1999 to 2006, he worked in various departments
in China Orient Asset Management Corporation. During 2008
to 2010, he was the general manager of China Orient Asset
Management Corporation (Zhengzhou Office). He was the director
and deputy chairman of the board of Dong Yin Development
(Holdings) Limited between 2010 and 2012. During early 2010,
Mr. Ma was the director and general manager of Bangxin Asset
Management Co., Ltd., in China. Mr. Ma held Master’s degree
in economics and banking in Mainland China. He is superbly
experienced in managing securities firms, financial institutions,
asset management and wealth management across Mainland
China and Hong Kong.
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Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter, aged 54, was appointed as
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in April
2006. Mr. Wong is currently a practising barrister-at-law of the
High Court of the Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Wong holds a master
degree of commerce in marketing from University of Strathclyde,
UK and a post-graduate certificate in laws from University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has 20 years of extensive experience in
legal practice.

Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, BBS, JP, aged 65, was
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company in August 2010. Professor Wong is a Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong and Managing Practicing
Director of Patrick Wong CPA Limited. He is also a Chartered
Secretary and a Certified Tax Advisor. He has over 30 years’
experience in the accountancy profession. Professor Wong was
accorded Doctor of Philosophy in Business, was awarded a
Badge of Honour by the Queen of England, was appointed a
Justice of the Peace and was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star
(BBS) by the Hong Kong Government of SAR. He was appointed
Adjunct Professor, School of Accounting and Finance, The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University from 2002 to 2013. Professor
Wong is currently an independent non-executive director of
Galaxy Entertainment Group Limited, CC Land Holdings Limited,
China Precious Metal Resources Holdings Co., Ltd., Guangzhou
Baiyunshan Pharmaceutical Holdings Company Limited, Water
Qasis Group Limited, Real Nutriceutical Group Limited, National
Arts Entertainment and Culture Group Limited, Winox Holdings
Limited and Excel Development (Holdings) Limited, all of which
are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Dr. Wang Yanbin, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in September 2011.
Dr. Wang is a professor and tutor for doctoral candidates of
China University of Mining & Technology (Beijing), and head
of the Scientific Research Office of China University of Mining
& Technology (Beijing). Dr. Wang holds a bachelor degree in
coalfield geology from the faculty of geology of Huainan Mining
Institute in China. He also holds a master degree in coal petrology
and coalfield geology and a doctor degree in coalfield, oil and
gas geology and organic geochemistry from China University of
Mining & Technology (Beijing). Prior to 1993, Dr. Wang mainly
engaged in teaching and scientific research on coalfield geology
and coalbed methane geology. Since 1993, he has focused on
geological research on coalfield geology, oil, natural gas and
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coalbed methane. He has led the development of a project
for the National Natural Science Foundation of China, and few
scientific projects for China National Petroleum Corporation and
China Petrochemical Corporation. Dr. Wang has also participated
in more than 30 scientific projects in cooperation with various oil
fields and Mining Bureaus nationwide. He was granted the State
Scientific and Technological Progress Award for several times and
has published 3 books and more than 70 academic papers.

Dr. Dang Weihua, aged 48, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2013. Dr.
Dang is currently the General Manager of Shenzhen Branch of
Changjiang Securities Company Limited (“Changjiang Securities”)
and the Chief Representative of Shenzhen Representative Office
of Changjiang Securities. Prior to this, he served as Deputy
General Manager of Asset Preservation Department and Legal
& Compliance Department of Changjiang Securities. Dr. Dang
has worked in Changjiang Securities (formerly known as Hubei
Securities Company Limited) for 21 years and served in different
departments and positions. He has extensive experience in
securities industry. Dr. Dang holds a master degree of business
administration at Zhongnan University of Economics and Law.
He was awarded a PhD in Econometrics by the School of
Economics, Jilin University. Dr. Dang holds a Chinese lawyer
qualification as well as securities practice qualification.

Senior Management

Dr. Rao Mengyu has been working for Orion Energy International
Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group since November
2010) since December 2007 and now serves as the Chief
Geologist and Vice President of the Group. Dr. Rao graduated
from the Department of Geology of Anhui University of Science &
Technology. In 2005, Dr. Rao was awarded a PhD in Geology by
the China University of Petroleum (East China). He was engaged
in research work for the oil and gas geology fundamental theories
and coalbed methane (“CBM”) development technology in the
post-doctoral station of the College of Petroleum and Natural
Gas Engineering, China University of Petroleum (Beijing). He
has over 20 years of experience in the industry and has years
of experience in onsite work and indoor scientific research in
respect of CBM projects. Currently, Dr. Rao is mainly responsible
for the scientific research, exploration deployment, engineering
design, onsite engineering design, CBM exploration of Sanjiao
block CBM project of the Group. Dr. Rao has published 24
research-papers in the journals such as Acta Petrolei Sinica, and
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also is one of the principal participants in the scientific research
achievement of “Research, development and application of CBM
multi-lateral horizontal well”. Such achievement was awarded the
second prize of science and technology advancement in 2009 by
the China National Coal Association.

Ms. Cao Zhen has been working for Orion Energy International
Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group since November
2010. Currently, she is Deputy Manager of Sanjiao Joint Project
Division, responsible for management of Sanjiao project of the
Group. Ms. Cao graduated from Jianghan Petroleum University
and China University of Petroleum (Huadong), majoring in
petroleum engineering. Ms. Cao had worked for Henan Oil Field
as Assistant Engineer, Deputy Head and Chief Engineer and
Sinopec North China Petroleum Bureau as Head of Institute of
Oil and Gas Exploitation of Engineering Department and Senior
Engineer. She is very experienced in projects of exploration and
exploitation of oil and gas fields.

Mr. He Hongbing joined the Company in 2008 and was
appointed as Vice President of the Company in November
2010. He is principally responsible for the corporate finance and
investor relation of the Company. Mr. He holds a bachelor degree
of Geology at Peking University and a master degree of Civil Law
at Yantai University. He is a CFA Charterholder and a member
of The Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts. He holds a
Chinese lawyer qualification, and has over 10 years working
experience in corporate finance and investor relations. He was
the financial manager of Shenzhen B&K Electronic Co., Ltd, the
deputy general manager of the Investor Relation Division of China
Gas Holdings Limited in Hong Kong and an investment analyst of
Singapore UOB Kay Hian Research Pte Ltd.

Ms. Yim Siu Hung was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company in December 2011. Ms. Yim has joined the
Company since August 2005 and holds a degree in law and
a degree in accountancy. She is a fellow member of both The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. She has years of
extensive experience in the company secretarial sector and has
worked for international accounting and law firms and listed
companies in Hong Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and management of the
Company continue to achieve high standards of corporate
governance for the purpose of providing a framework and solid
foundation for its business operation and development. The
Company considers that effective corporate governance with
probity, transparency and accountability makes an important
contribution to corporate success and to enhancement of
shareholders value.

The Company complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2013.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY

DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code (the “Model Code”)
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code
of conduct and rules governing dealing by all directors in the
securities of the company.

All the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard regarding directors’ securities dealings set out
in the Model Code during the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2013, the Board comprises five executive
Directors, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman), Mr. King Hap Lee
(Deputy Chairman), Mr. Zhu Danping (Chief Executive Officer), Mr.
Wang Ziming and Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence; two Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Kong Siu Tim and Mr. Ma Tengying; and
four Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”), namely Mr.
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick,
Dr. Wang Yanbin and Dr. Dang Weihua. There is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship between
the Directors.
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The Board includes four INEDs representing not less than one-
third of the Board which is in compliance with under Rule 3.10(1)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick
has appropriate qualifications and accounting related financial
expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. All the four INEDs
are independent under these independence criteria, and with
their wide range of skills and experience to the Group, they are
capable to effectively exercise independent judgment on issues of
strategy, performance, risk and people through their contribution
at Board and committee meetings.

The Board has extensive corporate and strategic planning and
industry experience for discharging their duties as Directors in
the best interest of the Company and that the current board
size is adequate for its present operations. Each of the Directors
keeps abreast of his responsibilities as a Director of the Company
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company.

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that he
is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements. All Directors and
senior management are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Directors are regularly briefed on the business
operations and policies of the Company and from time to time
provided with written training materials to develop and refresh
their professional skills.
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According to the records maintained by the Company, all the
Directors, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Mr. King Hap Lee, Mr. Zhu
Danping, Mr. Wang Ziming and Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, Mr.
Kong Siu Tim, Mr. Ma Tengying, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter,
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang Yanbin and Dr. Dang
Weihua, participated in continuous professional development
by reading materials and attending seminars on corporate
governance, regulatory development and other relevant topics
with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director
of a listed company in compliance with the CG Code during the
year.

Apart from the fiduciary duty and statutory responsibility towards
the Company and the Group, the Board is responsible for the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing the Company and shareholders’ value.
Key responsibilities include formulation of the Group’s overall
strategies, setting of corporate and management targets,
monitoring of operational and financial matters, approval of major
capital expenditures, material acquisitions and disposal of assets,
corporate or financial restructuring, material borrowings and any
issuing, or buying back, of equity securities. Responsibility for
delivering Company’s objectives and running the business on a
day-to-day basis is delegated to divisional management who have
been given clear guidelines and directions as to their authority.
The Board also delegates certain specific responsibilities to three
committees (Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee) established in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The composition and functions of each committee are
described below.

The biographical details of the Directors are listed in the section of
“Directors and Senior Management Profiles” in this annual report
and the INEDs are expressly identified in all of the Company’s
publication such as circular, announcement or relevant corporate
communications in which the names of Directors of the Company
are disclosed. The Company maintains on its website and on the
Stock Exchange’s website a list of its directors with their role and
function.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are segregated
and performed by two separate individuals, Dr. Dai Xiaobing
and Mr. Zhu Danping respectively, to ensure a balance of
power and authority. The Chairman of the Company provides
leadership to the Board and ensures that the Board discharges
its responsibilities effectively. Dr. Dai Xiaobing’s primary roles
and duties include to formulate corporate strategies and plans in
conjunction with the Board and to ensure that Directors receive
complete, accurate and timely information and are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and that good
corporate governance practices and procedures are established,
implemented and maintained. He also holds annually meeting
with the non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) without the presence of other executive
directors. The Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Zhu Danping, is
responsible for the effective management and operation of the
Company and his primary roles and duties include to monitor
and control the operational and financial performance within the
Group and to implement and report to the Board on the adoption
the Company’s strategy and policies for achieving its objectives.

APPOINTMENTS AND RE-ELECTION

Each of the Directors (except Mr. Ma Tengying) has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a specific term. Such term
is subject to his re-election by the Company at an annual general
meeting upon retirement. The Company’s Bye-laws provide that
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board or as an additional member of the Board shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at such meeting. In accordance
with the Company’s Bye-laws, at each AGM of the Company,
one third (or the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election. As such, the directors (including the non-executive
directors and the INEDs) are regarded as appointed for a specific
term. Furthermore, each of Mr. Kong Siu Tim, Wong Kwok Chuen
Peter, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang Yanbin has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of
two years. Dr. Dang Weihua has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of one year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions within its terms of reference. Its duties include to
develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior
management and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
(if any) applicable to employees and directors; and review the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report as required under Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION
The Company updates the Directors from time to time with
development in the laws and regulations relevant to their role as
director of the Company. Directors are also encouraged to update
their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Group through
initial induction, ongoing participation at Board and committee
meetings.

The Company’s senior management regularly supplies the Board
and its committees with adequate information in a timely manner
to enable them to make informed decisions. Monthly updates
as required in C.1.2 of the CG Code are provided by the senior
management to all Directors to enable them to be apprised of
the circumstances of the Company and to discharge their duties.
The Company Secretary provides the Directors with updates on
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements. All Directors have access to Board
papers and related materials that will assist them for decision
making. Any Director, wishing to do so in the furtherance of his
duties, may take independent professional advice through the
Company’s expense. No such independent professional advice
was requested by any Director in 2013.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company continues to subscribe for an insurance policy to
indemnify the Directors and senior executives from any losses,
claims, damages, liabilities and expenses, including without
limitation, any proceedings brought against them, arising from
the performance of their duties pursuant to their appointment
under_ their respective service agreements entered into with the
Company:. The current policy shall be under constant review to

éhsure that the insurance cover is appropriate.

A
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees delegated with
various responsibilities, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. All the Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective
terms of reference which are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The meetings and
proceedings of the committees are governed by the provisions
contained in the bye-laws of the Company for regulating
the meetings and proceedings of Directors unless otherwise
stipulated in their respective terms of reference. The individual
attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the
Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and general meeting during the year are set out

T E 5 W

EEXEE

EEER ORI -MEZ88 UEHER
BRE SRASKZEES FMWEEER
REAEBER 2 HEFEERHRESAN

BESERTERTOREY mZxBERE
MR B AU LB X Fra8ub il BB - kR IE
EENBREESARTIN EZEEZE
ZLREFOIARANMAABETE  URES
ERELERF - RFRN BTEEREFS
ERZBE ¥FHEREe REZEeEH
RERARE 2 @R FEas#E s nT

below:

Number of meetings attended/held during term of

office in 2013

Board
Bzg
Number of meetings held FEERBTEHRRY
during the year 8
Executive Directors BiTES
Dai Xiaobing (Chairman) FNE(ZR) 8/8
King Hap Lee (Deputy Chairman) ERA(RER) 8/8
Zhu Danping (Chief Executive Officer) RRT(THEH) 5/5
(appointed on 1 June 2013) (201356 R1HEZM)
Wang Ziming TAH 6/8
Wan Tze Fan Terence aATFE 8/8
Xu Zucheng (resigned on 1 June 2013) BAR (R2013F6 A1 B EHT) 2/2
Non-executive Director FnTESE
Kong Siu Tim IOH 7/8
Ma Tengying (appointed on 26 April 2013) B2 (R2013F4A26RREZE) 577
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERTEES
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter ik 6/8
Wong Lung Tak Patrick BEE 8/8
Wang Yanbin TR 8/8
Dang Welhua (appointed on 25 July 2013) BEE(V01357ABAEZE) 33

R2013EXHMYEHE RITHER

RE
Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Committee Committee Committee Meeting
BEHEEE HWzEE REZEE RFEEXE
2 2 3 1
- 2/2 3/3 11
- - - 0/1
- - - 01
- - - 11
- - - 0/1
- - - 01
- - - 11
2/2 2/2 3/3 0/1
2/2 2/2 3/3 11
2/2 - - 01
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Notes:

1. The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter,
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr. Wang Yanbin.

2. The Remuneration Committee comprises Professor Wong Lung Tak
Patrick, Dr. Dai Xiaobing and Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter.

3. The Nomination Committee comprises Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Mr. Wong

Kwok Chuen Peter and Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its
responsibilities for financial reporting and corporate control. The
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Wong Kwok
Chuen Peter, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr. Wang
Yanbin, and is chaired by Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
which requires that the audit committee has a minimum of three
non-executive directors, must be chaired by an INED, at least
one of the audit committee member is an INED who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise, and a majority of the audit
committee are INEDs.

None of the Audit Committee members are members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company. The Audit Committee
met twice during the year in accordance with its terms of
reference. During the year, the Audit Committee has discharged
its duties which include to review the completeness, accuracy
and fairness of the Company’s financial statements, evaluating
the Company’s auditing scope and procedures as well as its
internal control systems, to review the interim and final financial
statements before their submission to the Board and the annual
general meeting for approval, and to make recommendation
on the appointment of external auditor and approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources, including
independent access to and advice from external auditors.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee setting out the

Audit Committee’s authority and duties are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Annual Report 2013 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

Wi

1. ERZEGRERENZLAL  FEBIR
N EREIBE L -

2. ¥FMZEENEREREFAER BIERBL

w

#o
N
i
il
I8
4
i
AF
&
o
T
H_

FHTEF HERZEL FEEHER
FTREEL  BREHEEESZZBEENIR

AARCETEMRAUBI21EZRE A
BEREZEgRVEAR-BIIFNITESTANX -
BV ERBIUNRTESTREEER &P —
HXNEREBEEZXRERNG A NAEEY
BEEERZBIIFNTES LA KN
MEFZEERERBIUIFNTES -

ERZZEENKBYIIFARAAEHRER
B ZLZEGRRARBEERFARELT
TRREZ -RFRN BREZEQCETH
BE BEEIQAVBRRNCEMN £
BHERATFE  FHARFNEZBENEZ
FIARARRRHAEBEIE R - £+ MK
MM BERRERGRESEYVERRBFARE
ERAERN S ZERRETERN RN EZE
Aib B = (RS R 5 DA M HE /& SIS AR AT B9
FHEERGR BERZESEREHARE
R BEE & RN AZ B MRS SN
HENER -

X
@
2

HEERZEERNEBEZERZESR
REERNARAB MR ER -



Corporate Governance Report

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s objective for its remuneration policy is to maintain
fair and competitive packages based on business requirements
and industry practice. The Remuneration Committee comprises
three members including one Executive Director and two INEDs,
namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick. The committee is chaired by
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick. The Company has complied
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules which requires that the
remuneration committee has a majority of the member being
INEDs and must be chaired by an INED.

With reference to business needs and company development,
individual performance and contribution, changes in relevant
markets and general economic situation, the Remuneration
Committee has adopted the model set out in B.1.2(c)(ii) of the
CG Code where the Committee reviews and recommends to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of
the Directors and senior management. During the review process,
no individual director is involved in decisions relating to his own
remuneration.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee setting
out the Remuneration Committee’s authority and duties are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy to comply with
a new code provision on board diversity. The policy aims to set
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board to ensure that
the Board has the balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, knowledge
and skills. In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates with the objective criteria with
due regard of the benefits of diversity on the Board. There was
no addition to the Board after the new code provision relating to
board diversity took effect on 1 September 2013.
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The Nomination Committee currently has three members
including one Executive Director and two INEDs, namely Dr.
Dai Xiaobing, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Professor
Wong Lung Tak Patrick. Dr. Dai Xiaobing acts as Chairman of
the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee bases
on the aforesaid criteria when making recommendations to
the Board on the nomination and appointment of directors,
assesses the independence of INEDs, review the structure,
size and composition of the Board at least annually and makes
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are made available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is accountable for proper stewardship of the
Company’s affairs, and is responsible for ensuring that the
Group keeps fair and accurate accounting records which
disclose its financial position. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to prepare the financial statements of the
Group in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. This responsibility extends to both interim
and annual reports.

Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain
and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
controls to ensure that shareholders’ investments and the

Group’s assets are safeguarded.

During the year, the nature of the Group’s operation remained
unchanged comparing with that of last year. In order to maintain
an effective and efficient internal control system, the Group
performs review for the internal control system systematically on a
regular basis which covers financial, operational, and compliance
controls as well as risk management function.
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On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews annually
the continued effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls
dealing with risk and financial accounting and reporting, the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, compliance with laws
and regulations, risk management functions. During the year, no
significant control failures or weaknesses have been noted. The
Board considered that these systems of internal controls were
effective and sufficient to guarantee the Group in achieving its
business objectives.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

BDO Limited was appointed as external auditor of the Company
by shareholders at the 2013 Annual General Meeting until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

During the year, the fees paid or payable to the external auditor
of the Company, BDO Limited were approximately HK$1,450,000
and HK$900,000 for audit service and non-audit service rendered
(excluding disbursement fees) to the Group respectively. The
reporting responsibilities of BDO Limited are stated in the
Auditor’s Report contained in this Annual Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company, Ms. Yim Siu Hung,
is a full-time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Directors have access
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary regarding
board procedures, and relevant laws, rules and regulations. For
the year ended 31 December 2013, Ms. Yim has complied with
paragraph 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(the “Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
shareholders holding in aggregate not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to
request a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition, and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If the directors do not within twenty-one days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene
such meeting, any of the requisitionists representing more than
one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a meeting to be held within three months from the said
date.

Any number of shareholders representing not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of the Company at the date of the requisition
or not less than 100 shareholders of the Company are entitled
to put forward a proposal for consideration at a general meeting
of the Company. Shareholders should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in Section 79 of the Act for putting
forward such proposal at a general meeting. The procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a director are
made available on our website as required by the Listing Rules.
The requisition of the proposals made by shareholders may be
addressed to the Company Secretary at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Annual general meetings and special general meetings provide
a useful forum for shareholders to share views with the Board.
Members of the Board (including members of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees) attend shareholders’
meetings and make themselves available to answer shareholders’
questions. Enquiries of shareholders may also be put to the
Board by contacting the Company Secretary by phone or email,
as stated in our website, www.sino-oilgas.hk.
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COMMUNICATION WITH INVESTORS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communication
with shareholders as well as investors. During the year, press
conference and analysts briefing were held twice a year in relation
to the interim and final results announcements, at which the
Executive Directors were available to answer questions regarding
the Group’s operational and financial performances. Quarterly
operation update announcements were released to enhance
transparency of the Company’s affairs. In order to promote and
enhance investor relations and communications, the Company
hosted an Investors Reception Day (online interactive forum) in
September 2013, at which the Company’s management shared
their views on industry developments, business operations and
other key issues of concern to investors and took questions
directly from online panel. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to shareholders and investors in a timely manner
through a number of channels include quarterly operation update
announcements, interim and annual reports, announcements,
circulars and press releases. Electronic copies of these
documents and general information of the Group’s operation can
be obtained through the Company’s website. Throughout 2013,
the Company also avails itself of opportunities to communicate
and explain its strategies to shareholders and the investor
community, through active participation in investors’ conferences
and regular meetings with financial analysts, fund managers and
potential investors. The Company will continue to promote and
enhance investor relations and communication with its investors.
During the year, no change was made to the Company’s
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws.
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The directors submit their annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013, which
are set out on pages 64 to 172.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in operation of (i) exploitation and
sale of crude oil and natural gas and (i) exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane in China.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 22
to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

ISSUE OF SHARES UNDER GENERAL

MANDATE

On 3 April 2013, the Company and Sunny Merit Holdings Corp.
(the “Subscriber”), being an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
China Orient Asset Management Corporation (“COAMC”) which
is a wholly state-owned financial enterprise with independent
corporate capacity upon approval of the State Council and the
People’s Bank of China, entered into the Subscription Agreement
pursuant to which the Company issued Convertible Notes in the
principal amount of HK$275,000,000 due 2016. Terms defined
in the Company’s announcement dated 3 April 2013 have the
same meanings when used in this paragraph. The Convertible
Notes carrying rights to subscribe for 1,646,706,586 Conversion
Shares (with the aggregate nominal value of HK$16,467,065.86)
at the conversion price of HK$0.167 per share. The closing
market price of the Company’s shares was HK$0.14 on 3 April
2013, being the date on which the terms relating to the issue of
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the Convertible Notes were fixed. The Subscriber and its ultimate
beneficial owners were third parties independent of the Company
and the connected persons of the Company (as defined in the
Listing Rules). During the year, the entire proceeds had been
used for funds for existing oil and gas projects and general
working capital as intended. Among which, approximately 90% of
the proceeds from the issue of the Convertible Notes had been
used for the operations of the Group’s Sanjiao CBM Project. This
includes mainly construction of the ground facilities, power lines,
settlement and completion of the construction work of horizontal
and vertical wells commenced within the last three years, and
partial settlement of financial obligation in relation to the project
financing for Sanjiao CBM Project. Approximately 10% of the
said proceeds were used for general working capital for offices
in different locations. The net conversion price per Conversion
Share is about HK$0.16. Further details of the aforesaid issue
of Convertible Notes are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 3 April 2013 and note 31 to the financial
statements.

On 2 June 2013, the Company entered into the Subscription
Agreements with not less than six subscribers who were third
parties independent of the Company and the connected persons
of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules), under which
the Company allotted and issued to the subscribers a total of
928,000,000 shares of the Company with the aggregate nominal
value of HK$9,280,000 at a price of HK$0.167 per share. The
closing market price of the Company’s shares was HK$0.185 per
share on 31 May 2013, being the last trading date immediately
before the date on which the terms of the issue were fixed.
During the year, approximately 90% of the proceeds had been
used for funds for existing oil and gas projects and general
working capital as intended. Among which, approximately 80%
of the proceeds had been used for the operations of the Group’s
Sanjiao CBM Project. This includes construction of the ground
facilities, settlement and completion of the construction work
of horizontal and vertical wells commenced within the last three
years, drilling of a pilot horizontal well designed by our US team
and partial settlement of financial obligation in relation to the
project financing for Sanjiao CBM Project. Approximately 5% of
the said proceeds were used for operation of existing oil fields
in Shaanxi Province and approximately 5% of the said proceeds
were used for general working capital for offices in different
locations. The net subscription price was about HK$0.1664 per
share. Further details of the aforesaid issue of shares are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 2 June 2013,
6 June 2013 and 28 June 2013 and note 35 to the financial
statements.
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On 28 November 2013, the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiary, Orion Energy International Inc. (“OEl") entered into
Subscription Agreement with Beijing Orion Energy Technology
Development Limited (“Beijing Orion”) and its wholly owned
subsidiary, Orion Energy (Hong Kong) Co. Limited (as the
Subscriber). The Subscriber and its ultimate beneficial owners
were third parties independent of the Company and the
connected persons of the Company (as defined in the Listing
Rules). Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Company
allotted and issued 721,350,000 Shares with the aggregate
nominal value of HK$7,213,500 to the Subscriber at a price of
HK$0.20 per share. The closing market price of the Company’s
shares was HK$0.218 per share on 28 November 2013, being the
date on which the terms of the issue were fixed. The net proceeds
from the subscription of approximately HK$144,270,000 were
fully utilized for the set-off of the fees payable by OEIl to Beijing
Orion pursuant to the series of agreements entered into between
OEl and Beijing Orion in relation to the supply of well drilling
and related services by Beijing Orion to OEl up to 2013, which
was the intended use of the proceeds. Further details of the
aforesaid issue of shares are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 28 November 2013 and note 35 to the financial
statements.

Subsequent to the end of year of 2013, on 13 January 2014,
the Company entered into the Subscription Agreements with not
less than six subscribers who were third parties independent of
the Company and the connected persons of the Company (as
defined in the Listing Rules), under which the Company allotted
and issued to the subscribers a total of 300,000,000 shares of
the Company with the aggregate nominal value of HK$3,000,000
at a price of HK$0.22 per share. The closing market price of the
Company’s shares was HK$0.237 per share on 13 January 2014,
being the date on which the terms of the issue were fixed. The
proceeds from the subscriptions will be used for general working
capital and funds for existing projects. The net subscription price
was about HK$0.2193 per share. Further details of the aforesaid
issue of shares are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 13 January 2014 and note 46 to the financial statements.
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On 17 March 2014, the Company and Smart Bond Development
Ltd. (the “Lender”), being an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
COAMC, entered into the Facility Agreement pursuant to which
in consideration of the Lender making available to the Company
the Facility, the Company issued the HK$50 million Warrants
to the Lender. Terms defined in the Company’s announcement
dated 17 March 2014 have the same meanings when used
in this paragraph. The Warrants carry rights to subscribe for
184,229,918 Warrant Shares (with the aggregate nominal value
of HK$1,842,299.18) at the Exercise Price of HK$0.2714 per
Warrant Share for a period of 1 year from the date of the issue of
the Warrants. The closing market price of the Company’s shares
was HK$0.227 per share on 17 March 2014, being the date on
which the terms relating to the issue of the Warrants were fixed.
The Lender and its ultimate beneficial owners were third parties
independent of the Company and the connected persons of the
Company (as defined in the Listing Rules). Assuming the exercise
in full of the subscription rights attaching to the Warrants, the
proceeds from the issue of the Warrant Shares will be applied
as general working capital of the Group. The net price of each
Warrant Share is approximately HK$0.2714. Further details of the
aforesaid issue of Warrants are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 17 March 2014.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 35(b) to the financial
statements and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
respectively.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 6 and 7.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales which also represent turnover of the Group were made
entirely to the Group’s sole customer during the year. The
aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 18% and the largest supplier accounted
for approximately 5% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.
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During the year, none of the directors, their associates or
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman)

Mr. King Hap Lee (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Zhu Danping (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 June 2013)

Mr. Wang Ziming

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence

Mr. Xu Zucheng (resigned on 1 June 2013)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Kong Siu Tim
Mr. Ma Tengying (appointed on 26 April 2013)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter

Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick

Dr. Wang Yanbin

Dr. Dang Weihua (appointed on 25 July 2013)

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law 87(1), Mr. King Hap Lee,
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr. Wang Yanbin will
retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election. Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law 86(2), Mr. Zhu
Danping, Mr. Ma Tengying and Mr. Dang Weihua will hold office
until the forthcoming annual general meeting and will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. All other remaining
directors continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions of
the directors (the “Directors”) of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
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Interests in shares/

Number of shares/
underlying shares of

Name of Director Long/short position underlying shares Nature of interest the Company held
REH R GiEcr G e
324 e/ %A TR 0 i EanME HEARRYE
Dai Xiaobing Long position shares Beneficial owner 1,185,435,000
EIRIS HE fxp EnBAA
Short position shares Beneficial owner 708,000,000
wE K EREAA
Long position share options Beneficial owner 36,000,000
HE Bk ERBEAA
King Hap Lee Long position shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 300,000,000
KA it fx REHARNER (M32)
Short position shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 200,000,000
wE &t REH RS (HT2)
Long position share options Beneficial owner 36,000,000
59} B ExERA
Wang Ziming Long position shares Beneficial owner 100,000,000
TEH 5 fx EnEBA
Short position shares Beneficial owner 100,000,000
wE & ip ERBEAA
Long position shares Interest of controlled corporation (Note 3) 5,000,000
#E fx 3 REHRTM#E ()
Long position share options Beneficial owner 36,000,000
HE BikiE EREAA
Wan Tze Fan Terence Long position shares Beneficial owner 33,660,000
BFE HE fx 3 EREAA
Long position share options Beneficial owner 36,000,000
3 BiiE EnfiBA
Kong Siu Tim Long position shares Beneficial owner 39,000,000
IAH HE ) EnlAA
Long position share options Beneficial owner 3,000,000
e B EHERA
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter Long position share options Beneficial owner 3,000,000
kS HE BiiE EafiBA
Wong Lung Tak Patrick Long position share options Beneficial owner 3,000,000
BEE 35 i EnBEA
Wang Yanbin Long position share options Beneficial owner 3,000,000
TR e BikiE EREAA
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Notes:

(1) Particulars of directors’ interests in the share options of the

Company are set out in the section “Share Option Scheme”.

(2)  Wai Tech Limited owns 300,000,000 shares and has short position
of 200,000,000 shares of the Company. Wai Tech Limited is
wholly owned by Petromic Corporation which in turn is wholly and

beneficially owned by Mr. King Hap Lee.

(3) 5,000,000 shares of the Company are owned by Harmonie
Developments Limited which is wholly and beneficially owned by

Mr. Wang Ziming.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none of the
Directors nor any of their associates had any interests or short
positions in the securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 28 May
2010, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of
a share option scheme (the “Scheme”).

The Scheme is in full compliance with the relevant requirements
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose of the Scheme
is to enable the Company to recognise the contributions of the
participants to the Group and to motivate the participants to
continuously work to the benefit of the Group by offering to the
participants an opportunity to have personal interest in the share
capital of the Company.

The eligible participants includes any full-time and part-time
employee (including Directors) of the Company or its subsidiaries,
any suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers. The Scheme
became effective on 28 May 2010 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the
date of coming into effect.
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Pursuant to the Scheme, the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the limit and such limit may be
refreshed by shareholders in general meeting. However, the total
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. As at the
date of this report, there are outstanding options for subscription
of 563,200,000 shares under the Scheme, representing 3.74% of
the issued share capital of the Company.

Under the Scheme, the maximum entitlement for any eligible
person (other than a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates) is that the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
latest grant does not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the relevant time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. Share options to be granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates are subject to approval by
the independent non-executive directors of the Company. In
addition, any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates, when aggregated with all share
options (whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) already
granted to any of them during the 12-month period up to the date
of grant, in excess of 0.1 percent of the shares of the Company
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
(based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant of the options), is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting of the Company.

The period within which an option may be exercised under
the Scheme will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion. Under the Scheme, an option may not be exercised
after the expiration of 10 years from the date of grant of the
option.
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Pursuant to the Scheme, the exercise price in relation to each
option shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion,
but in any event shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of such option; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such option; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of such option.

Some further disclosures relating to the Scheme are set out in
note 34 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2013, the directors and employees of the
Group had the following personal interests in options to subscribe
for shares of the Company granted at nominal consideration
under the Scheme. Each option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one share. Details of share options held by the
Directors and employees of the Group and movements in such
holdings during the year ended 31 December 2013 are as follows:

REFFE BUBRRBZTEESHESS
BEBMIBETE  ENMEMBER THAAHER
THBERzESE (KM ELBERER
HEBMXAEARERIAI 2 HEHE : (i
MRBEER L BRE R HAGEZ XA ERR
e mRERII 2 FHRTE - Rk
RELZEREAR Z@mIE -

BB cETE - PHEEHN T BEREMN
534 -

N\

MR2013F12A31H  AEEEE=EREERIE
BitdI A2 E FORERETREARR AR
MrzEBREREEATZEAAES  SHE
R A ARBIRRG 2R - KEE
EEREENHZE2013F12A31B ILFEFR
FERENMZEREREZEHFBINTX

Number of options
EREYE

Outstanding Exercised Outstanding at

at 1 January during the 31 December

2013 year 2013

20136 20136

1A1H 12A31H

e} AT 1 REMTTE i} AT 1

Directors:

&

Dai Xiaobing 36,000,000 - 36,000,000
EIES

King Hap Lee 36,000,000 - 36,000,000
L

Wang Ziming 36,000,000 - 36,000,000
TEH

Wan Tze Fan Terence 36,000,000 - 36,000,000
BFH

Kong Siu Tim 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
Lo

Wong Kwok Chuen Peter 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
EE2

Wong Lung Tak Patrick 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
ERE

Wang Yanbin 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
T

Employees 407,200,000 - 407,200,000

&8

Exercise price

Date of grant Exercise period per share
(D.M.Y) (D.M.Y) HK$

) ShREH

RHBAH YR iR
(B.A.%) (B.B.%) AT
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276



DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the sections “Directors’ Interests
in Shares and Underlying Shares” and “Share Option Scheme”,
at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable
the directors of the Company or any of their spouses or children
under eighteen years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2013, the following persons, not being a
Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336
of the SFO:

Long position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company

ﬂ{qport'qutﬁe Directors
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EFRERGUESZEF

BRIEEREROEBBERO T 2@ RIE
Pt &l |ImEn TR EE SN - RABREAME
WA ZEMERNFAETABHEHILEMNR
B BEARRBEERWF EMA R K18
AT FREBARRBREMEMABHE
ZEMm S ES MR -

FTEREZERS

M2013%F12831H UM FA L (WIEARAE
B ITRAR) RIRIKEF S 15525336
BEFEEZELMATERA QR Z MKk AERE
AP EBERIAR

REABRGREMRGPHAZEFE

Number of
Nature of Number of underlying Total number of shares and
Name interest shares held shares held underlying shares held
#4807
& EaE ki & B B3 E P 5 B 13 T 4E B R 1 4
Sinomaster Global Beneficial owner 1,761,350,000 - 1,761,350,000
Limited (Note 1)
N BEEARDR ERERA
(PH5E1)
Sunny Merit Holdings Beneficial owner 169,401,197 898,203,592 1,067,604,789

Corp. (Note 2) (fifzE 2) EZHEA A

CDB Leasing
Co., Ltd. (Note 3)
BliRemEERR AR
GEXD)

Security interest 2,296,000,000

R

Y
> 2Y <
N

- 2,296,000,000
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Notes:

Sinomaster Global Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of #3JIITH
B A LB AR AT which is owned as to 66.5% by J&YI[HE
EEEE B AR which is in turn owned as to 90% by Mr. Huang
Shao Wu. Pursuant to the SFO, AT NBIRESEMAR AR, &
JImEERIZE AR LT and Mr. Huang Shao Wu are taken to be
interested in the shares held by Sinomaster Global Limited.

Sunny Merit Holdings Corp. owns 169,401,197 shares of the
Company and convertible notes in the principal amount of
HK$150,000,000 due in 2016 with right to convert the convertible
notes into shares of the Company at a conversion price of
HK$0.167 per share. Based on the conversion price of HK$0.167
per share, a maximum of 898,203,592 shares may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to
the convertible notes in full. The convertible notes give rise to an
interest in 898,203,592 underlying shares of the Company of Sunny
Merit Holdings Corp.

Sunny Merit Holdings Corp. is a wholly owned subsidiary of China
Orient Asset Management (International) Holding Limited which
in turn is owned as to 50% by Dong Yin Development (Holdings)
Limited (“Dong Yin”) and as to 50% by Wise Leaders Assets Ltd.
(also a wholly owned subsidiary of Dong Yin). Dong Yin is wholly
owned by China Orient Asset Management Corporation which is a
wholly state-owned financial enterprise with independent corporate
capacity upon approval of the State Council and the People’s Bank
of China. Pursuant to the SFO, China Orient Asset Management
(International) Holding Limited, Dong Yin, Wise Leaders Assets Ltd.
and China Orient Asset Management Corporation are taken to be
interested in the shares and underlying shares of the Company held
by Sunny Merit Holdings Corp.

Regarding the security interest in 2,296,000,000 shares being held
by CDB Leasing Co., Ltd., China Development Bank Corporation
which holds 88.95% interest in CDB Leasing Co., Ltd. is deemed to

have security interest in such shares.
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Saved as disclosed above in this section, as at 31 December
2013, the Company has not been notified of any other persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of retirement schemes operated by local authorities in
the PRC. The Group also operates a defined contribution scheme
covering full time employees in Hong Kong. Details of employee
retirement benefits are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration and highest paid
individuals’ emoluments are set out in note 10 and note 11 to the
financial statements respectively.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in note 44 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance subsisted at any time during the year to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had material interest, whether
directly or indirectly.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as of the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of the shares with not less
than 25% of the total issued shares of the Company as required
under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

AUDITOR
The financial statements for the year have been audited by
BDO Limited who retires and, being eligible, offers itself for re-
appointment.

By order of the Board
Dai Xiaobing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2014
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Tel : +852 2541 5041
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

BEE ¢ +852 2541 5041
{8HE : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SINO OIL AND GAS
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 64 to 172,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.
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Hong Kong
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2013 and of the Group’s loss and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 3(b) to
the consolidated financial statements which states that the Group
incurred a loss of HK$61,332,000 during the year ended 31
December 2013 and its current liabilities exceeded current assets
by HK$226,968,000 as at that date. These conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Shiu Hong NG

Practising Certificate Number P03752

Hong Kong, 21 March 2014
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Consolidated Statement of CProﬂt or Loss and Other Com}areﬁensive Tncome

G4 R EwE DILS %L

For the year ended 31 December 2013 & =

2013F12AB81B L FE

2013 2012
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
fiix FHER FET
Turnover BERE 5815 21,598 28,932
Direct costs EREHN (25,397) (25,415)
Gross (loss)/profit (£8)/E7 (3,799) 3,517
Other revenue H A A 6 42,472 9,573
Other losses, net HinBEFE 7 (25,836) (69,769)
Administrative expenses THER (70,469) (68,462)
Loss from operations LEER (57,632) (125,141)
Finance costs BE AR 8(a) (25) (116)
Share of loss of a joint venture EiE—XeEbEBE 20 (232) (1,505)
Share of (loss)/profit of an associate Bl —REE AT
(B518) /& H 21 (623) 1
Loss before income tax expense BRETER S AR 8 (58,512) (126,761)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fri8® (i) /iR 9 (2,820) 13,356
Loss for the year AEFEE (61,332) (113,405)
Other comprehensive income, after tax Hih2E M - REE
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or loss: ARENSBEEBECEB
Exchange differences on translating REBNEBERER
foreign operation 26,489 8,675
Total comprehensive income for the year rEEEAKNELEH (34,843) (104,730)
Loss attributable to: AN AT RE(EEE:
Owners of the Company ARAEEA 12 (61,332) (113,405)
Non-controlling interests FERER - -
(61,332) (113,405)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: UWTATREEB2EEE
Owners of the Company EREEB A (34,843) (104,730)
Non-controlling interests* IR - -
(34,843) (104,730)
Loss per share FhEE
- Basic and diluted —EXk#EE 14 (0.467) HK centsi#fll  (0.927) HK cents/fll
# P __l}_lon—controlling interests represented the 30% equity interest of a # LR E S F22@)FM 7 — KK B QA

C ! sﬂb@ldiary listed in note 22(a).
- N, :I ._)
! IV
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Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Gas exploration and evaluation assets
Intangible assets

Goodwill

Interest in a joint venture

Interest in an associate

Deposits and prepayments

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade, notes and other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Pledged bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities

Other payables and accruals
Borrowings - secured

ERBRE

WE BERRE
FROHRRIEEE
B AR

BE
Rogasegyms
R-FBELT 2B
BeREMNRE

FRPEELE
RBAE

2t

UGS - BRRE - Efh
MR R E RENFE

EERRITER

ReERAESEN

RYEELR
BEE
RBAR

i AR ERER
B HEN

On behalf of the Board

Notes

Mgt

24
25

27

28
30

35(a)

REREFE

Taxation WA
Total current liabilities NEBABELESH
Net current liabilities RBERTFE
Total assets less current liabilites HAEERAHER
Non-current liabilities EREBER
Provisions B
Borrowings - secured EE-FEHR
Convertible notes ARER
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEaRE
Total non-current liabilities ERBEELEE
NET ASSETS BEFHE
Capital and reserves attributable to AAT)HH AL
owners of the Company BEXRGE
Share capital B
Reserves i
TOTAL EQUITY s
Dai Xiaobing
BNE
Director

EF

2013

HK$'000  HK$'000

FET FET

234,670

3,602,475

232,960

1,215

62,731

20,402

4,154,453
21,349
74,229
7,832
17,536
120,946

4,275,399
(199,568)
(145,932)
(2,414)
(347,914)

(226,968)

3,927,485
(747)
(336,210)
(134,920)
(8,371)

(480,248)

3,447,237

147,539

3,200,608

3,447,237

Wan Tze Fan Terence

im Y Eh
Director

EF

2012

HK$ 000 HKS' 000

FHET THT

229,847

3,272,934

227,088

4,947

63,354

12,423

3,810,593
3,924
42,388
7,954
71,114
125,380

3,935,973
(442,561)
(92,834)
(2,345)
(537,740)

(412,360)

3,398,233
(o71)
(368,739)
(5,349)

(375,059)

3,003,174

123,560

2,899,614

3,023,174



ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Other receivables, deposits

and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals

BERAR
kRBEE
NG NP 5

FRPEELE
RHAE
EENET - ke

REMNFHE
RERATSEN
RYEELHR
BEE

RBAR
EENFERBRER

On behalf of the Board

Net current liabilities RBERTFE
Total assets less current liabilities @EERAHE R
Non-current liabilities EREBER
Convertible notes TRRER
NET ASSETS BEFHE
Capital and reserves attributable to FAFHEAEIEEX
owners of the Company .31

Share capital B
Reserves FiE
TOTAL EQUITY BRES

Dai Xiaobing

BhE
Director

EF

Notes

Mt

22

25
27

28

31

35(a)
35(0)

RREFEG

2013

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FERT TET
3,531,760
3,531,760
574
311
885
3,532,645
(2,218)
(1,333)
3,530,427
(134,920)
3,395,507
147,539
3,247,968
3,395,507

Wan Tze Fan Terence

Y E
Director

EF

2012
HK$ 000 HK$' 000
FET TRL
3,056,188
3,056,188

1,143

61

1,204
3,057,392

(47,299)
(46,089)
3,010,009
3,010,099
123,560
2,886,539
3,010,099



Consolidated Statement ofCﬁcmges in fcluity
BAMEED L

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2 £2013F 12 A31H IF FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATREARG
(note 35(c)
(H335(0)
Equity
Share Convertible attributable Non-
Share Share  Contributed option Warrant  note equity Exchange  Accumulated to ownersof  controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  the Company interests’ Total
BhE  dRER  TRREE KATHEA
Bx  Ehig EEEL L BE  EERE  ERGE BithlE  BREE  EoREd L)
HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000
Th T T Thn Th T T Thn Th T Th
At1 January 2012 H0121R1A 120,190 3,243,866 81,043 91,069 4890 - 29820 509,922 3,060,956 - 3,060,956
Loss for the year KERER - - - - - - - (113405)  (113409) - (113.409)
Other comprehensive income &40 2B d& - - - - - - 8675 - 8,675 - 8,675
Tota compreensive income.~ AEE2ANZLE
fortheyear - - - - - - 865 (11349 (0470 8
Shares issued under share ~ REREsEIES 2
option scheme 17 (B £35a)0)
fote 35) 90 4678 - - - - - %9 B
Sharesissued onplacing  REERARR
fote 35 (K235 200 2000 - - - - - - W - 3,000
Release upon lapse of REREERE
Vested share option SHERRE - - - (31,844) - - - 31,84 - - -
Release upon lapse of HEEERRES
vested warrants P3G - - - - (3,640) - - 3,640 - - -
A3t December 2012 RVM2E(2B31E 50 33M8 BB 4800 1250 - R B 308 -3
Loss for the year TERER - - - - - - - (61,332) (61,332) - (61332)
Other comprehensive income £ 02 EME - - - - - - 2,489 - 26,489 - 26,489
Tota comprehensive income.~ AEE2ANZEE
for the year - - - - - - 26,489 (61,332) (34,843 - (34,843
Sharesissed onplcing  FEEEARR
Iote 35 (2350 90 1319 - - - - - VY VY
Shares issued to extinguish BB EE%SZ
financia iabiites B9 (his35a)
Iote 35 T2 160 - - - - - - st - st
lssue of comertblenotes  EATHREE
fote 3] (He31) - - - - - 3129 - - - 312%
Shares ssued on conversion~ RERTARZE
of convertile notes vl vl
ote 35l (3350 5 15t - - IR - -6 S e
At December 203 H13EN2ANMA WIS AT MM 4800 1250 1508 G40 (i dunaw -
# Non-controlling interests represented the 30% equity interest of a # JE 158 B% 25 45 Y sE22(a)FT Bl — R W B A A
subsidiary listed in note 22(a). B0% AR AN FEZS ©
|\/. / ) ~—
5 &4 FEARRIERAERA T o 2013 F H§
4. B ok R IE R /NI Ed



Consolidated Statenient ofCasﬁ Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2013

”@f(/ 32 3{»@% %@

B 22013

12A31HIEFE

2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THERT FET
Operating activities MBS
Loss before income tax expense BRATISH S AT RS 18 (58,512) (126,761)
Adjustments for: AEIBE
Depreciation of property, ME - BERZENE
plant and equipment 3,516 4,960
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE 823 1,397
Interest expenses A ESH 25 116
Interest income FEMA (579) (217)
Loss on extinguishment of financial liabilities BiHEemaELER 25,247 -
Loss on disposal/write off of property, HE/EENE - BERH
plant and equipment BB 7 330
Impairment loss on property, ME - MERLEZRERFE
plant and equipment - 41,103
Impairment loss on intangible assets BREEZREBE - 23,924
Impairment loss on goodwill e R EEE = 4,230
Share of loss of a joint venture BE—REeebEZEE 232 1,505
Share of loss/(profit) of an associate EiE—REE DR EE/ CEF) 623 1)
Deposits and other receivables written off Be R H MR R E 534 172
Operating loss before changes in EESRHnEEEE
working capital (28,084) (49,242)
Increase in inventories FEEM (17,425) (3,289)
(Increase)/decrease in trade, notes and other  FEUERZN - FEUNZE 4 - H th fE UL
receivables, deposits and prepayments BRI e RIEFFEGEM) R (40,354) 1,617
Decrease in pledge bank deposits BB 0N 124 -
Decrease in other payables and accruals H 11ME NHRERERERRD (118,708) (119,740)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEH s TE - 10
Net cash used in operating activities BELEBMAZELTE (204,447) (170,644)
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Investing activities

Payment for purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Payment for purchase of gas exploration
and evaluation assets

Acquisition of an associate

Capital injection to an associate

Increase in pledged bank deposits

Interest received

Interest paid

Dividend received from a joint venture

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from shares issued under
share option scheme

Proceeds from issuance of shares

Proceeds from bank borrowings

Repayment of bank borrowings

Proceeds from convertible notes issued

Issuance cost on convertible notes

Repayment to loans from directors

Proceeds from loan from a shareholder

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at 1 January

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents
at 31 December, representing
cash and bank balances

Notes

P EE

BETH
BAME - BER
RIBER
HENE  BER
SIEF
BAXARYRE
HHEEEMR

W —RE AT
A—RBERRIE
B RT R
B UH &

BFHE

BER-—RELEERS

o

S

RELSMA RS FE

A& EE

REREEEITRD

FTiS 5 IA 35(a)(v)
BTG TS A 35(a)ii)
RITEEMBHE

BERITEE

BT MBRERGEHIE 31
AR REETRA 31
EREEEX

BRE KB HE

METDHELZHEFH

ReRBFEEEY
B EFH

R1IB1BZHER
Be%EY

Er@asH e
R12A31B 2B RELSE

&% - R & RB|ITHER
27

2013
HK$’ 000
TET

(1,701)

119

(168,861)
(13,402)

579
(50,394)
3,500

(230,160)

148,476
102,464
(95,587)
264,000
(9,626)
(28,967)
7,500

388,260

(46,347)

71,114

(7,231)

17,536

2012
HK$’ 000
TR

(6,167)

(223,835)
(23,974)
(26,100)
(7,954)

217

(28,958)

(316,771)

36,948
30,000
150,598

217,546

(269,869)

344,451

(3,468)

71,114



Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

1. GENERAL

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in Bermuda on 2
November 1999 under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and its shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 9 February 2000. The
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and Suite 3707-3708, West
Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
22(a).

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective

2.

— A

DS RIER B R A FIR IR B 5 #1981
FRBER1999F 11 A2BH E B HE T
MRZAXHRERER AR - HKkHRH
20005F2 A9 R ABABHM AR HGMBRA
AEREM - ARA2FAMPSERE
2 & i B 5 B A2 7 Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
BermudaX & & T # & H168-2005% 15
B0 F5E3707-3708% ©

ARABR—RREZERRQR - HMBLQ
Bz T EXBENME22()

RMNEEMBREER

(a) REHETEIETEEMBR

1 January 2013
HKFRSs (Amendments)
ER U B ®mEER (BFTA)
HKFRSs (Amendments)
EREVBREER (BFTA)
HKFRSs (Amendments)
ERTBREER (BRTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1 (Revised)
BB GFERE19 2185 (KIEET)
Amendments to HKFRS 7
BRI MEERNETIR ZEFT

HKFRS 10
BRMGHWE LR E105
HKFRS 11
BAEMBRE LB
HKFRS 12
BBMIG I E LR E125
HKFRS 13

BAVBHRELERZE135R
HKAS 27 (2011)

BB GETHERE275 (20114F)
HKAS 28 (2011)

BB LRI AERF285% (20114)
HKAS 19 (2011)

BB GETHERE195 (20114)
HK(IFRIC) — Interpretation 20

FE(BRMEBERBERES) 2 EF205

Amendments to HKFRS 1
BAVBRELERNEIR BT

Except as explained below, the adoption of these
amendments has no material impact on the Group’s

financial statements.

" I |

H#A]-2013F1A1H AR
Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle
2009 E2011F R 2 FEUE
Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle
2010F E2012F BHI 2 F B i
Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle
20115 £ 2013 1 B 2 F & e
Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
HtzEW=ER 2275
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
RV BEERVBAR
Consolidated Financial Statements
A BB mE
Joint Arrangements
a2
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
REMERERZIKE
Fair Value Measurement
NEEEFE
Separate Financial Statements
BBk
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
REBERRREEREZRE
Employee Benefits
‘EEREH
Stripping Costs of the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
B REI5 4 E B B 2 FIERBC AR
Government loans
BT &

B TR E SN - MR FERTHAE
By BRALBEALE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2013 (Continued)

HKFRSs (Amendments) — Annual Improvements 2009-2011
Cycle

HKAS 1 has been amended to clarify that an opening
statement of financial position is required only when
a retrospective application of an accounting policy, a
retrospective restatement or reclassification has a material
effect on the information presented in the opening position.
Further, this opening statement of financial position does
not have to be accompanied by comparative information
in the related notes. This is consistent with the Group’s
existing accounting policy.

The Group considers that the restatements resulting from
the adoption of HKFRS 10 and HKFRS 11 have no impact
on the opening financial position.

HKFRSs (Amendments) — Annual Improvements 2010-2012
Cycle

The Basis of Conclusions for HKFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement was amended to clarify that short-term
receivables and payables with no stated interest rate can
be measured at their invoice amounts without discounting,
if the effect of discounting is immaterial. This is consistent
with the Group’s existing accounting policy.

HKFRSs Amendment — Annual Improvements 2011-2013
Cycle

The Basis of Conclusions to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards was amended to
clarify that a first-time adopter is allowed, but not required,
to apply a new HKFRS that is not mandatory if that HKFRS
permits early application and provided that HKFRS is
applied in all periods presented unless HKFRS 1 provides on
exemption or exception. The adoption of the amendments
has no impact on these financial statements as the Group is
not a first-time adopter of HKFRS.

2.

29 3% %o % U 4%
RAE RS 5 R B (40)

(a) RENHET EETEEMBR
HHEA -20135F1A1B A
(#8)

BB I E R (55T K) — 2009 =

2011F AR F /&N #

EB ST EUEIHEEBL - BB

REEEVNERASFHE - EBPEIIX

BN BEHBORRP RN ZEREL

BAFER STHFEZHBUHBMRR

= o b AN - BB 7E AR B BT 5 AP 8 71 it ER

MG BARRKFE 2 LB E R - 55 68

REEBRITEAHEE K -

AEERBRFEMNBEBMBREERE0
WREBMBRELEFFERZE
SIS ER AR A SR o

BB I & ER (1557 K)—20102
201248 B 2 F |2 20 H#E
EBEVISRELEREIHEAFEFEZ
EmRBEEIEEIIAEBNITEZEE
TEX SABEERXRZEHARYNIE
REMNFERAILNERFTR 2 B#ESE
2o mBEAEERITERRE - -

BB I ER (55T K)—2011F =
20134 B & F 2 2 #
BEEMBRELENBIRERNERATSE
B ISR EE R 2 BRIk IR 2 1EIS R AR
EHRBEBTBEREENEIRIEE 2 H
RAFIIMERIN - (W B BB IR E LB
REFiRAIER BB B MR E £
SEAREZ2Y 2 AR - Al E K%
BRI LA (T JE 4 78) FE R 3% 15 15 78 54
FERZHETEAMBEMEER - BRAE
SEVIHFFERENE BT HHmELEL -
BERMZEETHZEMBRRLER
@,

FPEERERBERAF » 2013 F 3R



Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2013 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS1 (Revised) — Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 (Revised) require the Group to
separate items presented in other comprehensive income
into those that may be reclassified to profit and loss in
the future and those that may not. Tax on items of other
comprehensive income is allocated and disclosed on the
same basis.

The Group has adopted the amendments retrospectively for
the financial year ended 31 December 2013. Items of other
comprehensive income that may and may not be reclassified
to profit and loss in the future have been presented
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The comparative information
has been restated to comply with the amendments. As the
amendments affect presentation only, there are no effects
on the Group’s financial position or performance.

Amendments to HKFRS 7 — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

HKFRS 7 is amended to introduce disclosures for all
recognised financial instruments that are set off under HKAS
32 and those that are subject to an enforceable master
netting agreement or similar arrangement, irrespective of
whether they are set off under HKAS 32.

The adoption of the amendments has no impact on these
financial statements as the Group has not offset financial
instruments, nor has it entered into a master netting
agreement or a similar arrangement.

Annual Report 2013 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

2.

RMNEEMBREEA (&)

(a) IRENHET EETEEMBR
H#A]-2013F1A1HEAEN
(48&)

BB B RRE 152 185T (#8153T) —
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BB GHENFEIFE 2B (KB R

EAEEBEINEMEEKREZEE
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HERZEAVEET D EERBEZE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2013 (Continued)

HKFRS 10 — Consolidated Financial Statements

HKFRS 10 introduces a single control model for
consolidation of all investee entities. An investor has
control when it has power over the investee (whether or
not that power is used in practice), exposure or rights to
variable returns from the investee and the ability to use the
power over the investee to affect those returns. HKFRS 10
contains extensive guidance on the assessment of control.
For example, the standard introduces the concept of “de
facto” control where an investor can control an investee
while holding less than 50% of the investee’s voting rights
in circumstances where its voting interest is of sufficiently
dominant size relative to the size and dispersion of those
of other individual shareholders to give it power over the
investee. Potential voting rights are considered in the
analysis of control only when these are substantive, i.e. the
holder has the practical ability to exercise them.

The standard explicitly requires an assessment of whether
an investor with decision making rights is acting as principal
or agent and also whether other parties with decision
making rights are acting as agents of the investor. An agent
is engaged to act on behalf of and for the benefit of another
party and therefore does not control the investee when it
exercises its decision making authority. The accounting
requirements in HKAS 27 (2008) on other consolidation
related matters are carried forward unchanged. The Group
has changed its accounting policy in determining whether
it has control of an investee and therefore is required to
consolidate that interest (see note 4(b)). The adoption of the
amendments has no impact on these financial statements.

29 3% %o % U 4%
RAE RS 5 R B (40)

(a) RENHET EETEEMBR
HE#A]-2013F1A1HEAEN
(4&)

BB R R E 105 — 5 A B KR
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EBUBRELEREI0FRGEATERR

ERIEETRESIAE —HEERX - F
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FEEBEE 2 AEREN U REEE

FUIRE B 2 BN NS E RSB R -

KWELBBBEE - BN BREE

A0 8 A (s 2 5 g -

a0 - B3] A [E B ¥ 54 2 3

B MEEEMEARRERRERY

HEROIHBER BREEZRRESK
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EEERE (ASBEAEAEBBEBRE N
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ZIEEE (RIE4(D)) - IRAZFER]
UREVBHRRALBELE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. FNEEVBRBEER(E)

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2013 (Continued)

HKFRS 11 — Joint Arrangements

Joint arrangements under HKFRS 11 have the same basic
characteristics as joint ventures under HKAS 31. Joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. Where the Group has rights to the assets and
obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement, it is
regarded as a joint operator and will recognise its interests
in the assets, liabilities, income and expenses arising from
the joint arrangement. Where the Group has rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement as a whole, it is regarded as
having an interest in a joint venture and will apply the equity
method of accounting, unless it is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale). HKFRS 11 does not allow proportionate consolidation
of a joint venture arrangement. In an arrangement
structured through a separate vehicle, all relevant facts and
circumstances should be considered to determine whether
the parties to the arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement. Previously, the existence of a separate
legal entity was the key factor in determining the existence
of a jointly controlled entity under HKAS 31. The Group has
changed its accounting policy for joint arrangements (see
note 4(e)).

The Group has assessed its investments in the production
sharing contracts previously classified as a jointly controlled
operations under HKAS 31 Interest in Joint Ventures and
accounted its interests in the assets, liabilities, income and
expenses arising from the production sharing contracts.
With the effective of HKFRS 11, it is determine the
production sharing contracts to be classified as a joint
operation, which is accounted for same as before. The
adoption of the amendments has no impact on these
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2013 (Continued)

HKFRS 12 — Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

HKFRS 12 integrates and makes consistent the disclosures
requirements about interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint arrangements. It also introduces new disclosure
requirements, including those related to unconsolidated
structured entities. The general objective of the standard
is to enable users of financial statements to evaluate the
nature and risks of a reporting entity’s interests in other
entities and the effects of those interests on the reporting
entity’s financial statements.

HKFRS 12 disclosures are provided in notes 20, 21, 22 and
23. As the new standard affects only disclosure, there is no
effect on the Group’s financial position and performance.

HKFRS 13 — Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on how to
measure fair value when it is required or permitted by other
standards. The standard applies to both financial and non-
financial items measured at fair value and introduces a fair
value measurement hierarchy. The definitions of the three
levels in this measurement hierarchy are generally consistent
with HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.
HKFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date (i.e. an exit price). The standard removes
the requirement to use bid and ask prices for financial
assets and liabilities quoted in an active market. Rather the
price within the bid-ask spread that is most representative
of fair value in the circumstances should be used. It also
contains extensive disclosure requirements to allow users of
the financial statements to assess the methods and inputs
used in measuring fair values and the effects of fair value
measurements on the financial statements. HKFRS 13 is
applied prospectively.

HKFRS 13 did not materially affect any fair value
measurements of the Group’s assets and liabilities and
therefore has no effect on the Group’s financial position and
performance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. FNEEVBRBEER(E)

" I |

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2013 (Continued)

HKAS 19 (2011) — Employee Benefits

HKAS 19 (2011) abandons the corridor approach with the
result that changes in defined benefit obligations and the fair
value of plan assets are recognised in the period in which
they occur. The revised standard requires the changes
in the Group’s net defined benefit liability (or asset) to be
separated into three components: service cost (including
current and past service cost and settlements) recognised
in profit or loss; net interest on the net defined benefit
liability recognised in profit or loss; and re-measurements
of the defined benefit liability (or asset) recognised in other
comprehensive income. The revised standard distinguishes
between short-term and long-term employee benefits based
on the expected date of settlement. The previous standard
used the term “due to be settled”. HKAS 19 (2011) provides
additional guidance on the definition of termination benefits.
Benefits that are conditional on future service being
provided including those that increase if additional service is
provided are not termination benefits. The revised standard
requires that a liability for termination benefits is recognised
on the earlier of the date when the entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and the date the entity
recognises any related restructuring costs.

The Group has amended its accounting policies for short-
term employee benefits and termination benefits, however
the adoption of the revised standard has no effect on the
Group’s financial position or performance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2013 (Continued)

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 20 — Stripping Costs in the
Production Phase of a Surface Mine

Stripping activities carried out in the production phase of a
surface mine may give rise to two benefits: usable ore that
can be used to produce inventory and improved access
to further quantities of material that will be mined in future
periods. The Interpretation requires that costs of stripping
activity are accounted for in accordance with the principles
in HKAS 2 Inventories to the extent that the benefit
from stripping activity is realised in the form of inventory
produced. The costs of stripping activity that provide a
benefit in the form of improved access to ore are recognised
as a non-current stripping activity asset when certain criteria
are met. This asset will be accounted for as an addition
or enhancement to an existing asset and is classified as
tangible or intangible according to the nature of the existing
asset of which it forms part. The stripping activity asset is
measured initially at cost and subsequently in the same way
as the existing asset of which it forms part. It is depreciated
or amortised on a systematic basis over the expected useful
life of the component of the ore body that becomes more
accessible as a result of the stripping activity. The adoption
of the Interpretation has no impact on these financial
statements because the Group does not engage in surface
mining activities.

Amendments to HKFRS 1 — Government Loans

The amendments add an exception to the retrospective
application of HKFRSs to require that first-time adopters
apply the requirements in HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and HKAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and
Disclosure of Governance Assistance prospectively to
government loans existing at the date of transition to
HKFRSs.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2013 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 1 — Government Loans (Continued)

This means that first-time adopters will not recognise the
corresponding benefit of the government loan at a below
market rate of interest as a government grant. However,
entities may choose to apply the requirements of HKFRS
9 and HKAS 20 to government loans retrospectively if the
information needed to do so had been obtained at the time
of initially accounting for that loan.

The adoption of the amendments has no impact on these
financial statements because the Group is not a first-time
adopter of HKFRS.

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to

the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but are

not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group.

Amendments to HKAS 32
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Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities'

HHEMBEENMMBRE

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments*

BB HE ERIEIR B 7% T A4
Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011)

EAREHREEBFE10% BEATEHRE REERE
B F125 R BB ERF275%
(20114 ) 2185

Amendments to HKAS 19 (2011)
BB EFTERIE195 (2011F) 2185

HK (IFRIC) 21 Levies'
7R (BRMEREREZEE) B215 BE

HKFRSs (Amendments)
EEVBREER (BFTA)
HKFRSs (Amendments)
BRI BREEL (BFTA)

Investment entities!

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions?
RERMEE - ES®H

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle®
20105 E2012F B HI 2 F E Bt
Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle?
20115 E2013F A # 7 F & B2

HKAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosure’

FEERTERE365%

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2014
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014
8 Effective for annual periods beginning, or transactions
~ occurring, on or after 1 July 2014
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available

_ for adoption
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 32 — Offsetting Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities

The amendments clarify the offsetting requirements by

adding appliance guidance to HKAS 32 which clarifies when

an entity “currently has a legally enforceable right to set

off” and when a gross settlement mechanism is considered

equivalent to net settlement.

HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments

Under HKFRS 9, financial assets are classified into
financial assets measured at fair value or at amortised cost
depending on the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics
of the financial assets. Fair value gains or losses will be
recognised in profit or loss except for those non-trade equity
investments, which the entity will have a choice to recognise
the gains and losses in other comprehensive income.
HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and
measurement requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS
39, except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair
value through profit or loss, where the amount of change
in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of that
liability is recognised in other comprehensive income unless
that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In
addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)
— Investment Entities

The amendments apply to a particular class of businesses
that qualify as investment entities. An investment entity’s
business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns
from capital appreciation, investment income or both. It
evaluates the performance of its investments on a fair
value basis. Investment entities could include private equity
organisations, venture capital organisations, pension funds
and investment funds.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)

— Investment Entities (Continued)

The amendments provide an exception to the consolidation
requirements in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and require investment entities to measure
particular subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss
rather than to consolidate them. The amendments also set
out the disclosure requirements for investment entities. The
amendments are applied retrospectively subject to certain
transitional provisions.

Amendments to HKAS 19 (2011) — Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions

The amendments permit contributions that are independent
of the number of years of service to be recognised as a
reduction in the service cost in the period in which the
service is rendered instead of allocating the contributions to
periods of service.

Amendments to HKAS 39 - Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

The amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge
accounting when novation of a hedging instrument to a
central counterparty meets specified criteria.

HK (IFRIC) 21 — Levies
HK (IFRIC) 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a liability to
pay a levy imposed by government when the activity that

triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation,
occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 36 - Recoverable Amount
Disclosures
The amendments limit the requirements to disclose the
recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit
(CGU) to those periods in which an impairment loss has
been recognised or reversed, and expand the disclosures
where the recoverable amount of impaired assets or CGUs
has been determined based on fair value less costs of
disposal.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the potential impact of these pronouncements. The
directors so far concluded that the application of these
new pronouncements will have no material impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost basis.

During the year, the Group incurred a loss of
HK$61,332,000 and its net current liabilities exceeded
current assets by HK$226,968,000 at end of reporting
period. In addition, as described in the paragraphs below,
the Group can only utilise the remaining loan facilities of
RMB1,100,000,000 if certain prerequisites as described
in () and (i) below are met. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The directors are taking the following measures to improve
the financial position and liquidity of the Group:

()  As set out in note 30, in December 2011, the
Group obtained a loan facility of RMB1,000,000,000
repayable by instalment over five years from a
financial institution in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”). As at 31 December 2013, the Group had
utilised RMB400,000,000 of the facility and the
other RMB600,000,000 can only be drawn after the
Group has obtained final approval of its plan for the
development of the coalbed methane field or part of
the coalbed methane field (the “Overall Development
Plan” or “ODP”) of the production sharing contract
set out in note 36 (“Sanjiao PSC”) by the National
Development and Reform Commission — National
Energy Administration (“NEA”). Through the PRC
partner of the project, China National Petroleum
Corporation (“PetroChina”), the Group submitted the
ODP to the NEA in May 2012. The Group received a
reply from NEA in August 2012 which gave consent on
the preliminary work on the development of the Sanjiao
PSC. The directors anticipate that the final approval of
the ODP will be obtained in 2014;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption (Continued)

(i)  The Group obtained confirmation from another
financial institution in the PRC for a loan facility of up
to RMB500,000,000 for the Sanjiao PSC, of which
RMB200,000,000 can be drawn any time by the
Group. The remaining balance can only be drawn after
the Group has obtained the final approval of the ODP
from NEA in respect of the Sanjiao PSC;

(i)  On 17 March 2014, the Group obtained a facility of
HK$100,000,000 from a company wholly owned by a
stated-owned financial enterprise (which is the holding
company of a corporate shareholder of the Company).
The facility is to be utilised as general working capital
of the Group. Details are disclosed on note 46(b); and

(iv) Other than the above mentioned, the Group is
considering other possible sources of financing,
including but not limited to advances from major
shareholders, equity financing and borrowing from
financial institutions.

As a result of the above measures and after taking into
account the Group’s cash flow projection for the coming
year, the directors are of the opinion that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to meet its liabilities as they
fall due at least for a period of twelve months from the end
of reporting period. If the Group was unable to continue as
a going concern, the Group might not be able to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

(c) Functional and presentational currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HKD”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., FEETHE

(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised profits
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates
of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries or businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses
are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on
a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair value
unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they
are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the
costs are deducted from equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from
new information obtained within the measurement period
(@ maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an
asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Contingent consideration balances arising from business
combinations whose acquisition dates preceded 1 January
2010 (i.e. the date the Group first applied HKFRS 3 (2008))
have been accounted for in accordance with the transition
requirements in the standard. Such balances are not
adjusted upon first application of the standard. Subsequent
revisions to estimates of such consideration are treated as
adjustments to the cost of these business combinations and
are recognised as part of goodwill.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest
and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are
accounted for in the same manner as would be required if
the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)
Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share
of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if
this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if
all three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

(c) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests over the fair value
of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of consideration
paid, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c) Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount to each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

(d) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but not control or joint control over those
policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter,
their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the
associate are not recognised unless there is an obligation to
make good those losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the
carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of
the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included
in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is
objective evidence that the investment in an associate has
been impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial
assets.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates are carried at cost less impairment
losses, if any. The results of associates are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable during the year.

(e) Joint arrangements

The group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a
contractual arrangement that confers joint control over the
relevant activities of the arrangement to the group and at
least one other party. Joint control is assessed under the
same principles as control over subsidiaries.

The group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as
either:

o Joint ventures: where the group has rights to only the
net assets of the joint arrangement; or

o Joint operations: where the group has both the rights

to assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint
arrangement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Joint arrangements (Continued)

In assessing the classification of interests in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

° The structure of the joint arrangement;

° The legal form of joint arrangements structured
through a separate vehicle;

° The contractual terms of the joint arrangement
agreement; and

° Any other facts and circumstances (including any other
contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures in the
same manner as investments in associates (i.e. using the
equity method — see note 4(d)).

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint venture above
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised
and included in the carrying amount of the investment in
joint venture. Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in a joint venture has been impaired the carrying
amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the
same way as other non-financial assets.

The Group accounts for its production sharing contracts as
joint operations by recognising its share of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses in accordance with its contractually
conferred rights and obligations. The Company’s interests
in joint ventures are stated at cost less impairment losses,
if any. Results of joint ventures are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of development wells is capitalised as oil and gas
properties under property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful
lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. The useful lives are as follows:
- Leasehold improvements the shorter of their
estimated useful lives
or the lease term

- QOil and gas properties Units of production

- Furniture, fixtures and office 3 - 10 years
equipment
- Motor vehicles 4 -5 years
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction as
well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to
the appropriate class of property, plant and equipment
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
assets for their intended use are completed. No depreciation
is provided for in respect of construction in progress until it
is completed and ready for its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

(9) Intangible assets

Oil operation rights

Oil operation rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are amortised
on the units of production method.

Motor vehicle registration license

Motor vehicle registration licenses with indefinite useful
lives acquired are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. The Group tests impairment for the
indefinite useful lives motor vehicle licenses annually
by comparing its carrying amounts with its recoverable
amounts, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that it may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, but when an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount to the extent
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Gas exploration and evaluation assets

Gas exploration and evaluation activity involves the search
for mineral resources, the determination of technical
feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an
identified resource.

Licence costs paid in connection with a right to explore in
an existing exploration area are capitalised and amortised
over the term of the permit.

Once the legal right to explore has been acquired, costs
directly associated with an exploration well are capitalised as
gas exploration and evaluation assets until the drilling of the
well is complete and the results have been evaluated. These
costs include directly attributable employee remuneration,
materials and fuel used, rig costs and payments made to
contractors.

Geological and geophysical costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

If no coalbed methane with commercial potential are
discovered, the exploration asset is written off as a dry hole.
If extractable coalbed methane is found and, subject to
further appraisal activity (e.g., the drilling of additional wells),
is likely to be capable of being commercially developed,
the costs continue to be carried as gas exploration and
evaluation assets while sufficient/continued progress
is made in assessing the commerciality of the coalbed
methane. Costs directly associated with appraisal activity
undertaken to determine the size, characteristics and
commercial potential of a reservoir following the initial
discovery of coalbed methane, including the costs of
appraisal wells where coalbed methane was not found, are
initially capitalised as gas exploration and evaluation assets.

All such capitalised costs are subject to technical,
commercial and management review as well as review for
indicators of impairment at least once a year. This is to
confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract
value from the discovery. When this is no longer the case,
the costs are written off to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(h) Gas exploration and evaluation assets
(Continued)
When proved reserves of coalbed methane are identified,
development is sanctioned by management and approved
by relevant government bodies, the relevant capitalised
expenditure is first assessed for impairment and (if required)
any impairment loss is recognised, then the remaining
balance is transferred to oil and gas properties or intangible
assets. No amortisation is charged during the exploration
and evaluation phase.

() Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense
on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised as an
integrated part of the total rental expense, over the term of
the lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition,
depending on the purpose for which the asset was
acquired. Financial assets are initially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a
purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the asset within the time frame
established generally by regulation or convention in the
marketplace concerned.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. They arise principally through the provision
of goods and services to customers (trade debtors), and
also incorporate other types of contractual monetary
asset. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses.

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period,
whether there is any objective evidence that financial asset
is impaired. Financial asset is impaired if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include:

° significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

° granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s
financial difficulty; or

° it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of a financial asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. When any part of the financial
asset is determined as uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account for the relevant financial asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings, the debt element of convertible
debts issued by the Group are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv) Convertible notes containing liability and equity
components

Convertible notes issued by the Group that contain both the

liability and conversion option components are classified

separately into their respective items on initial recognition.

Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange

of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a

fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is

classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the proceeds
of the issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the loan notes
into equity, is included in equity as convertible notes equity
reserve.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible notes is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible notes equity reserve until the embedded option
is exercised when the balance stated in convertible notes
equity reserve will be transferred to share premium. Where
the option remains unexercised at the expiry dates, the
balance stated in convertible notes equity reserve will
be released to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised upon conversion or expiration of the option.

(v)  Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Annual Report 2013 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

4.

FEGHBR (&)

() MBIRAM@E&E
(v) BREREREZIDZAZKEER

ARBEBRTZBEEBREERERRL
BER D ROTHEAED B HEEN
BIEE - AR ESRR A MRS
BERBARAEEHB ZRATAL
BZABEIBER/BATA-

NHERE  BENODZ2AFERRASR
FABRREBZRITMSEANERETE - %
TARBERERZMERAEEREAR
EHD BIRBEABRERZER LB AR
BB 2 AT EERFAERL
ABREREREEE -

RERHRE JRREBEZABERDE
REBRMNEEREIHEB AT o #2550
D (AR ERS AR AANRREBK
IEER)RENTRREBESFHS
EEMHRERETEASL  ERAH
BREEEGHEZEHRBERERD R
(B - @ EENB A NARITE AT
BRREERSHRBEEBREBEERGT
BE-EEBERABRNIGR TS ERT
Y st s & 18 o

) EEFEZL
BERANEEDHBEEXT KB EEH
AR A BRI S RS WA KT E
SHZFERE - BEBRMEDIRGBE
EBBEZERFHR (WER) &2 H
1 A Y E R 4T 30 M Bt R 2R R & W sk A+
oz FE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1) Financial instruments (Continued)

(vi)  Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a
fixed amount of cash for fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments are equity (warrant reserve). The
warrant reserve will be transferred to the share capital and
share premium accounts upon the exercise of the warrants.
When the warrants are still not yet exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in warrant reserve
will be transferred to accumulated losses.

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the
date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

() Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i) Provisions

General

Provision are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities
(Continued)
(i) Provisions (Continued)
Decommissioning liability
Decommissioning liability is recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
of the amount of obligation can be made. A corresponding
amount equivalent to the provision is recognised as part
of the cost of the related gas exploration and evaluation
assets. The amount recognised is the estimated cost
of decommissioning, discounted to its present value.
Changes in the estimated timing of decommissioning
or decommissioning cost estimates are dealt with
prospectively by recording an adjustment to the provision,
and a corresponding adjustment to gas exploration and
evaluation assets. The unwinding of the discount on the
decommissioning provision is included as a finance cost.

(i) Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not probable
that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then
be recognised as a provision.

(n) Income tax
Income tax expense represents current tax and deferred
tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
87 7% %5 % Y 33

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items directly recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
directly recognised in other comprehensive income.

(o) Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which case, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o) Foreign currencies (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to minority interests
as appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in profit
or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the exchange
reserve.

(p) Employees’ benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the
year when the employees render the related service.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p) Employees’ benefits (Continued)

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss when the services
are rendered by the employees.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. The
assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
contributions as employer vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the Scheme.

The Group has joined a mandatory central pension
scheme organised by the PRC government for certain of
its employees, the assets of which are held separately
from those of the Group. Contributions made are based
on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries and
are charged to profit or loss as they became payable, in
accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s
contributions vest fully once they are made.

(q) Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At
the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss over the remaining
vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q) Share-based payments (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
other parties are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where the fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at
the date the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability equal to
the portion of the goods or services received is recognised
at the current fair value determined at the end of each
reporting period.

(r) Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment under cost model;
o gas exploration and evaluation assets;
° intangible assets; and

° investments in subsidiaries, jointly venture and
associate

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value
less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

17 3% % % v %3

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which require
a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets, are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

(t) Related parties
(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(@)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(b)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(c) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(@) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(b) One entity is joint venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

(c) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(e) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

(f)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (i); and

(@) A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence

over the entity or is a member of key management
) personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(t) Related parties (Continued)

(i) Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(o) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

(u) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances and
excluded value added tax or other sales related taxes.

(i) Sale of crude oil

Revenue is recognised when crude oil is delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the crude oil delivered
and the related risks and rewards of ownership.

(i) Sale of coalbed methane

Revenue from trial sale of coalbed methane is recognised
when the coalbed methane is siphoned to the customers’
tankers which is taken to be the point in time when the
customer has accepted the coalbed methane delivered and
the related risks and rewards of ownership.

Revenue from trial sale of natural gas through pipeline
is recognised when the natural gas passes through the
gas reader built in CNG Gas Station which is taken to be
the point in time when the customer has accepted the
natural gas delivered and the related risks and rewards of
ownership.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i) Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned basis by
reference to the principal outstanding using the effective
interest method.

(iv)  Rental income
Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

TURNOVER

The principal activities of the Group are operation of (i)
exploitation and sale of crude oil and natural gas and
(i) exploration, development and production of coalbed
methane. Since the operation of exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane is in the exploration
stage, revenue generated from trial sales was not recorded
as turnover during the years 2013 and 2012.

The amount of revenue recognised in turnover during the
year was as follows:

FEEER ()

(u) WAHERR (&)

(i) FLEHA
MBWARKREE RS BERERN X
EIRES R P A ERET -

(iv) WA
KEHEZHSWAERBRERNZE
KRIETERR ©

B
AEBZETBEBERECEN)ARLEE
ok RXAREMHDE AEREER
ER -BRUE FAEREEEERZ
X5 E B R B B - L R2013F &
2012F WA & M E £ /WA IEA
ARYIVEZ %50 -

FAREEXEERZBAELT

2013 2012

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THT FAT

Sale of crude oil 5 55 RO 21,598 28,932
OTHER REVENUE H g A

2013 2012

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHET FAETT

Interest income on bank deposits RATEFRAE WA 579 217

Income from sale of coalbed HEERNHEERA

methane (note) (B &%) 38,899 9,110

Sub-lease income B A 852 -

Others HAh 2,142 246

42,472 9,573

"N_th: It represents trial sales of coalbed methane generated from

/ the Sanjiao PSC.
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OTHER LOSSES, NET 7. HiWE5R%E
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FET
Loss on extinguishment of KM B AE
financial liabilities (note 35(a)(iv)) 2 518 (P 5E35(a)(iv) (25,247) -
Impairment loss on property, YE BMEREEZ
plant and equipment (note 16) BEEE (M 5E16) = (41,103)
Impairment loss on intangible mEEEZ
assets (note 18) WEEE (F1:E18) - (23,924)
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 19) B2 ~ (& &8 (i 3E19) - (4,230)
Loss on disposal/write off of HE i E
property, plant and equipment MEREEZEE (7) (330)
Deposits and other receivables R& N CE R
written off BRFGESH (534) (172)
Exchange losses, net & X 1855 (48) (10)
(25,836) (69,769)
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. MRFIRBiZHAEsE

Loss before income tax expense is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

BRETSHERERE R, GEA)

2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FET
(a) Finance costs (a) BB AE
Amortisation of convertible notes AMBREBRNR S
transaction costs (note 31) RO 2z 8 (B9EE31) 1,874 -
Interest on borrowings wholly ARAFAREEED
repayable within five years BERAE 49,932 31,447
Imputed interest on convertible AR R
notes (note 31) S E (M15E31) 21,775 -
Interest on late payment 7 3 P s B g8 R
charged by a subcontractor IR F B 52,536 -
Others HAb 590 407
126,707 31,854
Less: interest capitalised as W BEERERAR
gas exploration and BVER K wE il
evaluation assets BEZHNE (MFE17)
(note 17) (126,682) (31,738)
25 116
% o

FEHERIERER QAT ¢ 2013 £
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8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. BRFAEHIZHAIESE (&)
(Continued)
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THERT FHT
(b) Staff costs (including (b) EIRE (BIE
directors’ remuneration FizE102
in note 10) EEis)
Salaries, wages and other He I1EBR
benefits H At 78 A 36,097 33,604
Contributions to defined FLE R IR
contribution retirement plan A8l 2 ft3k 1,726 1,953
37,823 35,557
(c) Other items (c) H#IEH
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN B & 1,450 1,443
Depreciation of property, W - HER
plant and equipment SEITE (Misx1e)
(note 16) 3,516 4,960
Amortisation of intangible mVEEZ
assets* (note 18) iy (M 3E18) 823 1,397
Minimum lease payments KEME 2
under operating lease HIRHEEFKIB
— property rentals —YERE 5,878 6,044

\
<~
oy

Included in “direct costs” in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the group companies did not have any estimated assessable
profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax during the years
ended 31 December 2013 and 2012. During the years
2013 and 2012, the subsidiaries in the PRC were subject to
statutory tax rate of 25%.

()  The amount of income tax expense (credited)/charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income represents:

9. Fifahi(ZH) "#is

#H E20134F N2012F12831H It F &
N HREBRQRWEBHMNESFE

B2 BEtERTUER - A BEIRE B
1S T B © 201832012 E N » fif
R B 2 i B A BIE A T R R 25% 8 4N

IR e

0 KB JEALA

BaEkEMtE

EW S ROMEN S H B :

2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THERT FiET
Current income tax BVERRT 15 81

- PRC enterprises income tax — B EMRER - -
Deferred tax for the year (note 32) FAZIRLERIE (K3E32) 2,820 (13,356)
Income tax expense/(credit) R (R 2,820 (13,356)

(i)  The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled (i) AFELAERIBHEGEBERR

to the Group’s loss before income tax expense per

Htp 2 ER SR 2 N ERE G AEHR

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other A EEEENT
comprehensive income as follows:
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FE T
Loss before income tax expense BRATISH S LRI E B (58,512) (126,761)
Tax credit on loss before income B FT 1S 4 S T AT RS 18 AR TR IR -
tax expense, calculated 225%5t & (20124 : 25%)
at 25% (2012: 25%) (14,628) (31,690)
Effect of different tax rates of REMBNEEREE S
subsidiaries operating in B AR NRME 2 &
other jurisdiction 4,572 2,825
Tax effect of non-deductible AR R &
expenses 12,548 12,407
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARMBAZHIETE (282) -
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised FIERZFHRIBREZ BT E 610 3,102
Income tax expense/(credit) g/ (ER) 2,820 (13,356)

FERRZERAERADA ¢ 2013 F 3]



Directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration disclosed
pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2013:

Directors’
fees
ESfe
HK$’000
FTER
Executive directors HITEE
Dai Xiaobing gk -
King Hap Lee iyl -
Zhu Danping' RELE -
Wang Ziming TEH -
Wan Tze Fan Terence BTFE -
Xu Zucheng? Rk -
Independent non-executive B FHTEE
directors
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter EE % 200
Wong Lung Tak Patrick ~ =#E1& 200
Wang Yanbin FIEH 200
Dang Weihua® ERE 87
687
Non-executive directors ~ JFEITES
Kong Siu Tim L 200
Ma Tengying’ Shee -
200
887

Salaries,
allowances
and
benefits

REBEEBRAGIFIGCIGREZES
RESTHRAEMEWT

HZ=2013F12A31HILEE -

Retirement
scheme

in kind contributions

A
RENT @
HK$’ 000
TET

2,000
2,000
1,127
2,000
2,000

833

9,960

9,960

B
st Bl
HK$’ 000

TET

15
15

15
15

60

60

Sub-total

st
HK$’ 000
Ti&ER

2,015
2,015
1,127
2,015
2,015

833

10,020

200
200
200

87

687

200

200

10,907

Share-based
payments
(note 34)

VA RR 3 32 4
ZRIE
(BEE34)
HK$’ 000
TER

Total

st
HK$’ 000
Ti#R

2,015
2,015
1,127
2,015
2,015

833

10,020

200
200
200

87

687

200

200

10,907



Notes to the Financial Statements
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10. EEM= (8)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2012: HZE2012F12A318 1L FE -
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement Share-based
Directors’ benefits scheme payments
fees inkind  contributions Sub-total (note 34) Total
AR 7 3 11
E = RIK Z A
ESHe REVVH ATEIfR et GERD mst

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'O000  HK$'000  HK$ 000
TRET TEL TAR TRT TET TRAT

Executive directors HITEE
Dai Xiaobing Y= - 2,000 14 2,014 - 2,014
King Hap Lee SRH - 2,000 14 2,014 - 2,014
Wang Ziming T8H - 2,000 14 2,014 - 2,014
Wan Tze Fan Terence BTE - 2,160 14 2,174 - 2,174
Xu Zucheng? Rk - 1,597 - 1,597 - 1,597
- 9,757 56 9,813 - 9,813
Independent non-executive B FHTEE
directors
Wong Lung Tak Patrick = &E/& 200 - - 200 - 200
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter ZEI% 200 - - 200 - 200
Wang Yanbin TER 200 - - 200 - 200
600 - - 600 - 600
Non-executive directors ~ FFEIITESE
Kong Siu Tim IO 200 - - 200 - 200
800 9,757 56 10,613 - 10,613
j\.__'l
CS _-5%3 MEHRERAERA D © 2013 F & .

\ [ J
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

11.

(Continued)

Notes:

1. Appointed as chief executive officer in June 2013

2. Appointed as executive director and chief executive officer
in March 2012 and September 2012 respectively. Resigned
from both positions in June 2013
Appointed in July 2013
Appointed in April 2013

During the year, no emoluments (2012: HK$ Nil) were paid
by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss
of office. None of the directors waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2013
and 2012.

10. EEME (&)

=
i:ﬂ:

R2013F6 A EZ M AITHAER
H201249F3 8 K2012949A » Bl E & T
BWITE S RITHAE - WHR20134F6
B BT -t B A

R2013F7 B EL T

M2013F4 S EEE

N =

FR - AEBTERTANESTZIHAHE
(20125 : A TT) EREF MA KA M
AREE R RESERBER 2 /E
HE20134F 2012F12 A31B L FfE -
MEEEREXRAERECAHS -

o

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST M. BEHAL
EMOLUMENTS
All the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the REBRERM &S AL (2012F :
Group (2012: five) were directors of the Company whose e RARFIZES  HMle 2 &
emoluments are disclosed in note 10. B EE10W 5 ©
The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior EXNSEMNTSHEEEKE GFE
management (non-director individual) were within the FEAD)ZHENF T HE -
following bands:
2013 2012
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 A
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T A T~ 2 2
HK$1,000,000 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7t £1,500,0007% 7T 2 3
4 5

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the above
highest paid non-director individual as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of
office.
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12.

13.

14.

Notes to the Financial Statements

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to owners of the Company includes a
loss of HK$42,563,000 (2012: HK$15,623,000) which has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$61,332,000
(2012: HK$113,405,000) and the weighted average number
of 13,142,713,000 (2012: 12,230,404,000) ordinary shares
in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share is calculated based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted
average number of shares in issue during the year after
adjusting for the number of dilutive potential ordinary
shares on share options granted, warrants subscribed and
convertible notes issued.

The Company’s outstanding share options, warrants and
convertible notes where applicable, had an anti-dilutive
effect on the basic loss per share in both years.

12.

13.

14.

23 3% % % 9%

FABHERANEIGEE

KRB HEEABGEEESRBREHNAR
A SRR 2 F51842,563,000/5 7T (2012
15,623,000/ 7T) °

iz 2
BEETEHREHZE2013F12831H 1
FEATMEE (20124 « ) -

BREE

(a) BEREXESIE
ERERNEBEEDIRERARGDEESE A
JE 1k 5 4861,332,000/% jT (20124
113,405,000 ) * AR FANE 1T
T E A% 2 D AE 19 #013,142,713,0004%
(20124 : 12,230,404,0000% ) & 3@ M 5t
& o

(b) WBRHEEBE
BREEBEEIREANRFES ARG
EREFADBTRN ZNEFHE (5
ERLERE CRABRAREILEE
TABREREREY R 2 EEEEE B
BIELARR)FE -

AR 2 RAT O AR - PRI
THRBRER (NER) HRMEEE 2
BREABEBRRESYE -

FEHERIERER QAT ¢ 2013 £
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING 15. DI/ S

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has two (2012: two) reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each business
offers different products and services and requires different
business strategies. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Oil and gas exploitation:  Exploitation and sale of crude oil
and natural gas
Coalbed methane: Exploration, development and
production of coalbed

methane

There are no sales or trading transactions between the
business segments. Corporate revenue and expenses are
not allocated to the operating segments as they are not
included in the measurement of the segments’ results used
by the chief operating decision-maker in the assessment of
segment performance.

Annual Report 2013 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited
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HEREE MR R o MEBEHLLEDE -

ANE @A W E (20124 : W1E) 7] Hs
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Business segments

Notes to the Financial Statements

19 5% % % VA

Segment information about these businesses is set out as

follows:

15. D EPIRE (E)
(a) ¥EBoHEB
BRRSEBHBERATMOT

For the year ended 31 December 2013 H E20135F12A31HILEE
Oil and gas Coalbed
exploitation methane Unallocated Total
ekl
XARFR RER KAE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FERT TERT FTER
Results EF
Revenue from external customers R BIINREPE 2 WA 21,598 - - 21,598
Segment results (note (i)&i)) o4 (MR R (i) (10,075) 15,057 (62,614) (57,632)
Finance costs & AR (25) - - (25)
Share of loss of an associate i —RE 2 N RER - (623) - (623)
Share of loss of a joint venture BiE—REELEEBE (232) - - (232)
(Loss)/profit before income BRFT1SH S AT
tax expense (E#) /& H (10,332) 14,434 (62,614) (58,512)
Income tax expense FrERi (2,820) - - (2,820)
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE(BB) &7 (13,152) 14,434 (62,614) (61,332)
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Reportable segment assets AmEDHEE
(note (iii)) (B & (i) 475,176 3,787,872 12,351 4,275,399
Reportable segment liabilities RESHEE 28,992 648,609 150,561 828,162
Other segment information Hih s EpEst
Depreciation and amortisation mEREH 2,222 1,752 365 4,339
Capital expenditure incurred FREECEARTH
during the year 1,375 295,550 66 296,991
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 15. S EpER & (&)
(a) Business segments (Continued) (a) EFBHE(E)
Segment information about these businesses is set out as follows: FAZEXEB 2O ERFHINMT ¢
For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE2012F12A31B L EE
Oil and gas Coalbed
exploitation methane  Unallocated Total
Bom A
AARRRAR HER Fvali mEt
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET
Results £
Revenue from external customers K BEINREF 2 A 28,932 - - 28,932
Segment results (notes (i)&(ii)) o 5P 48 (W EEG) B i) (9,423) (8,983) (37,478) (55,884)
Finance costs BEKAE (116) - - (116)
Impairment loss on property, mE BERLEZ
plant and equipment WEEE (41,108) - - (41,108)
Impairment loss on goodwill MRz REEE (4,230) - - (4,230)
Impairment loss on intangible assets & EE 2 R EEIE (23,924) - - (23,924)
Share of profit of an associate JE1E — K Bt A Bl A - 1 - 1
Share of loss of a joint venture BE—RAEELEEBE (1,505) - - (1,505)
Loss before income tax credit B PSR AER AT B 48 (80,301) (8,982) (37,478) (126,761)
Income tax credit P S B AR R 13,356 - - 13,356
Loss for the year AEEER (66,945) (8,982) (37,478) (113,405)
Assets and liabilities BEREHE
Reportable segment assets AmEDHERE
(note (iii)) (B = ii)) 469,933 3,460,214 5,826 3,935,973
Reportable segment liabilities AREDHAE 34,191 827,043 51,565 912,799
Other segment information Hiv &
Depreciation and amortisation e N 4,092 1,709 556 6,357
Capital expenditure incurred FREEZEAZH
during the year 4,023 257,546 10 261,579
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Notes to the Financial Statements

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 15.

(a) Business segments (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Unallocated results mainly include salaries, rental expense
and professional fees for Hong Kong head office and loss on

extinguishment of financial liabilities.

(if) Included in the segment result of coalbed methane segment
is revenue of HK$38,899,000 (2012: HK$9,110,000) from the
trial sales of coalbed methane generated from the Sanjiao
PSC for the year 2013.

(i)  Unallocated assets mainly include cash and cash equivalents.

(b) Geographical information and major
customers

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s

revenue from an external customer and non-current assets

other than deposits paid, interest in a joint venture and

interest in an associate (“specified non-current assets”).

19 5% % % VA

SEHBE (&)
(a) EBSE (&)
GEX

() KOERXBETXEEEIELE He X
ERSEEAMERERAXREHS R
BEELEZEE-

(i) 2013FHEBRAOMZHBREBRRE
38,899,000/ 7T (20124 : 9,110,000
AL KAR=XEMDKARZKE
RAHERA

i) FPEAELEERLARLEEY -
(b) HEEHREEEFR

TERBRAKERBINATF Z WA KB
ENEE R-REEERZEDEERN

—RKBERRZEANIINZERDEE
(THEEERBEE]) EFTHHMN -

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
KEMREFZBA EEERHEE

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHT FET FH#T FET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (FT1EH) - - 1,594 988
The PRC a3 21,598 28,932 4,079,185 3,731,651
21,598 28,932 4,080,779 3,732,639

During the year, revenues from the Group’s sole customer
were HK$21,598,000 (2012: HK$28,932,000), being 100%
(2012: 100%) of the Group’s total revenue from the oil and
gas exploitation segment.

B

FR REAEERE—FTPZERAAL
21,598,000/ 7T (20124 : 28,932,000
BL) hRAEBAMMRKARARS
B ZR 4B EE 2 100% (20124F + 100%) °

RERER QT » 2013 F
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y1% - BERERE
The Group AEH
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Construction  Oiland gas  and office Motor
improvements inprogress  properties  equipment vehicles Total
R
HE BERER

hEkE  ERIR  MRAE  BOZRR RE gt
HKB000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKE'000  HK$'00
TEL TERL TEL TEL T TAL

(note (i)

(B ()
Costs: B
At 1 January 2012 201261718 3,787 18,942 255,718 3,567 8,466 290,025
Additions WE - 3,988 - 173 2,006 6,167
Transfer g% - - 34 (34) - -
Written off i - - - ) (377) (378)
Exchange adjustments ERA% 3% 225 2,487 3 65 2,844
At 31 December 2012 H2012%12A31H 3,773 22,795 268,234 3,736 10,160 298,658
Additions HE - - - 396 1,305 1,701
Disposal/Wrtten off &/ - (119) - - (139) (258)
Exchange adjustments EiA% 111 673 7,660 9 211 8,754
At 31 December 2013 R2013E12A31H 3,884 23,309 265,894 4231 11,6537 308,855
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% « RERRE (&)
(Continued)
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Construction ~ Oil and gas  and office Motor
improvements in progress  properties  equipment vehicles Total
3
HE BERER
hgRE ERIR HREE  BOERR RE it
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS' 000
AL AL AL TAL T TAL
(note (i)
GE0)
Accumulated depreciation and RHAERRE:
impairment:
At 1 January 2012 201261418 354 - 18,104 848 3,248 22,554
Charge for the year note 8(c)) ERT L (FEs() 667 - 179 631 1,867 4,960
Transfer 8% - - 3 B - -
Written back on disposal HERRE - - - - 48) 48)
Impairment loss (note 7) (note (i) ERE () (&) - - 41,103 - - 41,103
Exchange adjustments EiA% 11 - 1% 10 25 242
At 31 December 2012 H2012%12A31H 032 - 61,201 1,486 5,092 68,811
Charge for the year note 8(c)) ERT I (H3E8(0) 649 - 977 285 1,605 3516
Disposal/written off L&/ - - - - 132 (132
Exchange adjustments BiAE 4 - 1829 3 87 1,090
At 31 December 2013 R20135F12A31F 1,722 - 64,007 1,804 6,652 74,185
Carrying amount: REE:
At 31 December 2013 #2013%E12A31H 2,162 23,309 201,887 2,427 4,885 234,670
At 31 December 2012 Ro012%12318 2741 275 197,083 2,250 5068 229847
Notes: B 3E -
(i) It represents oil and gas properties under construction as at () EERXABREHELERFZEEBR
the end of the reporting period. BE -

(i

During the year ended 31 December 2012, as a result
of the delay in the implementation of the development
plans of the Liuluoyu Qil Field and Yanjiawan Qil Field, the
recoverable amount of each of the cash generating unit of
Liuluoyu Oil Field and Yanjiawan Oil Field, as determined
by an independent professional firm of valuers using the
value in use approach was less than the respective carrying
amount. Accordingly, impairment losses of HK$26,160,000
and HK$14,943,000 on the oil and gas properties and
HK$21,972,000 and HK$1,952,000 on the operation rights
(Note 18) of Liuluoyu Oil Field and Yanjiawan Oil Field
respectively, and HK$4,230,000 on goodwill (Note 19) of
Liuluoyu QOil Field were recognised. The discount rate used in
the value in use calculations at 31 December 2012 was 18%.

(i)

HZE2012F12A31BIEFE RN ' A
PAMN WA R B K B 2 0m B 2 A
EIMERTEE UK - RBILEEM
BRARINFEREMBEZEETE W& IRH
HEREREhHZSHESEELESENZ
AREeEERESBECERE B
I DRI R R B XK E B HE b
REEZRERBED R A26,160,000
78 7T 514,943,000/ 7+ B B 52 M &k
meEE (WE18) ZmEBEE A
21,972,000 7t }1,952,000% JT & #l
BIRHEEE (WF19) 2 REEEA
4,230,000/ 7T ¥ E T R ° 72012412
RB1BFtEEREEMBZIMREA
18% °
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17. GAS EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION

17. RARMRERRFEHEE

ASSETS
The Group FEH
HK$’ 000
FHET
Cost: R :
At 1 January 2012 R2012%F1 A1H 3,007,374
Additions* = 223,674
Interest capitalised (note 8(a)) B ARH B (M 7E8(a)) 31,738
Exchange adjustments M 38 & 10,148
At 31 December 2012 201212 H31H 3,272,934
Additions* RE 168,608
Interest capitalised (note 8(a)) EARH B (M 7E8(a)) 126,682
Exchange adjustments e A 34,251
At 31 December 2013 2013412 H31H

*

The amount included an adjustment for the decrease in
provision for environmental restoration and decommissioning
costs of HK$253,000 (2012:HK$161,000) (Note 29).

The operations of Power Great Limited and its subsidiary
(“Power Great Group”) are governed by and based on the
Sanjiao PSC. Details of the Sanjiao PSC are set out in note
36.

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the major components
of gas exploration and evaluation assets were exploration
right, exploratory drilling and trenching costs. The directors
have assessed the gas exploration and evaluation assets for
impairment in accordance with the criteria under HKFRS 6
and by reference to the progress in the implementation of
the Sanjiao PSC during the year, and the valuation report
prepared by the Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent
firm of professional valuers, which possesses the relevant
professional qualifications and experience. The directors
concluded that there are no facts or circumstances which
may indicate that the carrying amount of gas exploration
and evaluation assets has exceeded the recoverable amount
as at the end of reporting period.
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* ZeHPERHEREEENELFER
B ) 7 8 8 253,000 JT (20124 -
161,000/ 7T) (Fi5F29) fEH 2 #A % -
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B g2 EX=REMAIKREROR
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R2013% K2012612831H » KARE
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. BIL & &

The Group AEE
Motor vehicle
registration Operation
license rights Total
RE
BChRE BiEE st
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TAT FAT TAET
Cost: BA
At 1 January 2012 201251 A1H 910 249,322 250,232
Exchange adjustments i 5 R - 2,429 2,429
At 31 December 2012 R2012F12A31H 910 251,751 252,661
Exchange adjustments i 5 - 7,468 7,468
At 31 December 2013 R2013%F12A31H 910 259,219 260,129
Accumulated amortisation: Rty .
At 1 January 2012 201261 H1H - 235 235
Amortisation for the year (note 8(c)) 74 [ # 85 (KT:£8(c)) - 1,397 1,397
Impairment loss (note 7) HEEE (M) - 23,924 23,924
Exchange adjustments bE 5 2 - 17 17
At 31 December 2012 2012912 A31H - 25,573 25,5783
Amortisation for the year (note 8(c)) 74 /& # 85 (KT :£8(c)) - 823 823
Exchange adjustments B i, o B - 773 7783
At 31 December 2013 R2013%F12A31H - 27,169 27,169
Carrying amount: ARE(E :
At 31 December 2013 2013%F12 A31H 910 232,050 232,960
At 31 December 2012 R2012%12831R 910 226,178 227,088

FEHERIERER QAT ¢ 2013 £
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 18. BIL & E (8)

" I |

Operation rights

The Group’s operation rights represent the rights under
three (2012: three) development contracts which give the
Group the rights to participate in the production of crude oil
with details as follows:

EEE
REBEEERETI =1 (20126 : =)
REEGRAZERN ErAEEEESH
FUREE - F#BMT

Qil fields Location Expiry date
M WEs FHB

1. Liuluoyu Qil Field Shaanxi Province, the PRC 2023
W% I S F hEIBRFA

2. Yanjiawan Qil Field Shaanxi Province, the PRC 2023
5 & i B hEREE

3. Jinzhuang QOil Field Shaanxi Province, the PRC 2025
alaabicil=s PEIRAE

The operation rights are initially recognised at their fair value
on the date of acquisition by reference to a professional
valuation prepared by Asset Appraisal Limited. Subsequent
to the reporting period, the operation rights are measured
using the cost model.

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of the
operation rights using the units of production method based
on the amount of proven and probable oil and gas reserves.
Amortisation is charged to “direct costs” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, impairment
losses on the operation rights of Liuluoyu QOil Field and
Yanjiawan Oil Field were recognised since the recoverable
amounts of the rights were estimated to be less than the
carrying amounts as set out in note 16(i). No impairment
losses are recognised during the year ended 31 December
2013.
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20.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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GOODWILL 19. &
The Group AEE
HK$’ 000
FET
At 1 January 2012 201241 18 4,230
Impairment loss (note 7) EEE (ME7) (4,230)

At 31 December 2012, 1 January 2013
and 31 December 2013

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

For the purpose of impairment test, goodwill acquired
through business combination of Liuluoyu Oil Field was
allocated to the cash generating units (“CGU”) of oil and gas
exploitation of Liuluoyu Oil Field.

Full impairment was provided on goodwill in 2012 as the
cash flow projections and budgets indicate that the value in
use of this CGU could not cover the goodwill as set out in
note 164(ii).

R2012%12A31H 20131 A 1H
K2013%F12A31H

8 Z R E A

SR ERIF N T - BBYISIEh A X
EHERZEEDEEZYEEHE A M
ERARAFZREELEM ([REE
B -

HRBESREEIRTEERVEZACE
AR zFRABELTRENE (N
FT16(iFTH) - B 20129 2 A
REERMERE -

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 20 R—REELEZHER
The Group AEE
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TFHET FET
Share of net assets DhEEFE
As at 1 January W1A1H 4,947 6,452
Share of loss for the year KEFSEER (232) (1,505)
Dividend received B B (3,500) -
As at 31 December M12A31H 1,215 4,947

The Group has a 50% (2012: 50%) interest in a joint
venture, Smart Win International Limited, a separate
structured vehicle incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI") and operating in Hong Kong. The primary activity of
Smart Win International Limited is investment holding.

REBREGECENEHBERAAE
B50% (20124F : 50%) x> BE AR
RERZBES ([RBREZES]) MK
UWHEBBEEER B IEEELE -
NERBEERARZEEZEBRIRER

st e

FEHERIERER QAT ¢ 2013 £



Notes to the Financiaf Statements
47 3% % % Y 35

20.

21.

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 20. RP—REBLFRZ2HER (&)
(Continued)
The contractual arrangement provides the Group with only ABHTHERNAERIEEHAELTHE
the rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement, with EFECEN mUaELHEE#E
the rights to the assets and obligation for the liabilities FRkBEZEBEZZERZRIETRHEER
of the joint arrangement resting primarily with Smart DA BBEB BT BEMEERE115
Win International Limited. Under HKFRS 11 this joint LT BAEAENEWFTEER
arrangement is classified as a joint venture and has been FERBEEVBERRAR -AQFESER
included in the consolidated financial statements using B ZARELENAERMSITEE -
the equity method. In the opinion of the directors of the MEBEBAAEE X HMBEERBERY WM
Company, this joint venture is not material to the Group, N
and the summarised financial information in relation to the
joint venture is presented below:
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET FHET
Loss for the year REEEE (464) (3,010)
Other comprehensive income Hih2mE K - -
Total comprehensive income BemEmlE (464) (3,010)
INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 21. P—REEBATIZES
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The Group F&EE

2013 2012

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHET FHET

As at 1 January Mm1A1H 63,354 -

Investment in December 2012 R20126F12 A 218 & - 63,353

Share of post-acquisition (loss)/profit 21 W B 1% (E518) /% 7 (623) 1

As at 31 December M12H31H 62,731 63,354
N
)
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21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Details of the Group’s associate are as follows:

Form of business Place of
Name of company structure incorporation
AT EH EBRERR aE AR R ST 3 2

29 3% %o % U 4%

21. R—KBE QS 2= ()
BRAREBE AT FERIMT -

Percentage of ordinary
shares indirectly held Principal activity

EEsrEERES I IREH

LWEBRARERREER A Sino-foreign equity joint venture The PRC

FHRBLE hE

On 24 December 2012 (“Date of Acquisition”), the Group
acquired a 30% equity interest of IUFAEREERMAEE
Raa (“lLFBIZ”) by acquiring a 100% equity interest
of Superb China Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary
Pipeline International Limited (collectively “Superb Group”)
for a consideration of RMB30,000,000 (equivalents to
HK$37,230,000). The directors of the Company consider
that the Company has a significant influence over [LI75E
2 and accounted for the equity interest in LLUFAEIZ as an
associate. Subsequent to the acquisition and before 31
December 2012, shareholders of UFABIZ injected capital
of RMB70,000,000 into IFAEIZ of which HK$26,100,000
(equivalents to RMB21,000,000) was contributed by the
Group.

30% Development and

operation of a liquefied
natural gas plant
(“LNG plant”)
in the PRC to produce
liquefied coalbed
methane

RABBEREERER
ARREL  UEERICE
ES

M2012F12 4248 ([WEER]) - A& H
FRRNEFEERARTREZ2EWER
ABEBRERAERAR (ABIFEEE])
100% M At MEIDSILAEREE
FAZEARAR (WWABRZ]) 230%
R Az R {E AR AR¥30,000,000
7t (#8% 737,230,000% 7T) ° KA Q A
EERRARAHLABERZABEERX
a7 Al RILARZR 2 RAEZ
FEREHE & R RIAER - RIEESEAL 1% -
20125 12A31H AT - WABE R 2 KE
AAWLTEEZE KR ARK70,000,000
7L E 26,100,000 7T (HBER AR
21,000,0007T) TR AEBE L& -

FERRZERAERADA ¢ 2013 F 3]
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21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, this

associate is not material to the Group, and the financial

information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out

21. R—RKEEBATZ2HEE (8)
AATNEERE ZHEATNHAEE
MELTEA MABAEEEL AT
CHBERBE2HIMT

below:

2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THERT FHT
(Loss)/profit for the year 2013/ BE2013F L FE
period from date of acquisition B U hE B EAE
to 31 December 2012 F£2012%12A31H 1
Bz (BB) & T (2,063) 3
Other comprehensive income HE2013F LFE
for the year 2013/period AUEE R H e
from date of acquisition F£2012%F12A31H 1F
to 31 December 2012 Rz A b2 ml s
(13) -
Total comprehensive income HZE2013F Lt FE
for the year 2013/period B Y HE A HR e
from date of acquisition Z£2012%F12H318 1t
to 31 December 2012 HEzB2E =
(2,076) 3
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22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

29 3% %o % U 4%

22. B ASI 2=

The Company AAT
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FET
Unlisted equity investments, at cost ~ 3F F AR E - KA 2,529,920 2,529,920
Less: impairment loss (note 22(b)) B RVEE1E (M 5E22(b)) (81,143) (81,143)
2,448,777 2,448,777

Amounts due from subsidiaries JE YR BT B~ A5k IE (B 3E22(c))

(note 22(c)) 1,082,983 607,411
3,531,760 3,056,188

(@) Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2013 are listed below. The class of shares held is
ordinary unless stated otherwise.

(a) H2013F12A31B X EHE X A
ZHBUOT -BARBHBEEIN AT
RO BEN LR -

Proportion of ownership interest

fHEEM
Place of Group’s
incorporation/ Particulars of issued effective Held bythe Heldbya
Name of the Company Notes  operation and paid up capital holding  Company subsidiary  Principal activities
AL/ 3 L) BE  H-RM
ARER i EERH ERTRARRAHE ERRRE ATRE EAIRR  IERE
Wiseley Investments Limited the BVI 100 orclinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
BHRERRAA AERREE 100RERERT0XT, ERR RERR
Easy Sino Investments Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00 each 100% 100% - Provision of administrative
services to group companies
SERERRAT Bt 1RBREH! 08T Bk nEEARREAERE
Chuang Xin Management Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each 100% 100% - Provision of management
Services Limited senices to group companies
ANERRBARAA B JREREET AT EBR AEERARMERRE
Genesis International Petroleum & the BV 100 ordinary shares of USS1.00 each 70% 70% - Inactive
Chemicals Co., Ltd. (“GIPC")
HRERDALIRRAD EERNES 100 RAE! 0% Bk gELx
(TEl3ER )
Elite Ascend Holaings Limited the BVI 690 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
RERRARAT EERNES B0REREE! 0F T EBR REER

FEHERIERER QAT ¢ 2013 £
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22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. RMIBAT 2= ()
(Continued)
(a) (Continued) (a) (#&)
Proportion of ownership interest
BHEEM
Place of Group's
incorporation/ Particulars of issued effective Heldbythe Heldbya
Name of the Company Notes  operation and paid up capital holding  Company subsidiary  Principal activities
it/ 3 L) B H-ZM
kL i e ERTRYRRAHE ERRRE AFRE EAIRE  1ERR
Grand Rise Development Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$1,00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
FEERARLA (3 100REREE100ET 2 B8R RARR
Key Wisdom Investments Limited the BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
BRRERRAT AERABS 100REHREET KT EBR RERR
Power Great Limited the Cayman Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
HEERAT EEEE 1RERERE0ET EAR RERR
Superb China Limited i) theBVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
FERRAT il ZERRES 100REREE100ET ZAR RELR
Key Well Development Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HEXRARAT A 100G REE1 00472 S8R REER
Bi Tuo Yuan Technology i) thePRC Registered capital RMB500,000 100% - 100%  Participation in oil and gas projects
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
BRRRR (R ARAA (/- IR AR #500,0007 SEBRER
Qrion Energy International Inc. the Cayman Islands 100,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.001 each  100% - 100%  Exploration, development and
production of coalbed methane
RRRHRARERAR AEkS 100,000,000 5 R E H0.0015% 7.2 Bk BE RENEERER
Xian Hong Chang Co,. Lid () thePRC Registered capital RMB51,706,600 100% - 100%  Participation in oil and gas projects
BREERRRERBERAR ([ R A AR %51,706,6007 SEBRER
Trillon Intermational Petroleum Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Extraction Technology Ltd (“Trilion")
HEERRRRREEERAR 3 1REREE 0BT EBR RERR
i)
Xian Lilong Petroleum Extraction i) thePRC Registered capital HK$50,000,000 100% - 100%  Participation in oil and gas projects
Technology Limited (“Xian Lilong")
BRHBRRRRENERAR (/-1 R %50,000,00087 SEBRER
([EZHE])
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22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

19 5% % % VA

22 RMIBASIZHEZE ()

(@) (Continued) (a) (&)
Proportion of ownership interest
HEREMM

Place of Group’s

incorporation/ Particulars of issued effective Heldbythe Heldbya
Name of the Company Notes  operation and paid up capital holding  Company subsidiary ~ Principal activities

R/ L 1] BE  B-%N
ARER I EEYE ERTRARRAHE ERnRE LGFRE BATRE  IERE
Pipeling International Limited i) Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1,00 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
ARERERART (/- 1REREE1 008 EBR RERR
Notes: BEE -

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned

foreign enterprise

(if) Acquired in 2012

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

(b) Impairment on investments in subsidiaries
There were no movements in the provision for impairment
loss during the year. The impairment loss on investments in
subsidiaries was made by the directors by reference to the
net assets of the subsidiaries and their ability to generate
sufficient future economic benefits as evident by the internal
reporting of their economic performance.

(c) Amounts due from subsidiaries
An analysis of the amounts due from subsidiaries is listed

() RETEEEELRINEBELE

(i)  F2012F Rk EE

RER BENEB QR BTEAEERE

o

3k

(b) MMBABZIREARE
RAFEEAR REBERBLEZS) -
RMBARZREREERITAESRZ
ZWBERARAZEEFEREEETRER
AL M g5z 88 1 (VAKS B & =) /A B e
HEZRBRBARR) ML

(c) FEWHI B SRIE
RN B AR FUEZ AW T :

below:
The Company
AAT

2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET FET
Due from subsidiaries JE UK B A Rl IE 1,474,366 976,754
Less: impairment loss B OREEE (391,383) (369,343)
1,082,983 607,411

FPEERERBERAF » 2013 F 3R
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22,

23.

24.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

(c) Amounts due from subsidiaries (Continued)
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and in substance represent the Company’s investments
in the subsidiaries.

The movements in the provision for impairment loss during
the year were as follows:

22. RMBAB z#Em (8)

(c) FEWPHEBABIRIA (&)
ERMB AR REBEAEER 28 &
BEEARARMBRAREL ZRE -

FAREBRREBZESHT :

The Company

. /NS
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
F#ET FHT
At 1 January M A1H 369,343 286,367
Additional provision BE AN B 22,040 82,976
At 31 December MW12A318 391,383 369,343

Impairment loss on amounts due from subsidiaries are
made by the directors by reference to the net assets of the
subsidiaries, ability to generate sufficient future economic
benefits and evidence from internal reporting that indicate
the economic performance of the subsidiaries.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The non-controlling interests of GIPC which is 70% owned
by the Group is considered to be immaterial.

U E AR RIRZMEBEIRES
2EMBRARCEEFE ELERSK
KA E N 25 2 B 1 R BURH B~ Bl 2 48
BRI AMBMEBEMAEL o

23. FEiEfRHEL
REEBEATORMER 7 BIFTER Y I
BAERWEBLTEA

INVENTORIES 24. B8
The Group *EH
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FET
Spare parts, consumables and others #1F « &+ M H i 21,349 3,924
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25. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS

23 3% % % 9%

25. FEUWCERRX - B EEHE - H b fE
WERR & RFEMNRIE

The Group The Company
AEH AAT
2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHEL FHET FHERT FHET
Non-current asset FERBEE
Deposits and prepayments e RIEMNRIE
(notes (i) & (ii)) (B =) B (i) 20,402 12,423 - -
Current assets MENEE
Trade receivables JE W BR 3R 5,046 10,471 = -
Notes receivable (note (i) W= 18 (BT 5Z (i) - 2,488 - -
Other receivables E e U BR 3R 61,387 23,469 373 944
66,433 36,428 373 944
Utility deposits KEIZRE 502 1,404 - -
Other deposits Hibhize Rk
and prepayments TEIRIR 7,294 4,556 201 199
7,796 5,960 201 199
74,229 42,388 574 1,143
Notes: B 5T

(i) The balance includes a guarantee deposit of HK$9,728,000
(2012: HK$9,653,000) paid to secure the Group’s borrowings

as set out in note 30(ii).

(i) Prepayments include prepaid exploration costs of
HK$10,674,000 (2012: HK$2,770,000) on the Group’s gas
evaluation and exploration assets and exploration assets.

(i) As at 31 December 2012, a notes receivable of HK$1,244,000
was pledged to secure a bank loan (note 30(jii)).

(i

(ii)

B R R

B TR B 3E A B 30 A R IE R A &=
BRZIRFESR 8 859,728,000/8
7 (20124 : 9,653,000/ 7T) °

BENREREEAEBRXARZDER
STl & B 2 TR BV R A A8 10,674,0007%
7t (20124 : 2,770,000/ 7T ) °

MR2012F12A31H  E K=&

1,244,000/ T ML LS RITE R
(P E30ii)) °

BAERAD T » 2013 &F ;|
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25. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER 25. FEUWRBRTX - FEWEEHE - HibFE

RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
date at the end of reporting period is as follows:

Wbk « =& R TARRIA (8)

JRE W BR R R o B A R B 2 BRER D AT
LI

The Group
FEME

2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
F#ERT FAT
< 30 days LH30K 5,046 2,484
31 - 60 days 31E60X - 534
61 — 90 days 61E90X - 7,453
5,046 10,471

The average credit period granted to customers is 0-30
days from the invoice date.

All trade receivables are less than 90 days past due,
not impaired and related to one customer which has a
good track record with the Company. Based on the past
experience, management estimated that the carrying
amount will be fully recovered.

The Group recognised impairment loss on individual

assessment based on the accounting policy stated in note

4(j)(ii).
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27.
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PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS 26. CHEBIRITER
The Group
xEH
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHET
Bank deposits pledged against AEE FRTE K (730 (i)
certain bank loans (note 30 (iii)) FEARES (HE41)
and performance bonds (note 41) R Z RITFR 7,832 7,954

Pledged bank deposits are denominated in United States
dollars (“USD”) and Renminbi (“RMB”), earn interest at
fixed rate ranged from 0.025% to 1.2% (2012: from 0.48%
to 3.3%) per annum and have a maturity period of five

BEFRITERUETRAREE
I N H0.025%F1.2% (20124F : MR
0.48%%3.3%) 2 [E & F I = BREUVA &, -
FHAAMBMARBH -EFERAE ANRZ

months on average. The directors consider that the carrying EZRTEREEHER AHFEEZE
amounts of these bank deposits approximate their fair EEEEATEBES -
values because of their short maturity period on inception.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27. HERINEZEY
The Group The Company
£ 1 £
2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FERT FHET THERT FHET
Cash and bank balances, AP BB
denominated in e RIRTTA &4
~ HKD and USD —BITRET 8,932 1,976 311 61
- RMB —AR¥ 8,588 69,122 - -
- Others — HAh 16 16 - -
17,536 71,114 311 61

Cash and cash equivalents of HK$8,588,000 (equivalent
to RMB6,682,000) (2012: HK$69,122,000 (equivalent to
RMB55,569,000) were denominated in Renminbi. Renminbi
is not a freely convertible currency and the remittance of
funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restriction
imposed by the PRC Government.

8,588,000/% 7t (85 M A K #6,682,000
Jt) (20124 : 69,122,000/ 7Tt (HHE %
AR #55,569,0007L)) v He kA& F
BOUARBHE - ARBTIFEERA
BREE RPBEELESAZHBRBGT
Z INEE B I BT HR PR o
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

28. HithEMRIER AR E R

The Group The Company
EE AAT
2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THERT FET FERT FET
Current liabilities mENBE
Consideration payable (note (i)) e ARAE (KT EEG) - 13,402 - 12,400
Other payables and accruals Hip A RER
(note (ii)) Tt B /B (K i) 184,213 392,448 2,218 1,914
Amounts due to shareholders JE B SR BUR
(note (iii)) (P &) 15,355 36,711 - 32,979
199,568 442,561 2,218 47,293
Notes: B 5

(i

(i)

As at 31 December 2012, HK$1,002,000 represented the
remaining consideration for the acquisition of subsidiaries
in 2011 and HK$12,400,000 represented the oustanding
consideration for the acquisition of the associate (note 21) in
2012. Both amounts were fully settled during the year ended
31 December 2013.

Other payables include exploration costs payable of
approximately HK$149,955,000 (2012: HK$341,383,000) in
respect of gas exploration and evaluation assets and oil and

gas properties.

Amounts due to shareholders included a loan denominated in
Renminbi of HK$3,842,000 (2012: HK$3,732,000) from one
of the directors. The loan is unsecured, bearing interest at 8%
per annum and was settled in January 2014. Another loan
from a shareholder amounted to HK$7,500,000 is guaranteed
by two of the directors of the Company, unsecured, bearing
interest at 8% per annum and was settled in February 2014.
The remaining balance is a loan from a director which is

unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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PROVISIONS 29. ##{E
The Group
xEH
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET FHET
Balance at 1 January P A1H Z &% 971 1,132
Provision for environmental REBERELERAEZ
restoration and decommissioning B
costs (253) (161)
Exchange adjustments BE H, 38 B 29 -
Balance at 31 December M12A318 2 &4k 747 971

The provision for environmental restoration and

decommissioning costs for 2013 and 2012 represented

directors’ estimated assets retirement obligations relating to

the Sanjiao PSC as set out in Note 36.

2013F M2012F IRIBIEERFIEFERE
JRBREERE-XEROKER (FRAK
) B ERHITEEEEWE -

BORROWINGS - SECURED 30. EE—HIKMW
The Group
XEE
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHET
Secured interest-bearing borrowings A I B E &
On demand or within one year BER—FAEE 145,932 92,834
More than one year, but not il —F ENHBAMRSE
exceeding two years 128,080 132,398
More than two years, but not BBEME  BETNBAEF
exceeding five years 208,130 236,341
482,142 461,573
Amount due within one year HARBEBE—FNR
included in current liabilities Eallpt o - (145,932) (92,834)
Non-current portion ERBI D 336,210 368,739

FEHERIERER QAT ¢ 2013 £
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30. BORROWINGS - SECURED (Continued)
As at 31 December 2013, the Group obtained borrowings

from two (2012: three) parties as follows:

(i

On 19 September 2011, Orion Energy International
Inc. (“OEl”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group, entered into a financing agreement
(“Agreement 1”) with Minsheng Financial Leasing
Co., Lid (REe@EERKBRAA) (“Minsheng”),
an independent third party, pursuant to which
Minsheng advanced RMB50,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$61,596,000) under certain conditions to
OEl to be repaid by instalment over three years.
In the opinion of the directors, the financing
arrangement is in substance a secured borrowing.
This borrowing is secured by certain gas exploration
and evaluation assets of OEl with a carrying amount
of HK$60,108,000 (2012: HK$58,376,000) (note
17) and personal guarantees from the Company’s
shareholders, Dr. Dai Xiaobing and Mr. King Hap Lee
who are also directors of the Company.

On 23 December 2011, OEl entered into another
financing agreement (“Agreement 2”) with CDB Leasing
Co., Ltd (FliR&mHEERRAF]) (“CDB Leasing”),
an independent third party, pursuant to which CDB
Leasing granted a facility of RMB1,000,000,000 to OEl
to be repaid by instalment over five years, of which
RMB200,000,000 was to finance the exploration
phase and RMB800,000,000 to be drawn after
obtaining the approval of the ODP in respect of the
Sanjiao PSC. In 2012, a revised agreement was signed
between OEI and CDB Leasing, pursuant to which
OEl can draw loans to the extent of RMB400,000,000
and RMB600,000,000 during exploration phase and
development phase of the Sanjiao PSC respectively.
As at 31 December 2013, loans due to CDB Leasing,
net of repayment, amounted to RMB350,000,000
(equivalent to HK$448,280,000) (2012:
RMB320,000,000 (equivalent to HK$398,048,000)).
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30. BORROWINGS - SECURED (Continued)

(i

(i)

(Continued)

The facility is secured by certain gas exploration
and evaluation assets with a carrying amount of
HK$615,917,000 (2012: HK$598,173,000) (note
17), a guarantee deposit of HK$9,728,000 (2012:
HK$9,653,000) (note 25 (i), all accounts receivable
from sales generated from the Sanjiao PSC, all the
shares of OEl held by Power Great Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, 2,296,000,000
shares of the Company held by certain directors and
shareholders of the Company, personal guarantees
of Dr. Dai Xiaobing and his spouse and a corporate
guarantee by the Company.

In the opinion of the directors, the financing
arrangement is in substance a secured borrowing. As
explained in note 36(i), the Group received a consent
on the preliminary work on the development of the
Sanjiao PSC from NEA in August 2012. The directors
anticipate that the ODP will be approved by NEA in
2014.

During 2012, the Group entered into a loan agreement
(“Agreement 3”) with Bank of Beijing for loan facilities
of RMB1,069,000 (equivalent to HK$1,330,000)
which were secured by a note receivable amounting
to HK$1,244,000 (note 25 (iii)) and charges over
bank deposits amounting to HK$124,000 (note 26).
As at 31 December 2012, two loans in the total of
RMB1,069,000 (equivalent to HK$1,330,000) were
drawn. During the year ended 31 December 2013, the
loans were fully repaid.

The borrowings under Agreement 1, Agreement 2 and

Agreement 3 carry interest at effective floating rates ranging
from 8.9% to 11.7% (2012: 5.6% to 11.7%) during the year.
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30. EE—FHRF (&)

W)

(i)

(&)
ZRECEARAREREEREE
£615,917,000/ jT (2012 :
598,173,0008 L) 2 A T X
ARBERIHEE (K
17) + 9,728,000 jr (20124 -
9,653,000 7T) 2 IERIE® (M 5%
25 (i)  =EREGAKERELEZ
FTAHERKER - BEEARAA
(RRARIZ2EMBARDHFEZAT
BERGEZRG -  AEUEERAR
AR EIF A 2 A2 F]2,296,000,000
R - BN RS REBRBIIRME
ZEAER  ARKRRREZR
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EERA ULRMERHEAR L
BRAEEBREEZ — - RO E
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31. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 31. ORI ERE

The convertible notes recognised in the statement of
financial position are calculated as follows:

RE BRI R ERZ AT RKREERAEWN
T

Liability Equity
component component
BEHS RN
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET
At 1 January 2013 #2013%F1 A1H - -
Face value of convertible notes R2013F4 H26H #1710
issued on 26 April 2013 Fri&a%ik 2 TR RIBEE
after 4% discount 231,510 32,490
Transaction costs on issue BT 2R G (8,432) (1,194)
Conversion of convertible notes IR TR EE (109,617) (15,383)
Amortisation of transaction R G WA 2 38 (K 5E8(a))
costs (note 8(a)) 1,874 -
Imputed interest expense (note 8(a)) &R A8 i (Ff3£8(a)) 21,775 -
Interest paid BB (2,190) -
At 31 December 2013 20183512 H31H 134,920 15,913

The Company issued convertible notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$275,000,000 with a 4% discount
and a 2% coupon rate on 26 April 2013. The convertible
notes were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and will
mature in three years from the issue date. The notes can be
converted to ordinary shares of the Company at the holder’s
option at the rate of HK$0.167 per share.

The fair values of the liability component and the equity
conversion component were determined at the date of
issue of the convertible notes. The fair value of the liability
component, included as non-current financial liabilities, was
calculated using the market interest rate for an equivalent
non-convertible notes. The residual amount, representing
the value of the equity conversion component, was included
in equity, net of deferred income taxes, where applicable.

Imputed interest expense on the convertible notes was

charged at the rate of 18.67% calculated using the effective
interest method.
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ARRQ R F2013F4 A26 H A4%3T iR 31T
AN 4 %8 £275,000,0008 T EEZ B K A
2% 2 AR ERE - ATMREBRLUB TR
B - BETHAHEA=FAEH Z8E
AEREFEAZERIUNSTR167E T
ZEREBRAERNRABZEBRRKRE -

8 EHH RESWRES 2 RFETIR
ROTAMEE - AEBH 2 ATEER
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AMEREZ ERENE X IRERF
M %18.67%(E A EFRF EAFE -



32. DEFERRED TAX

Notes to the

32.

Details of the deferred tax assets and (liabilities) recognised
and movements during the year were as follows:

Financial Statements

19 5% % % VA

BIEBLIA
FRNERZBEERBEER (ARE) 27
BRESHMT -

Accelerated Intangible Tax

tax depreciation assets losses Total

IEHIE
E HEREE HIEBE st
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FAET FAET FET
At 1 January 2012 M2012F1 A1H (20,113) (12,628) 14,067 (18,674)
Credited to profit or loss (note 9) s A4B 8 (M 5£9) 2,108 6,077 5,171 13,356
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 8 #& (172) (54) 195 (31)
At 31 December 2012 M2012912 /3318 (18,177) (6,605) 19,433 (5,349)

(Charged)/credited to (HBR) FTA

profit or loss (note 9) Bk (M59) (6,713) 65 3,828 (2,820)
Exchange adjustments bE 5 2 (644) (195) 637 (202)
At 31 December 2013 M2013F12A31H (25,534) (6,735) 23,898 (8,371)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off when the deferred tax
related to same fiscal authority. The following net amounts
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

ERERBEEENABRABERARHH
TTHE N 85 A BB A TR IR A [R) — B 75
BT HeEhEE -UTREREY
BARRARBREHREET S RFE -

The Group
XEEH

2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIE B G (32,269) (24,782)
Deferred tax assets EAERIBEE 23,898 19,433
(8,371) (5,349)

FPEERERBERAF » 2013 F 3R
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33. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 33. EERAEF

(@) The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, both
the employer and each employee are required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$25,000 (2012: HK$25,000) by each
party. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

(b)  Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby
the Group is required to make contributions to the
Schemes at a rate ranging from 21% to 30% (2012:
18% to 22%) of the eligible employees’ salaries.
The local government authorities are responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees. The obligations are calculated based on a
certain percentage of the basic payroll.

34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company operates a share option scheme which
was adopted on 28 May 2010 (“scheme”) for a period of
ten years commencing from 28 May 2010 whereby the
directors of the Company are authorised, at their discretion,
to invite employees of the Group, including directors of any
companies within the Group, to take up options to subscribe
for shares of the Company. The terms and conditions of the
grant are determined by the Board at the time of grant. The
exercisable period of an option is not to exceed a period
of ten years commencing the date the share options be
granted. The options give the holder the right to subscribe
for ordinary shares in the Company. A nominal consideration
of HK$1 is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an
option. Options would be forfeited should the employee
leave the Group. All the existing share options were granted

_—under the scheme.
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) The terms and conditions of the share options that

Notes to the Financial Statements
87 3% % % Y 35

(48)

existed during the year ended 31 December 2013
were as follows and all options are settled by physical

delivery of shares:

(a)

4. REGRLURGBHMZRE S

LA A#E E2013F12A31H IEF
EEE 2 B 2GR A& - BT
ERREYSREBRIMRMDEE

Contractual Contractual
Vesting exercise  Number of life of
Date of grant condition Exercise period price options options
Bk
RHBH GEHH fTRHR BWTEE BRENE BNEY
'000
T
Options granted to directors:
RrESZRRE:
- on 6 December 2011 Immediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HK$0.276 156,000 10 years
—#2011412 68 e 2011512 A6H £20215 1250 0.276/ T 106
Option granted to employees:
RrESZERE:
- on 6 December 2011 Immediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HK$0.276 407,200 10 years
— 12011412468 ez 201151268 £2021512A5H 0.2767 T 105
Total share options
BRESY

Y
> 2Y <
N

563,200

FEHERIERER QAT ¢ 2013 £
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 4. REGREURHBARZR 5
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (88)
(b) The number and weighted exercise prices of share (b) BIEZEHB MIETEBSOT
options are as follows:
2013 2012
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise of share exercise of share
price options price options
EFEH g
TEE BERERE TEE BREZE
HK$ ’000 HK$ 000
& T4 BT )
Outstanding at beginning REFHRITHE
of the year 0.276 563,200 0.317 1,355,940
Exercised during the year FRITHE - - 0.270 (137,000)
Lapsed during the year FRKH - - 0.362 (655,740)
Outstanding at the end of the year ~ REREAKITE 0.276 563,200 0.276 563,200
Exercisable at the end RERT T
of the year 0.276

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the weighted
average share price at the date of exercise of the shares
options during the year was HK$0.270.

The options outstanding at 31 December 2013 had an
exercise price of HK$0.276 (2012: HK$0.276) and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.93 years
(2012: 8.93 years).
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35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Share capital
(i) Authorised and issued share capital

19 5% % % VA

35. EFXRHIE
(a) B=x
() ZEEREFTRA
The Company

ARAT
2013 2012
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BHEE &8 kg Ex
’000 HK$’ 000 000 HK$’ 000
T TH#ET TR FHEL
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of BREEC.01E T
HK$0.01 each 2T @ 25,000,000 250,000 25,000,000 250,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRARE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &R EE0.01/8 L2 F @R
At beginning of the year REA) 12,356,078 123,560 12,019,078 120,190
Shares issued on placing (i) BB & 1T (i) 928,000 9,280 200,000 2,000
Shares issued on conversion of A Ik EiE K
convertible notes (iii) AT IR (i) 748,503 7,485 - -
Shares issued to extinguish RN BAE
financial liabilities (iv) i 347 AR 23 (iv) 721,350 7,214 - -
Shares issued under RERE BT
share option scheme (v) B 17 (v) - - 137,000 1,370
At end of the year RER 14,753,931 147,539 12,356,078 123,560

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.

BREFEABRERTHEIR RS
VWHEARARBAEG LBERAIE-REERE -
EEBRHUARBZHBTEEZFAR

A 4l N2
= S o
Iy EDIL
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35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 35. BN GEE (8)

(@) Share capital (Continued)

(i) Shares issued on placing

During 2013, 928,000,000 (2012: 200,000,000) ordinary
shares were subscribed at HK$0.167 (2012: HK$0.15)
per share with proceeds of HK$154,976,000 (2012:
HK$30,000,000). Accordingly, the Company’s issued
share capital was increased by HK$9,280,000 (2012:
HK$2,000,000) and the balance of the proceeds, net
of direct cost incurred of HK$139,196,000 (2012:
HK$28,000,000) was credited to the share premium
account.

(iii)  Shares issued on conversion of convertible notes
During 2013, certain convertible notes were converted to
subscribe for a total of 748,503,000 ordinary shares in the
Company at a total consideration of HK$125,000,000 of
which HK$7,485,000 was transferred to share capital and
balances of HK$117,515,000 was transferred to the share
premium account from the convertible note equity reserves
respectively.

(iv)  Shares issued to extinguish financial liabilities

In November 2013, the company’s issued share capital
was increased by HK$7,214,000 through the issue of
721,350,000 shares to extinguish financial liabilities
of HK$144,270,000 as disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 November 2013. The fair value
of these shares based on the closing market price of
HK$0.235 per share on 13 December 2013, amounted
HK$169,517,000. The premium on the issue of new shares
amounted to HK$162,303,000 was credited to the share
premium account. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liabilities extinguished and the fair
value of these shares are recognised in profit or loss (note
7).
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35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(@) Share capital (Continued)

(v)  Shares issued under share option scheme

During 2012, 137,000,000 options were exercised
to subscribe for 137,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company at a consideration of HK$36,948,000 of which
HK$1,370,000 was credited to share capital and the
balance of HK$35,578,000 was credited to the share
premium account. HK$11,205,000 was transferred from
the share option reserve to the share premium account in
accordance with accounting policy set out in note 4(q).

(vi)  Lapse of vested warrants

In 2012, there were 344,000,000 and 20,000,000
outstanding unlisted warrants (the “Warrants”) issued by the
Company on 3 June 2010 and 7 June 2010 respectively,
conferring rights to subscribe for ordinary shares of the
Company at a subscription price of HK$0.22 per share
during a period of 24 months commencing from the date of
issue of the Warrants. The Warrants were unexercised and
lapsed upon the expiration of their exercise periods on 2
June 2012 and 6 June 2012 respectively.

(vii)  Outstanding warrants

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, there are 250,000,000
outstanding unlisted warrants issued by the Company on 10
November 2010 conferring rights to subscribe for ordinary
shares of the Company at a subscription price of HK$0.53
per share during the exercise period on and after 22
January 2011 and up to and including 10 November 2014.

(viij) Lapse of vested share option
In 2012, 655,740,000 share options lapsed.
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35. EX Rtk (&)

(a) K& (&)

() HEREEFTRG

20124 137,000,000 AL H#E C 1T
1 LA SR B8 AS 2 &]137,000,0000% & 38 % -
R {8 536,948,000/ T * H A1,370,000
B ILET AR AN - 2 785,578,000/% T ET
ARG EER - BREMZF4FE e
STEUER 0 11,205,000 7T 2 B B A% HE
BEBRERGGER -

(i) EEBRREE KN

20124 - A2 Al 5 Hl R201066 A3
A #12010%6 A7 8 3 17344,000,00017
#120,000,00017 & AR 17 2 IF LT RAR
eE (TRED (AR TRF e REET
HEf#EE24E A B MR R B E SRR
MO22B TTRBEARR 2 EBR) - B
201256 A2H k20126 A6H {TEH D
BIERRE - EEREITE  WERR -

(vij) KETTERE.Z RRIEZ

720134 k20124 12A31H » A A A
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35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

35. BN e (8)

(b) The Company (b) EAT
Convertible
Share Share  Contributed Share option Warrant notes equity Accumulated
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
PhEE  TRRER
R RBEE  S9RR EREGE fiff  EhRE  RER Eh)
Notes  HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HKS' 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
it TR THIL TR THIL TR TAT TR THIL
At 1 January 2012 R012E171R 120,190 3,243,866 81,043 91,069 4,890 - (5449400 299,118
Shares issued under share IR RS
option scheme & 35(a)v) 1,370 46,783 - (11,205) - - - 36,948
Shares issued on placing RRERTRG 35(a)i 2,000 28,000 - - - - - 30,000
Release upon lapse of vested BB ZERE
share option KRR 35a)vi - - - (31,844) - - 31,844 -
Release upon lapse of NEBAREE
Vested warrants v i 35la)ii - - - - (3,640) - 3,640 -
Loss and total comprehensive ~ AEEEER
income for the year FANGEE - - - - - - (52967)  (52,967)
At 31 December 2012 20125124318 123560 3,318,649 81,043 48,020 1,250 - (562,423 3,010,099
Shares issued on placing RRERTRA 35l 920 139,19 - - - - - 148478
Shares issued to extinguish ~~ AEHEKER
financial liabilties ES 35(a)() 704 162,30 - - - - - 169517
Issuance of comvertible notes ~ EAAEREE - - - - - 31,206 - 31,296
Shares issued on conversion ~ EETRRZEE
of convertiole notes il 35(a)fi 7485 117515 - - - (15,383) - 109,617
Loss and total comprehensive  AEEE R
income for the year 2ENEEE - - - - - - (73498 (73499)
At 31 December 2013 20135124318 147539 3,737,663 81,043 48,020 1,200 15,913 (635,921) 3,395,507

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue

of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.

Share premium is not distributable but may be applied in

paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to

equity holders as fully paid bonus shares or to provide the

premium on repurchase of own shares.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(i) Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus arose when the Company issues shares
in exchange for the shares of subsidiaries being acquired,
and represented the difference between the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets
of the subsidiaries acquired under the group reorganisation
in 1999 in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is
available for distribution to equity holders. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

- it is or would after the payment, be unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium account.

(i) Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted by the Company and recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments as
set in note 4(q).

(iv)  Warrant reserve
Warrant reserve represents the equity component of
warrants issued by the Company.

(v)  Convertible notes equity reserve

The reserve represents the equity component (i.e. option
to convert the notes into shares) of the convertible notes
issued by the Company.

(vi)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong which were
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 4(0).
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35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(d) Distributability reserves

At 31 December 2013, the Company had no reserves
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie.
Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Company’s
contributed surplus in the amount of HK$81,043,000 (2012:
HK$81,043,000) is currently not available for distribution.
The Company’s share premium account in the amount
of HK$3,737,663,000 as at 31 December 2013 (2012:
HK$3,318,649,000) may be distributed In the form of fully
paid bonus shares.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

36. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS

The Group currently has two production sharing
arrangements and two development contracts in respect
of the development and production and development of
coalbed mathane, crude oil and natural gas in the PRC.

()  On 28 March 2006, OEl (which the Group acquired
on 15 November 2010) entered into the Sanjiao PSC
with China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd
(“CUCMCL") (the “PRC partner”) for the exploration,
development, production and sale of the coalbed
methane and other related or derivative products that
may exist in a total exploration area of approximately
383 square kilometers subject to reduction in
accordance with the Sanjiao PSC located in the Erdos
Basin of Shanxi and Shaanxi Provinces in the PRC (the
“Contract Area”).

Pursuant to the Sanjiao PSC, OEl is engaged as the
foreign partner and operator to provide the necessary
technology know how and assign its competent
experts to explore, develop, produce and sell coalbed
methane or coalbed methane products extracted from
the Contract Area. OEl and the PRC partner have
formed a joint management committee as required
under the Sanjiao PSC and appointed representatives
as members of the committee (the “Joint Management
Committee”). The Joint Management Committee is
responsible to oversee the operation in the Contract
Area.

In April 2009, CUCMCL transferred all of its interest
and associated obligations with respect to certain
gas fields, including the areas covered by the Sanjiao
PSC, to PetroChina. The transfer was approved by the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council. PetroChina joined
the Joint Management Committee of the Sanjiao PSC
after replacing CUCMCL as the PRC partner.

Under the Sanjiao PSC, the development of the
Contract Area is divided into the exploration phase,
development and production phase. OEl is required
to conduct core testing and run pilot production
to ascertain the potential commercial value of the
coalbed methane field in the planned exploration area.
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36. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS
(Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The exploration phase has an initial term of four years
and expired on 1 July 2010. The PRC partner has
extended the exploration period to 30 June 2012 in
order to develop a larger production scale. Based
on the supplementary agreement of the Sanjiao PSC
dated 28 October 2010, the exploration period was
extended to 6 years to 30 June 2012. The exploration
period has been further extended to 30 June 2014
by way of a further supplementary agreement of the
Sanjiao PSC dated on 6 July 2012.

All costs incurred in the exploration phase shall be
borne by OEIl. The project will enter the development
and production phase once OEl has obtained the
approval of the ODP from NEA.

On commencement of the development and
production phase, all the development and operating
costs shall be borne as to 70% by OEl and 30% by
the PRC partner, except if the PRC partner chooses
not to participate in a particular site. If the PRC partner
chooses not to participate in a particular site, all the
development and operating cost will be fully borne
by OEIl. Also, the PRC partner’s participation can be
less than 30% for certain wells in respect of which the
PRC partner will not need to bear the development
costs or will bear at a specifically agreed percentage.
As a result, the profit sharing ratio will be adjusted
according to their actual participating interest in the
coalbed methane field.

The Sanjiao PSC has a term of thirty years, with
production period not more than twenty consecutive
years beginning from the date of commencement
of commercial production to the expiry date of the
production period as specified in the ODP, unless
production is suspended or abandoned in accordance
with the Sanjiao PSC or under special circumstances,
the production period can be extended with the
approval of the relevant PRC authority.
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36. PRODUCTION SHAREING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS
(Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The Sanjiao PSC is currently in the exploration stage.
As explained in note 3(b), in May 2012, the ODP
was submitted to the NEA by the PRC partner of the
project, PetroChina. The Group received a reply from
NEA, which gave consent on the preliminary work on
the development of the Sanjiao PSC in August 2012.
The Group anticipates to obtain full approval of ODP
from NEA in 2014.

In May 2010, the Group entered into an operation
agreement with an independent PRC third party (the
“PRC Party”) for the exploration, development and
production of crude oil and natural gas that existed
in an exploration area located in Shaanxi Province
in the PRC (the “Jinzhuang Oil Field”) for the period
from 1 May 2010 to 31 July 2011. The PRC Party is
a party to a production sharing contract with a State-
owned enterprise for the exploration, development
and production of crude oil and natural gas in the
Jinzhuang Oil Field (the “Jinzhuang PSC”) for a period
up to 2025. Pursuant to the operation agreement,
the Group was engaged as the operator to explore,
develop and produce crude oil and natural gas from
the oil field. The Group bored all development and
operation costs and shared 95% of the income from
sale of crude oil and the entire income from the sale
of natural gas extracted from the Jinzhuang QOil Field.
The operation of the Jinzhuang Oil Field was jointly
controlled by the Group and the PRC Party. At the
same time, an oil and gas group based in Hong
Kong (“Xian Lilong Group”), acquired the rights and
obligations of the Jinzhuang PSC from the PRC Party.
The Group signed a memorandum of understanding
(“MOU”) with the owner of Xian Lilong Group and
paid an interest free and refundable deposit of
HK$60,000,000 to the owner such that the Group had
the option to acquire the entire equity interest of Xian
Lilong Group.

(if)
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36. PRODUCTION SHAREING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS
(Continued)

(i

(i)

(Continued)

In June 2011, the Group and the PRC party agreed
to extend the operation period to 31 October 2011. In
November 2011, the Group acquired the Jinzhuang Qil
Field by acquiring 100% equity interest in Xian Lilong
Group.

The Group’s interests in the Sanjiao PSC and the
Jinzhuang PSC constitute jointly control operations
and are accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policy as set out in note 4(e).

During 2009, the Group acquired through a transfer
agreement and an assignment agreement the rights
and obligations to participate in two oil exploitation
projects for the exploitation, development and
production of a number of oil wells, each for a period
up to 2023. The oil wells of these projected are
separately located in Liuluoyu, Shannxi Province,
the PRC (the “Liuluoyu Oil Field”) and in Yanjiawan,
Shannxi Province, the PRC (the “Yanjiawan Oil
Field”). The Group also acquired, under the transfer
agreement and assignment agreement, the business
assets including oil and gas properties, the rights to
use the on site plant, machinery and facilities for the
exploration, evaluation and development, and assumed
the liabilities associated these oil fields.

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisers,
the Group is entitled to the rights and obligations
of the development contract and participate in the
exploitation and production of crude oil in the Liuluoyu
Qil Field and Yanjiawan Qil Field. Since the Group has,
in practice and substance, the power to govern the
financial and operational policies over the operation of
the oil fields, the Group incorporated the results of the
oil production and the related assets and liabilities of
these oil fields into its financial statements.
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37.

38.

Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH

TRANSACTIONS

(8) During 2013, interest of HK$126,682,000 (2012:
HK$31,738,000) was capitalised as gas exploration and
evaluation assets (note 8(a)).

(o) During 2013, provision for environmental restoration
and decommissioning costs was decreased by
HK$253,000 (2012: HK$161,000) and included in the
gas exploration and evaluation assets (note 17).

(c) During 2013, the Company issued 721,350,000 shares
to extinguish financial liabilities of HK$144,270,000 as
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 28
November 2013 (note 35(a)(iv)).

(d)  During 2013, certain convertible notes were converted
to subscribe for a total of 748,503,000 ordinary
shares in the Company at a total consideration of
HK$125,000,000 (note 35(a)(iii)).

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
owners and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between higher
owners’ returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the capital structure of the
Group consists of net debts, which include other payables
and accruals, provisions and borrowings, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

37.

38.
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38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through payment of dividends, new
share issue as well as the issue of new debts or repayment
of existing debts.

The net debts-to-equity ratios at 31 December 2013 and
2012 were as follows:

38. BEAEE(4§)

EETHHEARBETRT - e 2
THEZ— REFHEAKAREEE
AZHARRETEZ REEF 22
& AEERSEE IS - ST
BROIMEBEBREERBES  EEE
BARBRIG V-

R2013F K2012F12A31H 2 &% FE
R ERAT

The Group
XEEH

2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FAT

Total debts: B4R
Other payables and accruals EEAZENLTERER 199,568 442 561
Borrowings BE 482,142 461,573
Provisions g 747 971
Convertible notes QEY &S 134,920 -
817,377 905,105
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RekReEEY (17,536) (71,114)
Pledged bank deposits BEHEMIBITER (7,832) (7,954)
Net debts BB RE 792,009 826,037
Equity FE 3,447,237 3,023,174
Net debts-to-equity ratio B FENERLE 23% 27%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgement, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

(@) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies
(i) Participation in oil and gas exploitation and production
in the PRC
By way of a transfer agreement and an assignment
agreement, the Group acquired the rights and obligations
of several development contracts. Each development
contract enables the Group to participate in an oil and gas
exploitation project to produce crude oil and natural gas
in an oil or gas field in the PRC. Significant judgement is
required from the directors that the Group has the rights
to participate in, and the power to govern the financial and
operational policies of the exploitation and production of
crude oil and natural gas in oil fields in the PRC so that
the Group is entitled to consolidate the results from the
operation of these oil exploitation projects into the results of
the Group.
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 39. EXE5HHET R AT AIABAE

‘4 A

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(@) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies (Continued)
(i) Units of production for depreciation and amortisation
Oil and gas properties are depreciated and intangible assets
are amortised using the units of production method over
total proved developed and undeveloped oil reserves. This
results in depreciation and amortisation charge proportional
to the depletion of the anticipated remaining production
from the field. Each item’s life, which is assessed annually,
having regard to both its physical life limitations and to
present assessments of economically recoverable reserves
of the field at which the asset is located. These calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the
amount of recoverable reserves. The calculation of the units
of production rate of depreciation and amortisation could be
affected by actual future production which may differ from
current forecast production based on total proved reserves.
Changes to proved reserves could arise due to changes
in the factors or assumptions used in estimating reserves,
including price assumptions. If there is any changes in
the assumptions used, the calculation will be changed
prospectively.

(iii)  Capitalisation of exploration and evaluation assets

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for
exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgement
in determining whether it is likely that future economic
benefits are likely either from future exploitation or sale or
where activities have not reached a stage which permits
a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves.
The determination of reserves and resources is itself
an estimation process that requires varying degrees of
uncertainty depending on sub-classification and these
estimates directly impact the point of deferral of exploration
and evaluation expenditure. The deferral policy requires
management to make certain estimates and assumptions as
to future events and circumstances, in particular whether an
economically viable extraction operation can be established.
Any such estimates and assumptions may change as
new information becomes available. If, after expenditure
is capitalised, information becomes available suggesting
that the recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the relevant
" Capitalised amount is written off in profit or loss in the
period when the new information becomes available.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(@) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies (Continued)
(iv)  Going concern assumption
Management makes an assessment of the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern when preparing the financial
statements. The Group is dependent upon the approval of
the ODP by the NEA and the successful implementation and
outcome of the measures as set forth in note 3(b) in order
to meet the Group’s future working capital and financing
requirements. In assessing whether or not the going
concern assumption is appropriate, management takes into
account all available information about the future, which
is at least but is not limited to, twelve months from the
approval date of the financial statements. If the Group were
unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments relating
to the recoverability and classification of recorded assets
and liabilities may need to be incorporated in the financial
statements.

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 4, management has made
certain key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimated uncertainty at the end of reporting
period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, as discussed below.

(i) Impairment test of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its
net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of revenue and operating
costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result
in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in
future periods.

(iii)  Impairment of receivables

The Group performs impairment review for doubtful debts
based upon evaluation of the recoverability of the trade
receivables and other receivables, where applicable, at
each the end of reporting period. The estimates are based
on the ageing of the trade receivable and other receivables
balances and the historical write-off experience, net of
recoveries. If the financial condition of the debtors were
to deteriorate, additional impairment allowance may be
required.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(iv) Income taxes and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Transactions
and calculations may exist for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised to the extent
that management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and tax in the periods in which such estimate is changed.

(v)  Contingencies

Periodically, the Group assesses potential liabilities related
to any lawsuits or claims brought against the Group or
any asserted claims. Although it is typically very difficult
to determine the timing and ultimate outcome of such
actions, the Group uses its best judgement to determine
if it is probable that it will incur an expense related to the
settlement or final adjudication of such matters and whether
a reasonable estimation of such probable loss, if any,
can be made. In accordance with HKAS 37, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the Group
accrues a liability when it believes a loss is probable and
the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to
the inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome
of litigation, although the Group believes that the estimates
and judgement are reasonable, it is possible that certain
matters may be resolved for amounts materially different
from any estimated provisions or previous disclosures.
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39. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 39. EXE5HHET R AT AIABAE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(vi)  Oil and gas reserves
Engineering estimates of the Group’s oil and gas reserves
are inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the subjective judgement involved
in developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that have to
be met before estimated oil reserves can be designated as
‘proven’ and ‘probable’. Proven and probable oil and gas
reserve estimates are updated on regular intervals taking
into account recent production and technical information
about each oil and gas field. In addition, as prices and cost
levels change from year to year, the estimate of proven and
probable oil and gas reserves also changes. This change is
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes
and is reflected on a prospective basis in the related
depreciation rate and amortisation rate of oil and gas
properties and intangible assets respectively.

Despite the inherent imprecision, engineering estimates are
used in determining depreciation and amortisation charges
and impairment losses. The oil and gas properties and
operation rights are amortised using the units of production
method based on the proven and probable oil and gas
reserves.

(vii)  Estimation of impairment on exploration and evaluation
assets
The Group tests the exploration and evaluation assets
for impairment according to accounting policies stated in
notes 4(h) and 4(r). The assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset
or a cash generating unit is determined based on value-
in-use calculations which require the use of assumptions
and estimates. While conducting an impairment review of
the assets, the Group makes certain judgement in making
assumptions about the future gas prices and production

_—costs, changes in these estimates may result in significant

variance to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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39.

40.

Notes to the Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(viii) Estimation of assets retirement obligations
Provision is recognised for the future decommissioning
and restoration of oil and gas properties. The amount of
provision recognised is the present value of the estimate
future expenditure. The estimation of the future expenditure
is based on current local conditions and requirements,
including legal requirements, technology, price level, etc.
In addition to these factors, the present value of these
estimated future expenditure is also impacted by the
estimation of the economic lives of oil properties. Changes
in any of these estimates will impact the operating results
and the financial position of the Group over the remaining
economic lives of the oil and gas properties.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency risks
and commodity price risk arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. These risks are limited by the Group’s
financial management policies and practices described
below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a
customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations, and arises primarily from
the Group’s trade and other receivables and cash at banks.

(i) Trade and other receivables

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis. The Group had a significant concentration
of credit risk. The entire trade receivable was from one
customer and the other receivables are mainly from trial
sales of gas from the Sanjiao PSC as at 31 December 2013
and 2012.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. AT EIBEE IR (&)

" I |

(Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Cash with banks

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by placing
cash and deposits with financial institutions that meet
the established credit rating or other criteria. Given these
high credit ratings, management does not expect any
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. 5 R P E R (48)
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) RENELEE(E)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities are shown as HEEBEZENINBBREOT :
below:
Total More than ~ More than 2
contractual Within 1 1 year but years but
Carrying undiscounted year or on less than 2 Less than
The Group amount cash flow demand years 5 years
BHRFR 15/ 1L 26 L
.3 fREE HERESH BEHEKR B2 LT {B5E T
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 00
TEL TEL TEL TEL T
2013
Non-derivatives: AT
Other payables and accruals Hiv B FIER
BRER 199,568 200,887 200,887 - -
Borrowings EE 482,142 567,396 185,518 154,509 227,369
Convertible notes TRREE 134,920 156,962 3,000 3,000 150,962
Total @t 816,630 925,245 389,405 157,509 378,331
2012
Non-derivatives: AT
Other payables and accruals ~ EftifER A&
HRER 442,561 443,501 443,501 - -
Borrowings BE 461,573 558,885 132,269 161,161 265,455
Total @t 904,134 1,002,386 575,770 161,161 265,455
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. AT EIBEE IR (&)
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(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The interest rates and
terms of repayment of the Group’s borrowings are disclosed
in note 29 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2013, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s loss for the year by approximately
HK$4,821,000 (2012: HK$4,616,000) before the
consideration of capitalisation of interest. The sensitivity
analysis has been determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of reporting period
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate
risk for the borrowings in existence at that date. The 100
basis point increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the next annual reporting date.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations
to which they relate. At 31 December 2013 and 2012, no
related hedges were made by the Group.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. M EBEERE (8)
(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) E¥EME(E)
(i) Exposure to currency risk () BREZ EKER
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the Ti‘%%ﬁ'l 7N £ B S ¥R 5 B R A5 SR A [ R
end of reporting period date to currency risk arising from RUNEBEERZNEEE AN EBET
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency {EZéﬁE@kﬁ{gﬁﬁ%y\z SR RS o
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they BRERESMBIEEERNNTIB &8 -
relate. The sensitivity analysis includes balances between MZEEBRTINEFREH 2hie g
group companies where the denomination of the balances PASNZ EHESHE -
is in a currency other than the functional currencies of the
lender or the borrower.
The Group AEE
2013 2012
Australian Australian
dollars usb RMB dollars usb RMB

A% £ ARE AT e ARE

’000 ’000 ’000 '000 '000 '000

T T T Fr Fr Fr
Trade and other receivables [ ETVES S E T - 320 8 - 114 8
Notes receivable * N EE 1,949 - - 1,049 - -
Deposits paid Bk - - 17 - - 14
Cash and cash equivalents BeRReEED 1 1,022 469 1 28 12
Amounts due from group companies  FEREE A FIFUE - - 104,779 - 5,645 287,810
Trade and other payables ETERR &HW 3B - (560) (40) - (1,021)  (10,042)
Amounts due to group companies ENEBRFZ - (185361) (1000) - (5,645) -
Amounts due to directors [ENESTA - - - - - (15,000)
Overall net exposure BEERTE 1,950  (184,579) 104,233 1,950 879) 262,802
* Included in interest in a joint venture AR —REEREIER

; REARERARA T ¢ 2013 F 5§
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

40. A ERER ()

(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group’s loss after income tax expenses and accumulated
losses and other components of consolidated equity in
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of reporting period. The sensitivity analysis
includes balances between Group companies where the
denomination of the balances is in a currency other than
the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. A
positive number below indicates a decrease in loss and
accumulated losses where the HKD weakens against the
relevant currency. For a strengthening of the HKD against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on loss and accumulated losses, and the balances
below would be negative.

(d) E¥ERE &)

(i) BRI
TRETRBREARERGE R EEE
REARRE KR ZIMNEE R Z A gL A B
ERARBERAMER HEEBEERERG
BRARGEEAEMARE D 2B
28 FREIFTEREEARAM[Z
e MaZxSEBRIAETRERTZT
BEEB NN ZERETE - AT AR
BERRS  UWTITEBXRTEBRRRGFE
BzRL BEETAABEERY A
AEHEBEERRFBEERSBERE
BRzTE  BATERTESRAR -

The Group FEE
2013 2012
Decrease Decrease
in loss in loss
after after
taxation taxation
and and
Weakening accumulated  Weakening accumulated
losses in HKD losses
BR#BiiE Briiig
i3] R
RE:tE &S]
BTRE BRL BTRE B
% HK$’ 000 % HK$' 000
FER TET
RMB AR 2% 2,670 1% 3,269
Australian dollars BT 3% 405 3% 468
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
end of reporting period and had been applied to each of the
Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for the financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment
of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates
over the period until the end of the next reporting period.
In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between
the HKD and the USD would be materially unaffected by
any changes in movement in value of the USD against
other currencies. Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the effects on each
of the Group entities’ profit or loss after income tax expense
and equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the end
of reporting period for presentation purposes. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2012.

(e) Commodity price risk

The Group engages in petroleum-related activities. The oil
market is affected by global and regional demands and
supplies. Prices of onshore crude oil are determined with
reference to the prices of crude oil on the international
markets. A decline in the price of crude oil and refined
products could adversely affect the Group’s financial
position. The Group historically has not used derivative
financial instruments to hedge against potential price
fluctuations of crude oil.

(f) Fair values
The fair values of all financial assets and liabilities are not
materially different from their carrying amounts.
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OB T2 RER TS 2 RhE %
TE o UM K5 R EE B 18 T BE AT g 3 AR
SEFBRREXNTFEE - KNEEHB
AW RKAITENE T EE R EE
EREE -

(f 2FE
EMBEERBEZ A FEEERE
BZHITEERER -
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41.

42,

PERFORMANCE BONDS - THE GROUP
Pursuant to the terms of the supplementary agreement in
respect of the Sanjiao PSC, the Group has procured a bank
to provide performance bonds in favour of PetroChina for
guarantee of OEl's performance of its obligations in the
extended phase of the exploration period of the Sanjiao
PSC. As at 31 December 2013, the aggregate amount of
outstanding performance bonds totalled approximately
HK$7,754,000 (2012: HK$7,754,000). The aforesaid
performance bond facilities are secured by the pledge of the
Group’s bank deposits (note 26).

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial impact arising
from providing the above performance bonds is immaterial
and accordingly, they are not accounted for in these
financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

Group

(@) Operating lease commitments - Lessee

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

41.

42,

BHAREE-FEE
BEBEBE-RERDKERBEHE
B REBERE -—RBITHERR
I fE = RE D A R 8 5 B E R P
BRTEECNTAHAREAREE
HIRFE S - B20183F 1283180 » A X
B B AR 78 & M EE 40 /7,754,000 7T
(20124 : 7,754,000 7T) ° it B 4
RESBMEDUAREEEERRITER
EFEIR (MF3E26) o

EERA RELABOREBEEZELEZ
MBTELTER B WEMHHEE
A FEFBEHRRK -

RiE

AEH

(a) EEHERE-RBA
20134 K 2012128318 » EfRH 7]
BHEERE 2 R RZREERBLE

leases were payable as follows: AU N
The Group
x&EHE
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET TET
Within 1 year 1F RN 2,354 5,731
After 1 year but within 5 years 112 B5F A 537 1,861
2,891 7,592

The Group is the lessee of a number of properties held
under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial
period of one to five years without an extension option.
None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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42. COMMITMENTS (Continued) 42, % iE (48)

(b) Operating lease commitments - Lessor (b) FEEHERE-HEAN

The minimum rent receivables under non-cancellable TARENEEHE s RERBWES I
operating leases are as follows: T~
The Group
XEE

2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTHERT FAT
Within 1 year 1R 2,092 -
After 1 year but within 5 years 1F B E5F R 1,333 -
3,425 -

The Group sub-leases certain of its properties in the PRC
under operating leases. The sub-leasing of properties in
PRC usually run for one to five years (2012: nil). Lease
payment is negotiated and concluded in a contract. None of
the leases includes contingent rentals.

(c) Capital commitments

(i) Authorised for but no contracted

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Group was
committed to develop in total 9 (2012: 9) new oil wells under
the development contracts of the Liuluoyu Oil Field and
Yanjiawan QOil Field. The estimated total capital expenditure

AEBER qﬂlﬁﬁf«i«‘**fﬂ&”%ﬂﬁjF
ME -RBESBEYE—RBINEEF
(2012%F : &) - MEHHEME » LR
ERANFTH -MAEHEHESEXAHN

N
& e

(c) EFEIE

() EEREERETA

R2013% K20125F12A31H » KAEBE®
DREBEYR B HBARBREHBERES
[ 52 A oM@ (20124 - ofE) FHim# o
A REZSETRFCERAT HEREA

for developing these new oil wells is HK$10.6 million (2012: 10,600,000 7T (20124 : 10,300,000
HK$$10.3 million). BT e
(i) Contracted but not provided for (i)  BETAMERERE
The Group
AEEH
2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FT#ERT THETT
Commitments in respect of M=REMDKER 2 EE
the Sanjiao PSC 15,078 12,224

Company

The Company did not have any significant operating lease,
sub-leasing and capital commitments as at 31 December
2013 and 2012.

AT
MR20134F K2012F12A318 » AR @l #
EBOIMEALEHE DEARERHRE -

FPEERERBERAF » 2013 F 3R
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43.

44.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Environmental liabilities

The Group carries out oil exploitation operations in the PRC.
The PRC has adopted environmental laws and regulations
that affect the operations of the oil industry. The outcome
of environmental liabilities under proposed or future
environmental legislation cannot reasonably be estimated
at present, and could be material. Under the existing
legislations, however, management believes that there are
no probable liabilities that will have a material adverse effect
on the financial position of the Group.

The Group also engages in the exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane resources. The
consequence of coalbed mining includes dismantlement and
demolition of infrastructure in the mining sites. The Group
may have obligations to make payments for restoration and
rehabilitation of the land after the sites have been extracted.
As at 31 December 2013, a provision of HK$747,000 (2012:
HK$971,000) was made in the consolidated statement of
financial position (note 29).

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,
no related party transactions have been entered into during
the year which might reasonably affect any decisions made
by the users of these consolidated financial statements
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HBEEME

AHRRRZ AR
AEERPELEAHARER - PE
EETRFRARIAR  &FEEREK
REBEIORTREZEE - BEPHK
RZBRRIEFMSIBZBRARRZAE
BREMNWEEAEMMAE  BEARE
EX-RM RFERELE EEEBER
A0 WA AR (] A] R Y AN SR B B AR
MELERBHPFEZEE -

AEBNECEEERERZBDE - AR
MAeE METHEEBERRZZRBER
BRIFGRES 2 EARNRE - NEBENA
BEARSTHRARE  INERE i
BRREZEZER - 2013512 H31
H  &Z& i BikRE&AEL T7747,000
78 7T (20124F : 971,000/8 7T ) 2 B & (Bt
5F29)

EXHAEALTRS

BRHMBHRERASTREEN  FAHME
RIVABEHZERAMBBRREREE
MEFHZREELEAEREZHBEA
ITXH -
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44. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,

45.

including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as

disclosed in note 10, all the highest paid employees as

disclosed in note 11, and other four (2012: five) senior

management personnel are as follows:

23 3% % % 9%

44. EXFEAEANTX 5 (E)

FEEEASMNE
AEETEERAEME (BFEMFE10
I BEZERARAESEINZRIEA
MEMEEZERNEZBERFEEX
MzFBERAES (20129 « 1H) &b
BREREABXNZFKE) N

2013 2012

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THET FHET

Short-term employee benefits HEEEREF 13,687 13,947
Post-employment benefits BERRZ R - -
13,687 13,947

The above remuneration is included in “staff costs” (note

8(b)).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL

ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and

financial liabilities recognised as at 31
2012 may be categorised as follows:

December 2013 and

AEB 2Tt ATE TAA] & (B 5E
8(b)) °

- MBEERMBARZ S EHE

=
A20134F K2012F 12 AT B R 2 A E
BB EERYHREBEZREAESED
-

2013 2012
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
F#ET FET
Financial assets MBEE
Loans and receivables (including & 5k & & U 18
cash and bank balances) (BREES RRITER) 102,031 126,553
Financial liabilities MEaRE
Financial liabilities measured RHHK AT EZ
at amortised cost Bsas 816,630 904,134

FEHERIERER QAT ¢ 2013 £
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46. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

On 13 January 2014, the Company entered into
subscription agreements with six subscribers for
allotting and issuing a total of 300,000,000 shares
at a price of HK$0.22 per share. The net proceeds
of approximately HK$65,800,000 are to be used for
operations of the Group’s existing oil and gas projects
and working capital.

On 17 March 2014, the Group has obtained a facility
of HK$100,000,000 from a company that is wholly
owned by a state-owned financial enterprise (which
is the holding company of a corporate shareholder of
the Company). The facility is to be utilised as general
working capital of the Group. Details are disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 17 March 2014.

47. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2014.

~
) _<(_ \
)
O)
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46. REHEEIE

47.

(@)

M2014F1 8130 + AR FHEKE
REBAFTCUREBHZE  UNEFR
0228wz BREERETEH
300,000,0000% % 10 © F7 15 IE F
¥4 4965,800,000/8 7T © & AEL B
AEBHRAZHARBEAER —REE

P2014F3A17H » KREE 1\ — M
EEeRrE(HAAQRIHEP—
BERRZERAB) 22BN
[ A B B3 & 5 %8 £ 100,000,000
BT BERIEALAER —REEER
© o B FFIEE R2014F3A17H
ZARBRNHHIEE -

BT ZER
BB HkEAESZN201453H21H
ENRRETE -
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